
Northern Area Planning Committee
Date: Tuesday, 19 November 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Stour Hall - The Exchange, Old Market Hill, 

Sturminster Newton, DT10 1FH
Membership: (Quorum 6) 
Sherry Jespersen (Chairman), Mary Penfold (Vice-Chairman), Jon Andrews, Tim Cook, 
Les Fry, Matthew Hall, Carole Jones, Robin Legg, Bill Pipe, Val Pothecary, Belinda Ridout 
and David Taylor

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please telephone Democratic Services on 
01305 or Elaine Tibble  01305 224202 elaine.tibble1@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting with the exception of any items 
listed in the exempt part of this agenda. Please note that if you attend a committee 
meeting and are invited to make oral representations your name, together with a summary 
of your comments will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  Please refer to the 
guide to public participation at committee meetings for more information about speaking at 
meetings. 

There is a Hearing Loop Induction System available for public use on request.  Please 
speak to a Democratic Services Officer for assistance in using this facility.

Recording, photographing and using social media at meetings

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  Anyone can film, audio-record, take photographs, and use 
social media such as tweeting and blogging to report the meeting when it is open to the 
public, so long as they conform to the Protocol for filming and audio recording of public 
council meetings.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest

3  MINUTES 5 - 14

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2019.

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There will be no opportunity for Members of the public to speak on a 
planning application unless proper notification is given to Democratic 
Services no later than two clear working days before the meeting in 
accordance with the Guide to Public Speaking at Planning Committee.

5  PLANNING APPLICATIONS

To consider the applications listed below for planning permission

a  Dorchester Conservation Area Article 4 Direction 15 - 68

To consider a report for a Dorchester Conservation 
Area Article 4 Direction 

b  Application Number - 2/2018/0458/OUT, Shillingstone 
Poultry Farm, Shillingstone Lane, Okeford Fitzpaine, DT11 
0RB 

69 - 100

Demolish existing buildings and develop land by the erection of 
up to 45 No. dwellings with associated infrastructure, including 
the widening of Shillingstone Lane and provision of school drop 
off car park. (Outline application to determine access).

c  Application Number - 2/2018/1749/OUT - Honeymead Field, 
North Fields, Sturminster Newton 

101 - 128

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Guidance%20to%20Speaking%20at%20Planning%20Committee&ID=455&RPID=158889


Develop land by the erection of up to 114 no. dwellings, form 
vehicular access, associated infrastructure and public open 
space (outline application with all matters reserved)

d  Application Number - 2/2018/1486/FUL - Hawkes Field Farm 
Hilton, Hillside, Hilton, DT11 0DN 

129 - 142

Erect 1 No. dwelling
e  Application Number - 2/2019/0904/REM - Vale Cottage, 

Marnhull, DT10 1JN 
143 - 156

Erect 2 No. dwellings (Reserved matters application to 
determine scale, layout, appearance and landscaping following 
grant of Outline Planning Permission 2/2018/1406/OUT).

f  Application Number - 2/2019/0359/FUL - Somerville, New 
Road, Bourton, Dorset, SP8 5AP 

157 - 172

Erect 6 No dwellings, create new vehicular and pedestrian 
access and form 11 No. parking spaces.

6  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972
The reason for the urgency shall be recorded in the minutes.

7  EXEMPT BUSINESS

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended)
The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered.



This page is intentionally left blank



DORSET COUNCIL - NORTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 22 OCTOBER 2019

Present: Cllrs Sherry Jespersen (Chairman), Mary Penfold (Vice-Chairman), 
Jon Andrews, Tim Cook, Les Fry, Matthew Hall, Carole Jones, Robin Legg, 
Bill Pipe, Val Pothecary, Belinda Ridout and David Taylor

Also present: Cllr Graham Carr-Jones, Cllr Andrew Kerby and Cllr David Walsh

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Philip Crowther (Senior Solicitor - Planning), Christopher Poad (Planning Officer), 
Hannah Smith (Planning Area Manager) and Elaine Tibble (Democratic Services 
Officer)

45.  Declarations of Interest

Cllr Fry declared an interest in Application No 2/2018/1829/FUL.  He did not 
take part in the debate or decision.

46.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 September 2019 were confirmed and 
signed.

47.  Application number:  2/2019/0009/FUL - Stickland Farm House, 9 West 
Street, Winterborne Stickland, DT11 0NT

The Planning Officer presented the application which sought approval for the 
conversion of 2 No. outbuildings into 1 No. residential dwelling and 1 No. 
gallery/exhibition use with residential use.

The Committee received a verbal update in relation to the approved drawings 
and conditions which comprised:-
Site Parking Plan - PL-1276-103A [Received 03/06/2019]
East Barn Plans and Elevations - PL-1276-101C [Received 10/07/2019] 
And the additional condition regarding opening hours which was missed from 
the report - to read :-

The premises shall not be open to the public for the D1 (gallery/exhibition) use 
hereby permitted at anytime other than between the hours of 10am - 7pm 
(including Bank Holidays).
Reason: To safeguard neighbour amenity. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

The application site was located within the settlement boundary of 
Winterborne Stickland. Plans showing the location of the farmhouse and it’s 
relationship to the adjacent buildings, together with diagrams of the existing 
and proposed elevations, plus an artist’s impression of the proposed 
development were presented to the committee.

In summarising the Planning Officer highlighted how the main planning issues 
had been addressed.

Oral representation was received in objection to the application from Mr D 
Godden and Mr K Barker. Their concerns included proximity of the 
development to boundaries, overlooking, loss of privacy, (some of these 
concerns had been addressed following previous objections from the Parish 
Council), increased noise and number of visitors to the farmhouse, the impact 
on grade 2 listed buildings and possible pollution from the chimney.

Cllr Kerby the Ward Member, read a statement on behalf of the Parish 
Council who did not support the application.  

Mr S Pitman, the agent for the applicant addressed the committee in support 
of the application.  He advised that the dwelling accommodation would be 
occupied by an elderly relative asked for condition 3 to be amended to 
ancillary use to reflect this.

The Area Manager (Eastern) responded to the objectors’ comments and 
advised that the new flue would be sited 14 metres away from the 
neighbouring properties, this would serve the log burner and was not 
considered to be detrimental to amenity.  There would be obscured glazing 
conditioned for overlooking windows.

Conditions would also cover boundary treatments, hard surfacing and ensure 
there was no detrimental impact on the division of the curtilage.

The Area Manager (Eastern) clarified that as the applicant’s agent had 
indicated that the accommodation would be used as ancillary use, this was 
acceptable but condition 3 would need to be amended to reflect this.

In response to a member question she advised that the whole of the 
accommodation could be tied in the same way so that either barn could be 
used either way, or the conditions could be split one for East Barn and one for 
West Barn, so the ground floor could be conditioned as the gallery and the 
first floor accommodation as holiday and ancillary use.

The committee members were supportive of the scheme and considered it to 
be a good re-use of farm buildings. The development would preserve the barn 
rather than leaving it to fall into disrepair.  It would be a positive contribution to 
the area.

Cllr Fry proposed and Cllr Pipe seconded that the application be granted 
subject to the revised conditions which the Area Manager (Eastern) confirmed 
prior to the vote being taken.

Page 6



3

Decision: That the application be granted subject to the revised 
conditions outlined in the appendix to these minutes.

48.  Application number:  2/2018/1829/FUL - Crown Inn, High Street, 
Stalbridge, DT10 2LL

Cllr Fry had declared an interest in this item, he did not participate in the 
debate or decision. 

The Area Manager (Eastern) presented the application for alterations to the 
existing single storey skittle alley, demolition of storage shed/garage and to 
replace with a pitched roof extension to form 1 No. apartment.  Internal 
alterations to existing Inn to create 2 No. apartments and refurbish existing 
apartments.

The site location was within the settlement boundary of Stalbridge and the 
conservation area which was constrained by listed buildings within the High 
Street.
The boundaries were irregular in shape with a mix of residential and business 
use in the area.

The former public house had been unsuccessfully marketed and was no 
longer viable as a business.  It was not planned to increase the number of 
units already approved but to make them bigger and configured differently to 
incorporate two bedrooms per flat with separate lounge and kitchen areas

The main planning issues were addressed in summarising the report.

Oral representation in objection to the application was received from Mrs D 
Jeneson, Mr A Wood, Cllr Carr-Jones (Ward Member) who also read a 
statement on behalf of Mr H Adams and Cllr K Garland, Chairman of 
Stalbridge Town Council.

Their concerns focussed on the potential detrimental impact to the 
conservation area, the number of bins required for the communal area, the 
lack of communal access from the rear of the building, neighbour amenity and 
infringement of privacy.  

Members heard that the waste water drainage system in the area was over 
100 years old and would have problems coping with the proposed extra 
dwellings.  The objectors considered the application to be overdevelopment 
and there were also issues over the ownership of the land and rights of way.

Mr N Worgie the agent for the applicant addressed the committee in support 
of the application.

Page 7



4

In response to queries from the committee, the Area Manager (Eastern) 
advised that in relation to access for emergency vehicles, the application was 
for self-contained units and would have to satisfy building regulations.  There 
were no planning policy requirements to provide parking in the town centre 
and with regard to disputes over land ownership and access this was a civil 
matter not a planning consideration.  Members were concerned about 
approving an application where there could be a possible dispute over land 
ownership and access.  They considered the application ill thought out, 
overdeveloped and had concerns regarding neighbour amenity and drainage.

Proposed by Cllr Pothecary, seconded by Cllr Jones

That the application be refused due to overdevelopment of the site, the impact 
on grade 2 properties in the locality, overlooking and the historical impact on 
the conservation area.

The committee adjourned from 16.16 to 16.28 in order for the Area Manager 
(Eastern) to formulate planning reasons to refuse the application.

On return the Area Manager (Eastern) re-iterated the reasons for refusal.

Decision: that the application be refused due to the reasons outlined in 
the appendix to these minutes.

49.  Urgent items

There were no urgent items.

50.  Exempt Business

There was no exempt business.

Appendix

Duration of meeting: 2.00  - 4.32 pm

Chairman

Page 8



22 October 2019 Appendix

APPLICATION NUMBER:  2/2019/0009/FUL

APPLICATION SITE:  Stickland Farm House, 9 West Street, Winterborne Stickland, 
DT11 0NT

PROPOSAL: Convert 2 No. outbuildings into 1 No. residential dwelling and 1 No. 
gallery/exhibition use with residential use.

DECISION: That the application be approved subject to the conditions outlined 
below:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly and only in 
accordance with the following approved drawings and details forming the approved 
application;

East Barn Plans and Elevations - S-1276-01A [Received 07/01/2019]
West Barn Plans and Elevations - S-1276-02A [Received 07/01/2019]
Site Parking Plan - PL-1276-103A [Received 03/06/2019]
West Barn Plans and Elevations - PL-1276-102B [Received 03/06/2019]
East Barn Plans and Elevations - PL-1276-101C [Received 10/07/2019]

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the permission.

3. The occupation of the East Barn shall be solely limited to use as a D1 exhibition 
gallery at ground floor level and shall be solely limited to ancillary residential 
accommodation or holiday let purposes at first floor level. A register of occupancy 
shall be kept and shall be made available to the Local Planning Authority following a 
written request at 14 days notice. At the end of the ninth year following approval 
details of the occupancy for that year to comply with this condition shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the unit is not used as permanent residential 
accommodation.

4. The occupation of the West Barn shall be solely limited to ancillary residential 
accommodation or holiday let purposes at first floor level. A register of occupancy 
shall be kept and shall be made available to the Local Planning Authority following a 
written request at 14 days notice. At the end of the ninth year following approval 
details of the occupancy for that year to comply with this condition shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the unit is not used as permanent residential 
accommodation.

Page 5

Appendix 

Page 9

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


5.Before the development is occupied or utilised the turning and parking shown on
Drawing Number PL-1276-103A must have been constructed. Thereafter, these 
areas must be permanently maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for 
the purposes specified.
Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site and to 
ensure that highway safety is not adversely impacted upon.

6. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with
the mitigation measures as outlined within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment as 
prepared by Stefan Pitman for and on behalf of SPASE Ltd.
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding.

7. Prior to the first use or occupation of the accommodation hereby permitted, a
Flood Warning Evacuation Plan shall be submitted to, and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall accord with the provisions of the 
Flood Warning Evacuation Plan. 
Reason: To ensure the occupants of the site are adequately prepared and protected 
in the event of a flood.

8. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, the windows in the east 
elevation of the East Barn building and the west elevation of the West Barn building 
shall be glazed with obscure glass to a minimum Pilkington privacy level of 4 or 
equivalent. The windows must thereafter be maintained in that condition.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity and privacy of the occupiers of neighbouring 
residential properties.

9. Prior to the installation of any window hereby approved, precise details of the 
method of opening for the windows across the west elevation of the West Barn 
building shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity and privacy of the occupiers of neighbouring 
residential properties.

10. Prior to the application of the cladding and roof covering, samples of the 
materials (slate and timber cladding) to be used in the finish of the walls and roof; 
shall be made available on site and retained in that location thereafter for the 
inspection and approval of the Local Planning Authority. Any such samples shall 
require approval to be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority and the 
development shall thereafter accord with the approved materials.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality and in the interests of the 
appearance of the development.

Page 6Page 10



11. Prior to the installation of any joinery, detailed elevation drawings (at a scale of
1:20) and detailed cross-section drawings (at a scale of 1:5) of all new shutters, 
windows, internal and external doors, infill glazed screens to include materials and
finishes, framing profiles, glazing type and unit spacers, method of fixing glazing, 
depth of reveal, method of opening; and annotated elevation drawings (1:20) and 
cross section drawings (1:5) of all new staircases, balustrading, handrails and newel 
posts; joinery finishes shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved drawings.
Reason: To safeguard the significance of the heritage assets.

12. Prior to first use of the development, full details of all vents and flues, to include 
the location and details of materials, finish and design, shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority for approval in writing. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality and setting of the listed building.

13. Prior to the installation of any internal wall treatment, precise details of all 
insulation, overboarding, applied surface treatments to internal walls, floors and 
ceilings, to include materials, finishes and locations, shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
accord with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the fabric of the heritage asset.

14. All rooflights shall be conservation style, top hung and set flush to the surface of 
the roof plane.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality.

15. Prior to the creation of any openings to the East Barn, a precise scheme for the 
creation of new openings to the East Barn to include a Method Statement in regards 
to the cob wall, dimensions, lintel details and finishes is to be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: To safeguard the significance of the historic fabric.

16. All slate shall be fixed with nails not slate hooks.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality.

17. All new and replacement rainwater goods shall be painted cast half round metal 
not plastic.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality.

18. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, a precise scheme for 
all hard landscaping to include boundary treatments, gates, and ground surfaces, 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter accord with the approved scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development.

Page 7Page 11



19. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, precise details of the 
air source heat pump, to include its location and design, shall be submitted to the 
local planning authority for approval in writing. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the agreed details. 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area.

20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, walls, gates or other 
means of enclosure permitted by Class A of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the 1995 Order 
shall be erected around the curtilage of any dwelling house hereby permitted in a 
position forward of any wall of that dwelling house which fronts onto a road, private 
drive, footway or open space area without the prior grant of planning permission from 
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the 
development of the site.

21. The premises shall not be open to the public for the D1 (gallery/exhibition) use 
hereby permitted at anytime other than between the hours of 10am - 7pm (including 
Bank Holidays).
Reason: To safeguard neighbour amenity.

NOTE: Listed Building
Listed Building Consent may be required for the proposed works.

NOTE: Flood Warning Evacuation Plan 
The applicant/developer is strongly advised to ensure that a Flood Warning 
Evacuation Plan is prepared for the occupants of the site. The provision of 
such a plan may help to protect life and property during a flooding incident. 
For commercial properties a Flood Warning Evacuation Plan should form part 
of the Health and Safety at Work Register maintained by the operator of the 
site.

NOTE: Flood Resilience 
In view of the potential flood risks in this locality, it is advised that the 
developer of this site gives consideration to the use of flood resilient 
construction practices and materials in the design and build phase. Choice of 
materials and simple design modifications can make the development more 
resistant to flooding in the first place, or limit the damage and reduce 
rehabilitation time in the event of future inundation. Detailed information on 
flood proofing and mitigation can be found by referring to the CLG free 
publication 'Improving the Flood Performance of New Buildings'. 
http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/br/flood_performance.pdf.

APPLICATION NUMBER:  2/2018/1829/FUL 

APPLICATION SITE:  Crown Inn, High Street, Stalbridge, DT10 2LL

Page 8Page 12

http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/uploads/br/flood_performance.pdf
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


PROPOSAL: Make alterations to existing single storey skittle alley, demolish storage 
shed/garage and replace with pitched roof extension to form 1 No. apartment.  
Internal alterations to existing Inn to create 2 No. apartments and refurbish existing 
apartments.

DECISION: That the application be refused for the following reasons outlined 
below:

1. The proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the setting of Wayside 
through the installation of a 1.8 metre enclosure to the raised skittle alley which 
would be harmful to the setting of the listed building due to its incongruous and out of 
keeping design. The less than substantial harm would not be outweighed by any 
public benefit and the proposal is therefore contrary to Policy 5 of the Local Plan and 
the NPPF. 

2. The proposal would be an overdevelopment of the site as it would lack sufficient 
amenity space to serve 5 flats and is contrary to Policy 7, 25, and 26 of the Local 
Plan Part 1 and the NPPF. 

3. The development would give rise to unacceptable impact on the amenity of 
Wayside through unacceptable overlooking from the proposed roof terrace of the 
private amenity area and living accommodation. The proposal would give rise to loss 
of light to the property The Maples due to the position of the pitched roof adjacent to 
the neighbour’s high level window. The proposal is contrary to Policy 25 of the Local 
Plan and the NPPF. 

Page 9Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Date of Meeting: 19th November 2019

Portfolio Holder: Cllr D Walsh, Planning

Local Member(s): Cllr Canning, Cllr Fry, Cllr Jones, Cllr Rennie

Director: John Sellgren, Executive Director of Place

Executive Summary: In February 2019 an Immediate Article 4 Direction was 
made for the Dorchester Conservation Area. The aim of the Article 4 was to restrict 
the gradual loss of character of the conservation area brought about by the 
replacement, alteration or removal of boundary walls and fences primarily due to 
off-road parking.

In making the article 4, the West Dorset Council was required to undertake a period 
of public consultation, which raised a number of concerns and queries from 
residents living in the conservation area. However the Article 4 was not confirmed 
within the required timescale of six months and expired in August. 

In response to the concerns raised it is recommended to make a new Article 4 
Direction (possible draft attached as Appendix 1) which should be brought in using 
provisions enabling it to take immediate effect. This would apply to the same area 
as the original Article 4 Direction. It would also reflect the provisions of the previous 
order by continuing to apply to the same permitted development rights, namely :

- Class A Part 2 – “development consisting of the erection, construction, 
maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other 
means of enclosure; and
- Class C Part 11 – any building operation consisting of the demolition of the 
whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure

However, it would materially differ from the previous order in particular by limiting 
its application to any gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure adjacent to a 
highway or open space. (This is in response to the consultation and would enable 
people to alter fences between back gardens which are not publicly visible without 
requiring planning permission).   

If a decision is made to make this article 4 direction there will follow a consultation 
period after which a further decision will need to be taken as to whether the order 
should be confirmed. 

Area Planning Committee 
(Northern)
Dorchester Conservation Area Article 4 
Direction 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5a



The recommendations of members in respect of this report will be taken forward 
through a delegated decision using the Planning portfolio holder’s executive 
powers. 

Equalities Impact Assessment:

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed and considered by the 
Place diversity and inclusion group on 24th October 2019.

Budget: there will be a cost of approximately £1400 to notify property owners of 
the made Article 4 Direction and its implications, advertise in the local press (if 
additional space needed) and again when notifying property owners at the end of 
the six month consultation period if the Article 4 Direction is confirmed. 

There is a possible risk of compensation claims, but this did not occur during the 
duration of the previous Article 4 Direction and it is considered that the risk of this 
resulting in significant expenditure is limited. 

Risk Assessment: 

If the Article 4 Direction is not made, there is a medium to high risk that works 
undertaken that have general permitted development rights could impact 
detrimentally on the character and amenity value of the Dorchester Conservation 
Area.

There is a possible risk of compensation claims, but this did not occur during the 
duration of the previous Article 4 Direction and it is considered that the risk of this is 
limited.

Climate implications:

The application of the Article 4 Direction could lead to applications for removal of 
walls and fences being refused. In some instances, this may make it difficult for 
property owners to install electric charging points for electric vehicles, which help 
reducing emissions. There are no other identified impacts. 

Other Implications:

There will be a cost to persons having to seek planning permission which would not 
otherwise occur. This may impact on those with limited financial means. 

Recommendation: 

That members support the following:

Page 16



a) the making by the Council of a new Article 4 Direction under the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as 
amended) some indicative draft wording of which is set out in Appendix 1 for 
properties within the Dorchester Conservation Area (identified in Appendix 2). The 
Direction will seek to remove the following permitted development rights 
immediately upon the making of the order:

i) Class A Part 2 – development consisting of the erection, 
construction, maintenance, improvement or alteration of a gate; 
fence, wall or other means of enclosure

ii) Class C Part 11 – any building operation consisting of the 
demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, fence, wall or 
other means of enclosure; but 

in both cases to limit the direction to any gate, fence, wall or other means 
of enclosure adjacent to a highway or open space (the proposed 
definitions for which are as set out in Appendix 1);

b) the Council using powers available in respect of the new Direction to enable it to 
take immediate effect;
c) that power be delegated to the Service Manager for Conservation to undertake 
all action that she considers necessary and appropriate for the purposes of 
addressing all procedural requirements relevant to the making, publicity and 
subsequent consultation of an article 4 direction; 

Reason for Recommendation: it is considered that there remains a need for an 
Article 4 direction. In the time since the last one expired, at least one wall has been 
removed through the returned permitted development rights. Without an Article 4 
Direction, this could continue and the negative impact on the character of the 
conservation area could be substantial. In order to prevent loss of further features 
which contribute to the character of the Dorchester Conservation Area, it is 
proposed that the Article 4 Direction takes immediate effect. The proposed 
delegation is to avoid requiring member approval for making small changes and 
amendments to the Article 4 Direction. 

Appendices:
1. Draft indicative Article 4 Direction
2. List of properties in the Dorchester Conservation Area which the Article 4 

Direction will apply to 
3. Copy of consultation responses received
4. Dorchester Article 4 Direction: Areas surveyed in the Dorchester 

Conservation Area
5. Plan showing proposed properties included in the Article Direction 4

Background Papers: 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018

Page 17



Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 as 
amended
Town & Country Planning Act 1990
Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, 
Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012 as amended 

Officer Contact:
Name: Alison Turnock
Tel: 01929 557337
Email: Alison.turnock@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 18



1. Background
1.1 In February 2019 Full Council of West Dorset District Council 

recommended that an Immediate Article 4 Direction be made to protect 
the public amenity of areas within parts of the Dorchester Conservation 
Area. The purpose of the Article 4 Direction was to preserve the character 
and appearance of the Conservation Area by removing permitted 
development rights, enabling the Council to retain control over 
development which would normally be permitted development. The need 
for this arose as a result of the removal of front walls to allow parking, and 
the detrimental impact this was having on the character of the 
conservation area. 

 
1.2 A six week consultation period followed the making of the Article 4 

Direction, and a number of comments were received during this time. A 
copy of the responses is attached as Appendix 3. Following the 
consultation, the Direction must be confirmed within six months. However, 
due to issues relating to local government reorganisation this did not 
occur, and the Article 4 Direction lapsed on 21st August 2019.

1.3 Since the Article 4 Direction lapsed at least one wall has been removed so 
the threat to the character of the conservation area remains. During the 
consultation a number of responses were received suggesting 
amendments to the original Article 4 Direction. These have been taken 
into account and used to inform the proposed new Article 4 Direction, a 
possible draft of which is attached as Appendix 1.

2. Planning background to making an Article 4 Direction

2.1 Under section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 as amended, local planning authorities have a duty to 
designate as Conservation Areas any “areas of special architectural or 
historic interest, the character of which is desirable to preserve or 
enhance”. Section 72 of the same Act requires that “special attention be 
paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area”. Designation of conservation areas introduces a 
general control over the demolition of unlisted buildings and provides the 
basis for policies designed to preserve or enhance the character or 
appearance that define an area’s special interest.

2.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 identifies 
Conservation Areas as Designated Heritage Assets, as the process of 
designation has identified them as having a level of significance that 
justifies special protection measures. Paragraph 186 states “when 
considering the designation of conservation areas, local planning 
authorities should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its 
special architectural or historic interest, and that the concept of 

Page 19



conservation is not devalued through the designation of areas that lack 
special interest”. 

2.2 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 grants planning permission for certain types of 
development which can be carried out without the need to consult or refer 
to the Council. These rights can only be removed through an Article 4 
Direction or a planning condition. 

2.3 Paragraph 53 of the NPPF states “the use of Article 4 Directions to 
remove national permitted development rights should be limited to 
situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity of the well-
being of the area (this could include the use of Article 4 Directions to 
require planning permission for the demolition of local facilities). Similarly, 
planning conditions should not be used to restrict national permitted 
development rights unless there is clear justification to do so”. 

2.4 An Article 4 Direction removes certain classes of permitted development 
rights and brings such development under the control of the Local 
Planning Authority by ensuring they are subject to the need to apply for 
planning permission. This can be used to safeguard the local amenity or 
the proper planning of an area, including the character and appearance of 
a conservation area. When considering an Article 4 Direction, the local 
planning authority should first identify the potential threat and the extent of 
the threat that a Direction needs to address. 

2.5 There are two types of Article 4 Direction, immediate and non-immediate. 
An immediate Article 4 Direction withdraws permitted development rights 
with immediate effect from the date the Direction comes into force. The 
justification for making this Article 4 Direction immediately is that it is 
considered that the development to which the direction relates would 
prejudice the proper planning of a threat to the amenities. This can be 
applied if the identified threat to the Dorchester Conservation is 
considered to be immediate. As a result of the potential for boundaries 
adjacent to a highway or open space to be removed using permitted 
development rights (and the impact of this on the character and amenity), 
it is proposed that Dorset Council makes an immediate Article 4 Direction. 

3. The need for an Article 4 Direction for Dorchester

3.1 A local Councillor made the request to progress an Article 4 Direction as a 
result of concern from residents regarding the negative impact of the 
potential loss of boundary walls on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. The proposal is to remove the permitted 
development rights to demolish, erect, construct, maintain, improve or 
alter a boundary wall, fence, gate or other means of enclosure belonging 
to a property that fronts onto a highway or open space, and require that 
planning permission be first obtained for such work. 

Page 20



3.2 There was local opposition to the demolition of an unlisted low brick wall 
facing a highway, which was carried out under permitted development 
rights. The planning authority concluded that its replacement by railings 
was out of keeping with the walls of adjoining neighbours and the terraced 
street as a whole, which was situated within the Conservation Area. 

3.4 Surveys were undertaken to identify the potential harm to public amenity 
and the Conservation Area from changes to boundaries that front a 
relevant location. The results of the survey work (included as Appendix 4) 
show that there is a threat of harm resulting from permitted development 
available to the properties surveyed (listed in Appendix 2). The properties 
are unlisted and mainly residential but include a number of non-residential 
buildings. The properties exemplify a distinctive local building tradition, 
often with a particular use of stone and brick, described in the adopted 
Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal as: “Polychromatic brickwork on 
19th century buildings and boundary walls, in the form of contracting 
courses of brick colours, panels, moulded brick string courses and wall 
capping (mainly in the late Victorian suburbs around the core, such as 
Prince of Wales Road, Weymouth Avenue, Victoria Park and the Cornwall 
Road area)”. The document also refers to Dorchester having “a wealth of 
18th century and early 19th century ironwork, in the form of boundary
railings”. Page 43 section 7.6 of the appraisal refers to “the control of 
alterations to unlisted buildings” (which would include alterations to 
curtilage boundary walls) as a planning issue. The appraisal is available 
on 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-
dorset/pdfs/dorchester-conservation-area-appraisal-part-three.pdf 

3.4 In the areas surveyed for the Article 4 Direction (Appendix 4) there are 
twenty-five properties that have already removed their front boundary 
walls, fences, gates or other means of enclosure for off-road parking or for 
ease of maintenance. Others have wholly or partly replaced boundaries or 
could erect a boundary of some sort for the first time. Where such 
properties affect public amenity and the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area, or have the potential to do so, they have been 
included in the Article 4 Direction. This will allow the Council to control the 
replacement and treatment of future boundaries. 

3.5 It is considered that there is a real and potentially immediate risk of 
permitted development rights being carried out in relation to identified 
properties, thereby having a detrimental effect on the character and public 
amenity of the conservation area. It is therefore proposed that an 
immediate Article 4 Direction be made, withdrawing specific development 
rights to safeguard the future public amenity, character and appearance of 
the Dorchester Conservation Area.

Page 21

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/pdfs/dorchester-conservation-area-appraisal-part-three.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/pdfs/dorchester-conservation-area-appraisal-part-three.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/pdfs/dorchester-conservation-area-appraisal-part-three.pdf


4. Responses to the consultation on the previous Article 4 Direction and changes 
proposed to the new Article 4 Direction as a result

4.1 Twenty-five responses were received during the consultation period on the 
previous Article 4 Direction. These are included together with officer 
responses in Appendix 2. Many respondents were in favour of the 
proposals to maintain the character of boundaries, including gates, as a 
“key component of the townscape”.

4.2 Comments were made regarding the inclusion of rear boundary features in 
the Article 4 Direction, despite the fact that these are not visible and are 
often modern. It is proposed to restrict the new Article 4 Direction to 
boundary features “adjacent to a highway or open space” to enable 
permitted development rights to be retained by residents on boundaries 
between back gardens.

4.3 Several comments were received regarding the inclusion of gates and 
maintenance. Considerable discussion has taken place regarding these 
and the desirability or otherwise of including them. A survey of the gates 
has shown that many of them are traditional wrought iron gates which 
contribute to the character of the conservation area, and therefore it is 
proposed to include them in the new Article 4 Direction. Similarly, 
maintenance can include a wide range of actions. For example, 
inappropriate repointing of walls or repair and painting of gates can have a 
negative impact on the character of a conservation area, and for this 
reason it is proposed to retain it in the new Direction. However, in 
response to the comments received, a “frequently asked questions” 
factsheet will be produced to seek to give clarity on what is and is not 
covered by the order. Generally speaking, works of maintenance, 
improvement or other alteration which do not materially affect the external 
appearance of a building do not require planning permission and the 
proposed article 4 direction will not change this.  The factsheet will seek to 
address this point to help explain what can normally be done without 
submitting a planning application. In order to assist residents with this, 
initial officer advice can also be sought to ascertain whether planning 
permission. 

4.4 Comments were also made regarding the difficulty understanding the 
need for, and the implications of, the Article 4 Direction. In response to 
that, the letter that will go out to property owners and occupiers has been 
revised and will be sent out with the frequently asked questions factsheet, 
to set out clearly the effect of the Article 4 Direction and some examples of 
what will and will not require planning permission. 

5. Extent of the new Article 4 Direction

5.1 As a result of the consultation, it is proposed that the new Article 4 
Direction:

Page 22



a) covers the same areas as the previous one (properties listed in 
Appendix 2);
b) applies to the erection, construction, maintenance, improvement 
demolition or alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure; 
and 
c) only applies where the gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure is 
adjacent to a highway or open space. 

5.2 A possible draft of the Article 4 Direction is attached at Appendix 1. 

6. Procedure for making article 4 directions with immediate effect

6.1 The procedure for an Article 4 Direction to take effect immediately can be 
done in two ways. The first is to serve notice on all of the affected owners and 
occupiers of properties within the area covered by the Direction. This was the 
means used for the previous Article 4 Direction. However, it is extremely difficult 
to ensure that all owners and occupiers receive a letter on the same day. Legally, 
there would be practical issues proving that all the occupiers and owners were 
contacted at the same time. It is therefore not proposed to use this method.

6.2 The second option is that the direction comes into force on the date on 
which the notice is first published and displayed. This is a more practical solution. 
It is therefore proposed to make the Article 4 Direction with immediate effect 
through advertising it in the Dorset Echo, and putting up notices in the areas 
affected. This will be followed up with a letter to all owners and occupiers, 
informing that the Article 4 Direction has been made, informing them of the 
consultation timescale within which they can make comments, and including the 
list of frequently asked questions. 

7. Implications

Financial

7.1 This report seeks authorisation for an Immediate Article 4 Direction, which 
has the possible risk of compensation claims within a statutory period of 12 
months from the date of the Council’s decision to refuse, or approve with more 
onerous conditions. This may include lost income in relation to the preparation of 
a planning application or damage directly related to the removal of permitted 
development rights. In 2008 the Historic Towns Forum contacted 72 planning 
authorities in England, 81% of which had at least one Article 4 Direction. None 
reported any incidences of compensation claims for withdrawing permitted 
development rights in conservation areas. In the six months that the previous 
Article 4 Direction for Dorchester was in place, there were no claims for 
compensation. On balance, it is therefore considered that the risk of claims for 
compensation is low. 

Page 23



7.2 The cost of determining any applications submitted as a consequence of 
the Article 4 Direction would be offset by the fee of £206 for householder 
permission for submitting a planning application.

7.3 There is also a cost associated with the requirement to notify all owners / 
occupiers of properties affected by the Direction (see 6.2 above). There are 
approximately 904 properties to notify. The recommendation is to notify the 
majority of property owners through DocMail. This would cost around £510 per 
notification (inclusive of stationary). Property owners would need to be informed 
that the Article 4 Direction has been made and that they can comment during the 
consultation process, and again when the Article 4 Direction is confirmed, making 
the total postage cost around £1,020.

7.4 In the redrafted letter to occupiers / owners, it states that the outcome 
(confirmed or not) of the article 4 could be ascertained by phoning Planning 
Support or by checking the Dorset Council website. If this is considered 
acceptable, and assuming there is no further revised article 4, there would be no 
follow up DocMail or extra postal cost. It is therefore proposed to use this method 
to inform local people of the outcome of the consultation process and whether or 
not the Article 4 Direction is confirmed. There will be additional postal costs to 
send 25 personalised letters to those who commented previously at a cost of 
£15.25 (Royal Mail, second class).

7.5 A notice will also be included in the local newspaper informing people of 
the making of the Article 4 Direction. There is no cost if this can be included in 
the planning authority’s weekly notice  but if not the cost would be around £400, 
both to notify and confirm the making of the Article 4 Direction. 

Risk Management

7.6 If an Article 4 Direction is not made, there is a risk to the character and 
appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area if works allowable under 
permitted development rights continue to take place. 

Consultation and Engagement

7.7 The General Permitted Development Order specifies the following 
consultation requirements for the making of an Article 4 Direction:

o Publish a notice (content defined by the Order) in a local newspaper;
o Display at least two notices within the area to which the Direction relates 

for a period of time no less than six weeks;
o Notify the owners / occupiers of the affected properties / land, unless 

impracticable to do so;
o Notify a statutory undertaker or the Crown where under their ownership

In addition it is proposed to publish the Article 4 Direction on the Dorset Council 
website. On the date a notice is first published or displayed, a copy of the Article 

Page 24



4 Direction and the notice must be sent to the Secretary of State. When an 
Article 4 Direction is confirmed, the publicity must be repeated.

7.8 If a decision is made to make this article 4 direction, there will follow a 
consultation period of six weeks. During this time affected property owners will 
have an opportunity to make their comments and put forward their views. These 
comments will be collated and responded to, and taken back to the Portfolio 
holder to use his delegated powers to confirm the order if appropriate. 

Appendices
1. Draft indicative Article 4 Direction
2. List of properties in the Dorchester Conservation Area which the Article 4 

Direction will apply to 
3. Copy of consultation responses received
4. Dorchester Article 4 Direction: Areas surveyed in the Dorchester Conservation 

Area
5. Plan showing proposed properties included in the Article Direction 4

Report author: Alison Turnock, Service Manager for Conservation
Email: Alison.turnock@dprsetcouncil.gov.uk

Page 25

mailto:Alison.turnock@dprsetcouncil.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Council – Article 4 Direction for the Dorchester Conservation Area Appendix 1

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) (ENGLAND) 
ORDER 2015 AS AMENDED

DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE 4(1) TO WHICH PARAGRAPH 2 OF SCHEDULE 3 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT) 
(ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 AS AMENDED APPLIES

DORSET COUNCIL (DORCHESTER CONSERVATION AREA) ARTICLE 4(1) DIRECTION 
2019

WHEREAS Dorset Council being the appropriate local planning authority for the purposes of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as 
amended, are satisfied that it is expedient that development of the description(s) set out in the 
Schedule below should not be carried out at the land shown coloured purple on the attached 
plan unless planning permission is granted on an application made under the Part lll of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended

NOW THEREFORE Dorset Council in pursuance of the power conferred on it by article 4(1) of 
the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as 
amended, hereby direct that the permission granted by article 3 of the said Order shall not apply 
to development on the said land of the descriptions set out in the Schedule below.

THIS DIRECTION is made under article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended, shall come into force in 
accordance with paragraph 2(5) of Schedule 3 of the said Order and shall remain in force until 6 
months from the date when it comes into force after which pursuant to paragraph 2(6) of the 
said Order it shall expire unless it has been confirmed by Dorset Council in accordance with 
paragraphs 1(9) and (10) of Schedule 3 of the said Order before the end of that 6 month period. 

SCHEDULE

Development consisting of the erection, construction, maintenance, improvement or 
alteration of a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure but only in respect of such 
gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure or part thereof as is adjacent to a highway 
or open space being development comprised within Class A of Part 2 to Schedule 2 of 
the said Order; 

OR

Any building operation consisting of the demolition of the whole or any part of any gate, 
fence, wall or other means of enclosure but only in respect of such gate, fence, wall or 
other means of enclosure or part thereof as is adjacent to a highway or open space being 
development comprised within Class C of Part 11 to Schedule of the said Order, 

AND in either case not being development comprised within any other Class(es),

PROVIDED THAT for the purposes of this direction reference to a “highway” or to “open 
space” shall have the same meaning as in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended and in the case of highway includes any way, including any footway, over 

Page 27



Dorset Council – Article 4 Direction for the Dorchester Conservation Area Appendix 1

which all members of the public have the right to pass and repass as of right and not on 
sufferance or by licence together with any highway verge.

Made under the Common Seal of            )

Dorset Council this                        day of )

                                                        2019 )

Authorised Signatory

Confirmed under the Common Seal of   )

Dorset Council this                        day of )

                                                      20       )

Page 28



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

1

Property addresses for the Dorchester Article 4 Direction

Area 1A

1 Arbutus Close
6 Arbutus Close

1-19 Great Western Rd

Rowan House, 2 Prince of Wales Rd 
3 Prince of Wales Rd
Dorchester Age Concern, Rowan Cottage, 4 Prince of Wales Rd
Flats 1 & 2, Rowan Cottage, 4 Prince of Wales Rd 
5A Prince of Wales Rd
Bay Tree House, 5 Prince of Wales Rd
The Surgery 6 Prince of Wales Rd 
Flats 1-5, 7 Prince of Wales Rd 
Fellowship of Meditation, 8 Prince of Wales Rd
The Old Stables, 9 Prince of Wales Rd
Kennedy Legg Chartered Accountants, Stafford House, 10 Prince of Wales Rd 
Belle Rose Care Home, 12 Prince of Wales Rd
14-18 (evens) Prince of Wales Rd
20 Prince of Wales Rd
Cygnus Instruments, Cygnus House, 30 Prince of Wales Rd 
32 Prince of Wales Rd
Flats 1 - 4, 36 Prince of Wales Rd
38 Prince of Wales Rd 
Montrose Care Home, 40 Prince of Wales Rd 
Ardmore, 46 Prince of Wales Rd 
48 Prince of Wales Rd 
Grassington House Care Home, 50 Prince of Wales Rd
Abbeyfield, 52 Prince of Wales Rd 

South Coast Dental Centre, Avenue House, South Walks Rd 
Flat, Avenue House, South Walks Rd 
Flats 1-24 Beech Court, South Walks Rd
Flats 1-64 Southfield House, South Walks Rd
Southfield Veterinary Centre, The Old Rectory, South Walks Rd 
Flats 1 & 2, The Old Rectory, South Walks Rd
Open Reach, Dorchester ATE, Rothesay House, South Walks Rd

Mentone Lodge 2–4 (evens) Weymouth Ave
1-3 (odds) Weymouth Ave
Flats 1-6, 6 Weymouth Ave

York House, York Rd

Page 29



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

2

Area 1B

1-5 Albert Rd
Flat 1 & 2, Hollybank 6 Albert Rd 
Encompass, Hollybank 6 Albert Rd 
Flats A-G, 7 Albert Rd 
8 Albert Rd
Flats 1-6, The Gables 9 Albert Rd 
West Cottage, The Gables 9 Albert Rd
Chestnut Cottage, The Gables, 9 Albert Rd 

Dorford Baptist Church, Bridport Rd 
2 Bridport Rd
Aspen House Dental Practice, 4 Bridport Rd
6-10 (evens) Bridport Rd
12 Bridport Rd
Ground Floor Flat 12 Bridport Rd
12B Bridport Rd 
14-48 (evens) Bridport Rd

Cornwall House 1 Cornwall Rd 
2-6 Cornwall Rd
Flats 1-7, 7 Cornwall Rd
Flats 1-4, 8 Cornwall Rd
9&10 Cornwall Rd 
Flats 1-4, 11 Cornwall Rd
12-14 Cornwall Rd
Dorchester Orthodontic Centre, 15 Cornwall Rd 
Glencairn Residential Home, 16-17 Cornwall Rd
The Flat, Glencairn, 16-17 Cornwall Rd
The Gardens Dental Practice, 18 Cornwall Rd
19-21 Cornwall Rd
Encompass, Connaught House, 22 Cornwall Rd
Flats 1-3, 22 Cornwall Rd
Flats 1-3, 23 Cornwall Rd
Howard Boon Insurance, Part First Floor, 24 Cornwall Rd
Read Woodruff, 24 Cornwall Rd
25-33 Cornwall Rd
34 Cornwall Rd 
Top Flat, 34 Cornwall Rd
Royal Terrace Dental Practice 35 Cornwall Rd 
Flats 1 & 2, 35 Cornwall Rd
35A Cornwall Rd
36-44 Cornwall Rd

Wentworth, 2 Damers Rd

1-15 (odds) St Helen’s Rd 
16A St Helen’s Rd 

Page 30



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

3

17 St Helen’s Rd
19-31 (odds) St Helen’s Rd 
2-22 (evens) St Helen’s Rd

Case & Brewer, 1 Victoria Rd 
2-27 Victoria Rd
27A Victoria Rd
28 Victoria Rd 

Area 1C

Chipmunks Day Nursery, 6 Herringston Rd
8&10 Herringston Rd

29 Lime Close 

18 & 18A Maumbury Rd
19-26 Maumbury Rd

1 Queen’s Ave
2&4 Queen’s Ave
Yew Trees, 3 Queen’s Ave
Portelet, 5 Queen’s Ave
7 Queen’s Ave
Flats 1-5, Kingscote, Queen’s Ave

Badbury Care Home, Avenue House Residential Home, 8 Weymouth Ave
Maumbury Care Home, Greenbushes Nursing Home, 10 Weymouth Ave

Area 1D

1-12 York Terrace, Barnes Way

1-32 Culliford Rd

138 Monmouth Rd 
Bakers Arms, 140 Monmouth Rd
142-186 (evens) Monmouth Rd
Montrose Cottage, 188 Monmouth Rd
190 Monmouth Rd

Area 1E

Sydney Arms, 11 Bridport Rd
Flat, 11 Bridport Rd
Flats 1&2, 13 Bridport Rd
15-53 (odds) Bridport Rd
32-33 Mountain Ash Rd

Page 31



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

4

Area 1F

Flats 1&2 1 Alexandra Rd
The Georgie Porgie Pie & Burger Co Alexandra Rd
3-65 (odds) Alexandra Rd
Flats 1-3, Lynton, 4 Alexandra Rd
6-18 (evens) Alexandra Rd
16A Alexandra Rd 
Top Flat, 16 Alexandra Rd 
Church Hall, Alexandra Rd 

Flats 1&2, 5 Damers Rd 
Unit 2&3, 5 Damers Rd
Suite 1&2, 5 Damers Rd 
5A Damers Rd 
5B Damers Rd
7-21 (odds) Damers Rd
Maisonette 11 Damers Rd
Maisonette, 19 Damers Rd
23A, 23B & 23C Damers Rd 
25&27 Damers Rd 
29-31 Damers Rd as currently known

2 & 2A Dagmar Rd
4-48 (evens) Dagmar Rd 
1-45 (odds) Dagmar Rd
1-4 Victoria Flats, Dagmar Rd  

2&4 Edward Rd 
6 Edward Rd 

1-27 (odds) Maud Rd 
Victoria Hotel, 33 Maud Rd 

5-41 (odds) Olga Rd 
45 Olga Rd 
The Hair Kabin, 47 Olga Rd 
49-57 (odds) Olga Rd
59A & 59B Olga Rd
61 Olga Rd
1-7 St James Place, Olga Rd

Area 2

14 All Saints Rd (also included in and contributes to Area 3)
23 All Saints Rd (also included in and contributes to area 3)
Montserrat, Culliford Rd North

Page 32



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

5

1-7 Duke’s Ave
8A Duke’s Ave
8B Duke’s Ave
9-30 Duke’s Ave
Flats 1&2, 31 Duke’s Ave
32-45 Duke’s Ave

1-10 Alington Terrace, Durngate St
11 Durngate St

17-29 (odds) High St, Fordington
Ground Floor Flat & First Floor Flat, 24 High St, Fordington
26 High St, Fordington
28 High St, Fordington
34 High St, Fordington
49-55 (odds) High St, Fordington
66 High St, Fordington
69-89 (odds) High St, Fordington 
Flats 1&2, 96 High St, Fordington 
1-4 Moule Terrace, High St, Fordington
Flats 1-11, Rectory Court, High St, Fordington 
1-24 Salisbury Mews, High St, Fordington
St George’s Vicarage, High St, Fordington 
The Mill Street Housing Society Ltd, Flats 1-12 Fordington Hill House, High St, Fordington
11-20 Victoria Buildings, High St, Fordington

8-23 Harvey’s Terrace, Holloway Rd

7 Icen Way 
Flat, 7 Icen Way 
Woods Funeral Service, Old Gas Works, 11A Icen Way 
Woods Furniture Dorchester, Old Gas Works 11A Icen Way
Greenway Upholstery, Old Gas Works, Icen Way
Kewmark Ltd, Old Gas Works (part of), Icen Way 
The Laurels, 19 Icen Way 
The Annexe, 19 Icen Way 
20-25 Icen Way
The Old Schoolhouse, 26 Icen Way 
Flats 1-3, 27 Icen Way
28-31 Icen Way 
Icen Cottage, 32 Icen Way
Chesters, Icen Way
Icen Mead, Icen Way
Icen House, Icen Way
Millstones, Icen Way
Stonewater Ltd, 1-24 Heathcote Close, Icen Way 
Stonewater Ltd, Heathcote Lodge, Icen Way
The Old Rectory Icen Way (also included in and contributes to Area 3)

Page 33



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

6

11-17 (odds) King’s Rd
Fordington Laundrette, 60 King’s Rd 
60-90 (evens) King’s Rd

1 Pound Lane
Dorset Cottage, 4 Pound Lane
11-16 Stonehouse Court, Pound Lane
Casterbridge Cottage, Pound Lane
Flats 1&2, Stonehouse, Pound Lane

1-20 Robins Garth

Dorchester Town Council, Salisbury Field

5&6 Salisbury St 
Salisbury House, Salisbury St

2&4 South Walks Rd 
12-28 (evens) South Walks Rd 
31-47 (odds) South Walks Rd

1&3 St George’s Rd

1-7 Victoria Terrace

Area 3

Wollaston Lodge, Acland Rd

1-21 (odds) All Saints Rd 
23 All Saints Rd (also included in and contributes to Area 2)
2 & 2A All Saints Rd
4-12 (evens) All Saints Rd
14 All Saints Rd (also included in and contributes to Area 2)

18 Icen Way 
37-41 Icen Way
Basement Flat 41 Icen Way 
Culliford House Residential Home, Icen Way
The Old Rectory, Icen Way (also included in and contributes to Area 2)

1 Linden Ave
Flats 1-6, 3 Linden Ave
Magna Housing Ltd, Flats 1-11, 4 Linden Ave  
Lester House 5 Linden Ave
Southgate 7 Linden Ave
9 Linden Ave 
Magna Housing Ltd, 1 – 65 Acland Court, Linden Ave
The Old Stables, Linden Ave

Page 34



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 2

7

1A -1D Wollaston Rd
1&2 Wollaston Rd
2A Wollaston Rd
3-6 Wollaston Rd 
6A Wollaston Rd
7 Wollaston Rd
7A Wollaston Rd
8-19 Wollaston Rd
19A Wollaston Rd
20 Wollaston Rd
1-8 Linden Gardens, Wollaston Rd 

Area 4

9-11 (odds) London Rd 
13A & 13B London Rd
15-25 (odds) London Rd

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

1

Public comments Officer response 
If the intention of this is to stop owners demolishing front walls and creating 
hard standings for cars etc then thoroughly agree with the directive. 
Changing the appearance of front gardens would seriously undermine the 
appearance of properties in Damers Rd as it has already done in adjacent 
streets (1).

Seems sensible, but more consideration of parking in the Area is needed 
(2).

Am writing to confirm my support for the continuation of the Direction. 
There have been a number of walls and fences (but particularly walls) that 
have been demolished in the course of renovation and have either not 
been replaced or replaced inappropriately. The character of walls and 
gates, fences etc is a key component of the townscape and once lost are 
rarely properly replaced. The continuance of the directive is an important 
tool within the Conservation area (4).

Fully support the Direction in order to maintain the character of Dorchester. 
However, much of the pressure on residents to create off street parking is 
due to the increasingly large number of people who work and visit 
Dorchester and park in streets close to the centre. Urgent attention should 
be given to establishing large and efficient low cost Park and Ride facilities 
serving Dorchester (21). 

Thank you for bringing forwards this Direction with a 6-month duration, with 
the request for consultation to make it permanent. In response to the 
request for comment I am fully in support of this proposal, both the 
immediate direction, and the longer term intention.
It may be partly in response to my query that this loophole in the 
Conservation Area rules was identified, and which I asked to be further 
considered. This was following the most unfortunate removal of the original 
period wall and the replacement with out-of-character rendered blockwork. 
However I would ask that assuming this becomes permanent the 
application of it by Conservation Officers is reasonably flexible (13).

The overall support for the Article 4 Direction is noted. 

Regarding off-street parking and Park and Ride, Dorset Council’s Parking 
Services has been notified of the concerns.

In my opinion, people are desperate to find parking spaces for their cars 
and as a consequence it’s changing the character of any space in front of 
older properties (3).

The character and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area is 
enriched by its many boundaries, in particular those visible from public 
areas. It is recognised that there is pressure to create off-street parking and 
the additional potential loss or change to boundaries. 

P
age 37



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

2

I understand the need to control the look of historic properties in the town 
but I cannot see the benefit in holding up “maintenance” of gates, fences, 
walls and other enclosures”.

For example, my front gate is currently hanging on one hinge because the 
other pulled out of the wall. Please can you confirm that I need to apply for 
permission, before carrying out the necessary “maintenance” or, better still, 
remove the word “maintenance” from your notification (5).

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. It is therefore intended to include the word 
“maintenance” in the withdrawn permitted development right. Repairing 
gate hinges would not come under this category and we have already 
confirmed this.

We should like some clarification since, on the face of it, the Article 4(1) 
Direction appears excessively wide-ranging in its scope.

We feel that, as it stands, the Direction might give rise to unintended 
consequences.

According to the literal terms of the Direction, we would need to apply for 
planning permission to repaint (in the existing colour) the gates across the 
entrance to our property, since this undoubtedly falls within the definition of 
“maintenance”. Surely this is not an intended consequence of the Direction.

Similarly, does the term “means of enclosure” refer only to means of 
enclosure abutting a public highway or public footpath or is it wider in 
scope. If the term “means of enclosure” covers walls and fences between 
properties (such as the wall separating our garden at number 5 from the 
garden at number 7), then, strictly, we would have to apply for planning 
permission in order to carry out re-pointing of the wall (it needs re-pointing 
now) since, once again, this undoubtedly falls within the definition of 
“maintenance”. In this case too, surely this is not an intended consequence 
of the Direction.

Also, if a fence between our property and another property fell down, the 
implication is that we would have to leave it in its fallen-down state and 
apply for planning permission to repair it (“maintain” it). As we have dogs, 
this would cause problems because they would be liable to escape.

We understand that old walls deserve to be preserved, but why is it 
necessary to extend that protection to fences that separate private 
residential houses and are not adjacent to public highways or footpaths? In 
most cases fences are modern and, by their very nature, are temporary 
structures?

Obviously, a common sense approach is needed to the interpretation of 

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. It is therefore intended to keep the word 
“maintenance” in the withdrawn permitted development right. 

Under minor operations, repointing, repairing or repainting in a manner that 
preserves the character and appearance of the Conservation Area would 
not normally require the submission of a planning application. The request 
for clarification has been responded to.

Thank you for providing an alternatively worded Article 4 Direction Order 
which has been given consideration. For the proposed new revised Article 
4 Direction, please see the officer’s committee report to which this 
appendix is attached.

P
age 38



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

3

any enactment or instrument but, if rules are to be respected and properly 
applied, they must be expressed in clear, comprehensive and unequivocal 
terms. For the reasons stated above, the Article 4(4) Direction is not 
expressed in clear, comprehensive and unequivocal terms.

We look forward to receiving the requested clarification (so that we can re-
paint gates, mend fences, re-point walls and carry out other minor but 
necessary repairs without going to the expense and suffering the delay of 
applying for planning permission) (6 & 7).

It is of course too late now but, in a spirit of collegiality I take the liberty of 
enclosing (see notice below) what I think would have been a more helpful 
and readily comprehensible version of the Direction. I have highlighted the 
changes in yellow (6&7).

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (GENERAL PERMITTED 
DEVELOPMENT) (ENGLAND) ORDER 2015 AS AMENDED

DIRECTION MADE UNDER ARTICLE FOR(1) TO WHICH PARAGRAPH 2 
OF SCHEDULE 3 APPLIES

WEST DORSET DISTRICT COUNCIL (DORCHESTER CONSERVATION 
AREA) ARTICLE 4(1) DIRECTION 2019

WHEREAS West Dorset District Council being the appropriate local 
planning authority for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended 
(also hereinafter referred to as “the said Order”), are satisfied that it is 
expedient that development of the description(s) set out in the Schedule 
below should not be carried out at the land shown coloured purple on the 
attached plan unless planning permission is granted on an application 
made under Part III of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended.

NOW THEREFORE the said Council in pursuance of the 
power conferred on them by article 4(1) of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015, as amended, hereby direct that the 
permission granted by article 3 of the said Order for 
development of the description set out in the Schedule below 
shall not apply to the said land.

P
age 39



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

4

SCHEDULE

Development consisting of the erection, construction, maintenance, 
improvement or alteration (which terms do not include (re)painting or 
repair) of a gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure located adjacent 
to a publicly accessible highway, footway, waterway or open space, being 
development comprised in Class A of Part 2 - Minor operations, of the said 
order,

AND

Any building operation consisting of the demolition of the whole or any part 
of any gate, fence, wall or other means of enclosure located adjacent to a 
publicly accessible highway, footway, waterway or open space, being 
development comprised in Class C of part 11 – Heritage and Demolition, of 
the said Order, and not being development comprised within any other 
Class(es).

THIS DIRECTION is made under article 4(1) of the said Order and, in 
accordance with paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 3 shall come into force on 6 
March 2019 and shall remain in force until 21 August 2019 (being six 
months from the date of the direction) and shall then expire unless it has 
been confirmed by the appropriate local planning authority in accordance 
with paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 3 of the said Order.

It's disappointing that WDCC haven't adopted the approach of the Plain 
English Campaign. The letter took me several attempts to even understand 
what was being notified. In conversation with other people who have 
received this letter, the same comment is being made. Something as 
restrictive as what you are suggesting needs to be made clearer as it has 
potential ramifications.

Putting long hyperlinks in a printed letter doesn't exactly make it easy to 
follow. Even on the website, there's no indication as to why you're doing 
this.

If I am understanding correctly, you are suspending my ability at the above 
address to change any wall, fence, gate etc without permission for at least 
six months.

It is agreed that the legal wording of the letter was difficult to understand. 
Further correspondence will be more explanatory and navigation to 
documents on the website made easier.

Boundary changes that have reduced or are likely to reduce the character 
and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area have raised the need 
for an Article 4 Direction, which allows the Planning Authority to control 
change through the need to apply for planning permission. This was 
explained in the officer’s report to committee, which was available on the 
council’s website. 

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

P
age 40



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

5

What you haven't indicated, is why you are doing this.

I note that perhaps you'd like to make this permanent based on comments. 
How can I make a comment if I don't know why you're doing this?

At present, it would seem ridiculous for me to have to apply for permission 
to move a fence that's only been in existence for about 2 years (8).

The request for further information has been responded to.

This seems to me to be a monumental waste of money and officer time. 
The definition of maintenance seems obscure. Does this mean for 
example: painting a gate; replacing a damaged gate or fence; re-pointing a 
wall? Would these actions justify a £260 charge in order to undertake what 
would be a means of maintaining the desired look and heritage of an area. 
Would the order result in properties drifting into dis-repair? This matter 
needs a considerable amount of further thought before more public money 
is wasted (9).

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. It is therefore intended to keep the word 
“maintenance” in the withdrawn permitted development right. 

Under minor operations, repointing, repairing or repainting in a manner that 
preserves the character and appearance of the Conservation Area would 
not normally require the submission of a planning application. The request 
for clarification has been responded to.

Under the Article 4 Direction, there is the possibility that the fee for a 
planning application will discourage work to be undertaken, but in terms of 
boundaries, disrepair is more often associated with a lack of maintenance 
such as repointing a wall or repainting railings, and if such minor works are 
carried out in a sympathetic manner, it is unlikely a planning application 
would be necessary.

To need planning permission to replace like for like an existing gate or 
fence seems totally unnecessary and bureaucratic - a complete waste of 
council time and residents' time and money. To construct a new fence, wall 
or gate which does not replace existing or is to be in a very different style, 
fine to get permission but I am not sure that full planning permission should 
be necessary? What has triggered these new rules as they seem quite 
draconian (10)?

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

Boundary changes that have reduced or are likely to reduce the character 
and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area have raised the need 
for an Article 4 Direction, which allows the Planning Authority to control 
change through the need to apply for planning permission. 

Please could I be informed why this decision has been made. The direction It is agreed that the legal wording of the letter was difficult to understand. 

P
age 41



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

6

is not worded clearly, if we are painting a fence, or if a fence is blown down 
and we replace it, does that mean we have to ask permission from the 
council? We would appreciate the reason for this directive.
From an unhappy owner (11)!

Further correspondence will be more explanatory.

Boundary changes that have reduced or are likely to reduce the character 
and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area have raised the need 
for an Article 4 Direction, which allows the Planning Authority to control 
change through the need to apply for planning permission. 

Maintenance that does not have an effect on the character and appearance 
of the Dorchester Conservation Area is not likely to require planning 
permission. 

As requested, further information was provided.
Having read through the meeting report, I appreciate the need for this 
Direction, but it is too draconian, as well as self-defeating in its wording; 
further clarity is required. I may have misread it, but it appears that if I paint 
my black metal gate (maintenance) the exact same colour, I would need 
planning permission. Or if I want to repair my brick wall, I would also need 
planning permission. If I let the gate go rusty and fall off, or do not repair 
my wall and let it collapse on its own accord that falls outside the Direction. 
If the problem is people knocking down walls to create car parking spaces, 
why do I need permission to maintain my iron gate? Would I have to pay 
for a planning application to maintain my gate or wall? Have I 
misunderstood this? Will further guidance be provided? Apologies for all 
the questions (12).

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. It is therefore intended to keep the word 
“maintenance” in the withdrawn permitted development right. 

Under minor operations, repointing, repairing or repainting in a manner that 
preserves the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is not 
likely to require the submission of a planning application. 

As requested, further information was provided.
I feel that this is causing residents in these areas a lot of stress and 
anxiety. To implement this as from immediate effect does not make any 
sense. How is this defined,? is it the walls etc at the front of the property 
the sides and the rear?
If a fence blows down or is damaged in any way it cannot be repaired or 
replaced without consent is nonsense. Where I live the rear alleyway is 
always a concern at night as you do not know who is about. This is 
worrying for elderly residents living alone.
I feel that this should be thrown out with immediate effect.

The opposition to the Article 4 Direction is noted.

For security reasons any damage to fences or gates in the back alleyway 
would unlikely affect the character or appearance of the Dorchester 
Conservation Area and therefore require planning permission before repair 
work proceeds. As requested, further information was provided.

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

The Article 4 Direction was implemented immediately because of concern 
that the character and appearance of the Conservation Area is being, and 

P
age 42



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

7

would be, devalued by changes to certain boundaries. . 
Can you pse explain what the definition of maintenance is meant wrt the 
recent article 4 (1) direction?

What is the cost of a planning application if any and what is the time line?

More over why according to the enclosed map is the area affected not 
inclusion of the majority of properties. I do find it very surprising that for 
example Maud Rd properties are included, yet those on Herringston road 
are not.
Thank you for your note, whilst I could understand the requirement for 
certain construction/ demolition work, it would seem somewhat pointless 
and expensive to submit applications for maintenance. IE £260 to creosote 
your fence. 
WRT areas I still fail to understand why for example Herrington road is not 
in a conversation area given that No. 1 Herrington Rd built in isolation 
before the rest of the properties in the road would be exempt (15). 

The word “maintenance” covers work that would be considered to 
“materially affect the external appearance”, that is, work that has an effect 
on the character and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area. 

Creosoting a fence would not normally require planning permission. 

As requested, further information was provided.

In Herringston Rd, those properties that are in the Dorchester Conservation 
Area were included in the Article 4 Direction. 

It is unclear in the proposed change why West Dorset Council have 
decided that these changes are required? What is the justification? 

I particularly object to the direction including 'maintenance' of boundary 
walls. This means that any time basic maintenance is needed we will have 
to go through the costly and lengthy process of applying for planning. This 
will delay any essential work, which, if it is to maintain the same wall etc.. 
shouldn't be a problem for planners to agree.. Presumably WDDC would 
want to support homeowners ensuring that their property is safe and in 
keeping with the general look of the town?

To do any maintenance to my house is already complicated and incurs 
extra charges as my property backs onto a car park. In order for builders to 
do work from the rear aspect of my property I have to pay for at least 3 car 
parking spaces and negotiate with the council for times when the work can 
be done. If I have work done at the front of the house, eg. Have a skip on 
the road, I have to pay a permit for it.
Additionally in Wollaston road there is very little scope to have any 
developmental work anyway so I think this street should be exempt from 
the proposes changes.

The net result of your proposal, is that homeowners won't have work done.
I believe that these proposals are extremely unfair on people living in the 
centre of Dorchester and are just another way of the council making money 
(16).

Boundary changes that have reduced or are likely to reduce the character 
and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area have raised the need 
for an Article 4 Direction, which allows the Planning Authority to control 
change through the need to apply for planning permission. 

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. It is therefore intended to keep the word 
“maintenance” in the withdrawn permitted development right. Maintenance 
to boundaries, where carried out in a sympathetic manner, is unlikely to 
require planning permission. 

As requested, further information has been provided. 

Wollaston Rd is central and has very small front gardens with attractive 
boundaries (railings, gate piers). The street’s boundaries contribute to the 
Dorchester Conservation Area, so for example, replacement boundaries or 
alterations, as has happened elsewhere in the Conservation Area, would 
have an adverse effect.

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

P
age 43



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

8

Hardly a widespread problem and I can’t see why this is being done 1000 
dwellings in conservation area and only 26 have had a parking space put in 
their front gardens and I found those figures from your own publications. 
The most probable reason why someone would build a parking space is 
because of the difficulties trying to park anywhere near their home because 
most workers coming to Dorchester park on residential roads because of 
the cost of parking in the car parks and many roads now have parking 
meters making the cost for parking for the working week to costly, also if a 
resident now apply for planning consent to make a parking space and gets 
turned down when someone living in the same street has a space built 
under permitted development, they have the possibility to claim 
compensation from the council and also claim for the gain in value a 
parking space would of made to their house if it was done. Would this be 
correct (17)?

Changes to boundaries not only result from off-street parking but also 
replacements and alterations, often associated with gardens where lack of 
space precludes off-street parking. An Article 4 Direction allows the 
Planning Authority to control change through the need to apply for planning 
permission. 
The concerns about car parking have been forwarded to Dorset Council’s 
Parking Services. 

The inquiry regarding compensation has been responded to. A 
compensation claim would have to be considered on its merits, as the facts 
of each claim would differ.

Am I misunderstanding your Notice. Are you saying that if the wooden 
panelled fence gets blown down, we have to apply for permission to repair 
it, even if it is just a replacement?
Since approval of your planning applications, as I understand it, take a 
minimum of 6 months this notice is simply RIDICULOUS. And more money 
for the application to be found no doubt (18).

The inclusion of the word “maintenance” covers work that would be 
considered to “materially affect the external appearance”, for example, to a 
fence or wall that has an effect on the character and appearance of the 
Dorchester Conservation Area. The reinstatement of a blown down fence is 
unlikely to require planning permission, which means there would not be 
any planning application timescale involved. The request for clarification 
about the fence has been responded to.

If required under an Article 4 Direction, there is now a national planning fee 
for a planning application. For a householder, it is likely to be £206, as 
calculated on the Planning Portal available at 
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/FeeCalculator/Standalone?region=1

We are surprised that this is necessary as, over 15 years ago, we had to 
obtain planning permission to make the car park space and were also 
required to use a certain brick, re-use the stone as far as possible and 
have only a gravel surface to allow for drainage. We were restricted in the 
length of wall we were allowed to remove but this worked fine with our plan.

Since then another property having removed more wall was required to 
obtain retrospective planning permission which was refused - however no 
replacement has been enforced. Other properties have replaced the gravel 
with paving, there was no planning permission?
So this raises the issue that whilst we obviously will support making this 
permanent anyone choosing to ignore it or in years to come not realise 
planning is necessary will not be forced to replace what has been lost - so 
whilst those of us who are law abiding pay the fees those who don't will not 

Planning permission was required because it involved a new vehicular 
access off a classified highway. Also, the effect on the character and 
appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area would have been a 
planning consideration. 

The matters of the retrospective planning permission and changes to 
external surfaces were forwarded to Planning Enforcement for 
consideration. Similarly, the suggestion of a fine of £1000. Planning 
Enforcement has explained that they had been contacted regarding the 
wall and informed that it is to be rebuilt. Also current Permitted 
Development rights permit the hard surfacing of up to 5 sq. metres at the 
front of a house without requiring planning permission even when in a 
conservation area. The Planning Enforcement plan does not give the 
power to impose on the spot fines”. Information on Planning Enforcement is 

P
age 44

https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/FeeCalculator/Standalone?region=1


Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

9

face any penalty if they simply ignore it.
We would suggest that in making this a requirement there is an on the spot 
fine of e.g. £1000 for anyone who ignores it even if planning permission 
may have been granted. Otherwise it seems unnecessary to bring in 
something which no-one is going to enforce!
We would also argue that if it is made permanent then it should apply to 
both sides of Icen Way from South Walks corner to Kings Rd as it seems 
ludicrous with the stone walls and the Victorian wall lower down that the 
occupants can remove these opposite those if us who are restricted. 
This should apply to both sides of any highway frontage in the conservation 
area which would then include Icen Way both sides?
Also as the letter sent out was totally misleading, please send out before 
the end date for comments the very clear additional leaflet which explains 
that maintenance does not include weeding etc. We received this by email 
but all owners should be made aware.
Hoping these comments are useful in helping a sensible decision to be 
made in August (19).

available at https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-
land/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx

Unlisted walls on both sides of Icen Way were included in the Article 4 
Direction, except for curtilage listed walls, for which material changes 
require Listed Building Consent.

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way. 

It is agreed that the legal wording of the letter was difficult to understand. 
Further correspondence will be more explanatory and include a leaflet.

This directive is dated and arrived at our house the week after we had 
replaced our broken gate and several weeks after we had replaced the 
adjacent 2 fence panels which had been badly damaged in the storms over 
Christmas and thereafter, to a degree where our garden was not safe to 
contain our pet dogs.
My son then saw someone yesterday taking pictures of our fence/gate and 
possibly that of our neighbours. This has caused us concern and worry. 
We used the existing fence posts which have been in situ for at least 15 
years and our boundary has not moved. Yet we feel now, with this 
instruction arriving so soon after we had carried out this maintenance, as if 
we are being hounded.
Furthermore, having lived in this property for almost 30 years, I can assure 
you that there is no heritage behind any of the properties adjoining the alley 
between Damers and Dagmar Roads, just a rag-bag of higgledy piggledy 
fences and lean-tos.
Would like to make our objections known to this ridiculous order.
We would also like to point out that following the link to this consultation we 
find a webpage with links to further details and maps, both of which are 
broken and inaccessible. How can you hold a consultancy when the 
residents affected are unable to view the proposed impact? It is inept and 
ridiculous (22).

The objection to the Article 4 Direction is noted.

It is not know who took the photographs. The work described can remain, 
as already explained. 

The problems with the website links were resolved promptly and the 
respondent notified.

The made Article 4 Direction was too wide-ranging and such a concern has 
been given due consideration. It is the intention to make a new revised 
Direction (to be consulted on) that applies to boundaries adjacent to an 
open space or highway, including a right of way.

I feel that we should be able to make alterations to fences, gates and walls 
without needing to put in a planning application (23). 

The character and appearance of the Dorchester Conservation Area is 
enriched by its many boundaries. The Article 4 Direction allows greater 
control of changes to certain boundaries. However, the Direction was too 

P
age 45

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-enforcement.aspx


Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

10

wide-ranging and such a concern has been given due consideration. It is 
the intention to make a new revised Direction (to be consulted on) that 
applies to boundaries adjacent to an open space or highway, including a 
right of way.

My guess from reading the letter was that it would turn out that you're 
worrying about the number of front gardens being converted to parking 
spaces... And lo, having read the planning officers report, that's exactly 
what you consider the problem to be.

Which is fair enough, except of course it's been district and county level 
planning decisions over the last 30 or 40 years that have led us to our 
current situation w.r.t parking in Dorchester. /You/ chose to introduce 
residents parking in select areas, /you/ forced people to park elsewhere, 
and then, when residents in Fordington asked for *their* streets to be made 
resident only, /you/ made it as difficult as possible to get it done. So it really 
shouldn't be any surprise that the response was to obliterate front gardens 
where possible. It's no coincidence that the places you highlight for the 
additional restrictions are those where pressure for on street parking is at 
its highest.

Grasp the nettle and deal with the parking situation in Dorchester. It might 
mean there was less pressure on front gardens.

I'm assuming that, given the nature of the problem, and your planning 
system response, you'll be generally refusing applications to convert front 
gardens into parking spaces unless there are exceptional circumstances. 
Would this be the case? If so, which circumstances would you consider? 
EVs?

People are being encouraged to buy electric cars and the government is 
increasingly looking at disincentives for FF vehicle owners. I would 
probably expect my next car to be an EV when I replace it in a few years 
time, and I'm probably not alone in thinking that. But I have no off street 
parking (in common with many in your conservation area) and given the 
virtual absence of public charging points within Dorchester and a complete 
absence of street side charging, the /only /way this would be viable would 
be to sacrifice my front garden to provide a facility for overnight charging...

I would rather resent being penalised for owning a FF car when council 
legislation is actively preventing me from owning an EV. It might be a good 
idea to start making plans for the widespread availability of public charging 

Whilst boundary changes due to off-street car parking is a consideration, 
other changes are too, such as replacement or altered boundaries, even 
where gardens are too small for off-street parking. 

The concerns about car parking have been forwarded to Dorset Council’s 
Parking Services. 

Dorset Council has recently signed up to an agreement which will allow 
affordable access to prefeasibility work to identify viable locations 
throughout the county for additional electric vehicle charge point provision. 
Currently, Dorchester has four publicly available electric vehicle charging 
points – 2 rapid chargers at Trinity Street and 2 fast chargers at County 
Hall pay and display car park. There is also a fast charger provided at M G 
Cannon and Poundbury Gardens.

Each planning application would be considered on its merits, taking into 
account all material planning considerations at the time. 

P
age 46



Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

11

points... (24).
Thank you for your letter dated the 6th March regarding the Article 4(1) 
Direction. I have to say that along with a number of people it took me a 
while to work out just what it was all about or what had caused it. It was 
difficult, but having looked back online at past Council Meeting Minutes & 
other online documents I believe I am a bit clearer.

As invited by your letter, I would like to take the opportunity to make a 
comment about the Direction. 

I moved to my house in Icen Way, Fordington 5 years ago. I was certainly 
attracted to Dorchester by the proposed shopping development in the town, 
particularly that in Charles Street along with other development plans to 
improve the town. These of course have now been shelved & if the major 
reason was caused to protect archaeology, that is unlikely to ever be seen, 
I feel that this is a great shame. 

Prior to moving here, I became very aware of the parking issues in the 
town, especially that caused by hospital staff, council staff, town workers 
and shoppers who would park all day in residential areas such as where I 
live in Fordington. For that reason I did ensure that I looked for a house 
either with a garage or off road parking. I was told on moving in that there 
were plans to tackle the parking issues around the town. Over the five 
years living here I am aware that the situation with parking has worsened. I 
have also been aware of individuals and groups trying to get something 
done, but do not know of any successful changes. I now believe that if 
there had been any proposals that were being considered, the recent 
change in Councils will be given as a reason to cause yet further delays on 
implementation.

Because of the increasing parking problems & the fact that no changes 
have been made, I can quite understand why residents have become 
frustrated and where possible are making structural changes to 
accommodate vehicles onto their own property.

By looking online, I have attempted to find out what work has been done by 
councils to review the parking issues butbeen unable to find anything, 
although I am sure something is being done. It is a great shame that this 
information is not easily accessible. 

From previously living in Sussex, I know that in Worthing, in an area close 

It is agreed that the legal wording of the letter was difficult to understand. 
Further correspondence will be more explanatory.

It is possible to sign up for news about the Dorchester town centre 
redevelopment at https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/business-consumers-
licences/economic-development/dorchester-town-centre-
redevelopment.aspx

The concerns about car parking have been forwarded to Dorset Council’s 
Parking Services. 

Information (locate controlled parking zones information, resident and 
business parking bays or parking restrictions) is available at 
https://www.dorsettraffweb.co.uk/

There is the Dorchester Transport & Environment Plan available at 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/highway-
improvements/dorchester-transport-and-environmental-plan/dorchester-
transport-and-environment-plan.aspx   One of its objectives is to “provide 
accessible car parking for shoppers, residents and other essential users”.

P
age 47

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/business-consumers-licences/economic-development/dorchester-town-centre-redevelopment.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/business-consumers-licences/economic-development/dorchester-town-centre-redevelopment.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/business-consumers-licences/economic-development/dorchester-town-centre-redevelopment.aspx
https://www.dorsettraffweb.co.uk/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/highway-improvements/dorchester-transport-and-environmental-plan/dorchester-transport-and-environment-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/highway-improvements/dorchester-transport-and-environmental-plan/dorchester-transport-and-environment-plan.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/roads-highways-maintenance/highway-improvements/dorchester-transport-and-environmental-plan/dorchester-transport-and-environment-plan.aspx


Dorset Council – Dorchester Article 4 Direction: comments received 6 March – 17 April 2019 Appendix 3

12

to the town & hospital & problems not unlike our own, they improved things 
dramatically by introducing parking permits for residents but also allowing 
specific periods for other vehicles. This catered for visitors & shoppers for 
reasonable short term parking but stopped the all day and longer parking 
by hospital staff. There must be other schemes nationally that would be 
suitable for Dorchester.

In conclusion for the purpose of your letter, I would say that if there was an 
efficient scheme that catered for the parking needs of residents whilst 
visitors and workers in the town were also considered & catered for in 
some way, I would fully support rigid enforcement of any planning 
requirements. However, with the situation we have at present and with no 
likelihood of any significant changes in the near future, I would support the 
relaxing of any planning requirements to allow residents to partly overcome 
a major problem in the town. 

I am more than willing to be contacted about my views (25).

P
age 48



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

1

Dorchester Article 4 Direction: Areas Surveyed in the Dorchester 
Conservation Area 

Nine areas in the Dorchester Conservation Area have unlisted boundaries and associated unlisted features 
requiring an Article 4 Direction in order to maintain public amenity and preserve the appearance and character of 
the Conservation Area. With reference to the Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal, the nine areas surveyed 
are located within historic Sub-Areas, as identified and described in the Conservation Area Appraisal. The 
Appraisal and its Townscape Map, which also maps the Sub-Areas, are available at 
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-
dorset/conservation-areas-west-dorset.aspx

A summary of the areas surveyed for the Article 4 Direction is provided below. 

1. Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal, Sub-Area 'h': Victorian & Edwardian areas

Six areas (1A-1F) surveyed are situated in Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area 'h': Victorian & Edwardian 
areas adjoining the historic core (p33, Item 5.8) of which the Appraisal states: “There are a number of areas of 
obvious character and environmental quality adjoining the historic settlements of central Dorchester and 
Fordington. They all date from the 1880s to the early decades of the 20th century. The only exception is the 
prehistoric Maumbury Rings off Weymouth Avenue. The majority of the late 19th century development 
followed the 1874 Fordington enclosure, which facilitated the creation of freehold building plots in areas like 
Prince of Wales Road, Cornwall Road and Queen's Avenue”.

Area 1A – Properties in Arbutus Close, Great Western Rd, Prince of Wales Rd, South Walks Rd (west end), 
Weymouth Ave (north end) & York Rd (see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of HMSO. © Crown 
copyright and database right (2019). 
Ordnance Survey Licence number 
100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Page 49

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/conservation-areas-west-dorset.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/planning-buildings-land/planning/planning-constraints/conservation-areas/west-dorset/conservation-areas-west-dorset.aspx


Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

2

Situated in the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1A is predominantly large terraced or semi-
detached properties; whereas in South Walks Rd, a late C20 Telephone Exchange and blocks of flats occupy 
former large walled gardens. Two properties in Arbutus Close adjoin the Prince of Wales Rd. There are 
significant boundary walls and gateways that benefit the Conservation Area and public amenity, examples as 
follows:

Fig 1 Great Western Rd Fig 2 Prince of Wales Rd

Fig 4 Weymouth Ave (northern end) Fig 3 South Walks Rd

Fig 5 York Rd (west junction)

Page 50



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

3

Area 1B – Properties in Albert Rd, Bridport Rd, Cornwall Rd, Damers Rd (NE corner), St Helen’s Rd 
& Victoria Rd (see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Reproduced by 
permission of 
Ordnance Survey on 
behalf of HMSO. © 
Crown copyright and 
database right 
(2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence 
number 100060963.
© Dorset Council 
2019.

Page 51



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

4

Within the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1B comprises large, semi-detached and terraced 
properties, terraces of smaller properties, one purpose-built office premises and the Dorford Baptist Church. 
Boundary walls and gateways are strong features, contributing to public amenity and the Conservation Area, 
examples as follows: 

Fig 6 Albert Rd Fig 7 Bridport Rd 

Fig 8 Cornwall Rd Fig 9 Damers Rd (NE corner)

Fig 10 St Helen’s Rd Fig 11 Victoria Rd 

Page 52



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

5

Area 1C – Properties in Herringston Rd, Lime Close, Maumbury Rd, Queen’s Avenue & Weymouth 
Ave (see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Situated in the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1C has a terrace of properties and a number 
of sizeable detached properties. Three detached properties in Herringston Rd became part of the Sub-Area in 
2003 when the Conservation Area boundary was extended. Four properties in Queens Avenue and one in 
Lime Close adjoin the Conservation Area and these properties have been included in Area 1C. Their 
boundaries correspond with the line of the Conservation Area and are beneficial, as are boundaries and 
associated features generally, examples as follows:

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of HMSO. © Crown 
copyright and database right (2019). Ordnance Survey Licence number 100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Page 53



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

6

Fig 12 Maumbury Rd Fig 13 Herringston Rd 

Fig 14 Queen’s Ave Fig 15 Weymouth Ave (Queen’s Ave junction) 

Page 54



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

7

Area 1D – Properties in Culliford Rd, Monmouth Rd & York Terrace in Barnes Way (see Appendix C 
for a list of properties)

Situated in the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1D comprises terraced housing with the 
exception of a circular detached property and the Bakers Arms, the corner pub.  

Fig 17 Monmouth Rd Fig 16 Culliford Rd Fig 18 York Terrace (Barnes 
Way) 

Reproduced by 
permission of 
Ordnance Survey on 
behalf of HMSO. © 
Crown copyright and 
database right 
(2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence 
number 100060963.
© Dorset Council 
2019.

Page 55



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

8

Area 1E – Properties in Bridport Rd and Mountain Ash Rd (see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Part of the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1E is a terrace of properties on the Bridport Rd 
with the Sydney Arms at the east end, plus a pair of semi-detached properties that form the SE corner of 
Mountain Ash Rd. The front garden boundaries – a terrace in St Thomas Rd has none - are a unifying feature 
that benefits public amenity and the Conservation Area, examples as follows:

Fig 19 Bridport Rd  

Fig 20 Mountain Ash Rd

Reproduced by 
permission of 
Ordnance Survey on 
behalf of HMSO. © 
Crown copyright and 
database right 
(2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence 
number 100060963.
© Dorset Council 
2019.

Page 56



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

9

Area 1F – Properties in Alexandra Rd, Edward Rd, Dagmar Rd, Damers Rd, Maud Rd and Olga Rd 
(see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Situated in the appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘h’, area 1F was given the name of Victoria Park after land was sold by 
the Duchy of Cornwall in 1896. The area is predominantly terraced properties plus the Victoria Hotel, the 
Georgie Porgie Pie & Burger Co (former Cornwall Hotel), two properties of flats and new, old commercial 
premises and St Mary the Virgin’s church hall. The former workshop/store in Damers Rd has permission for a 
block of flats. In Edward Rd, the Conservation Area includes the gateway of a property that mostly adjoins the 
Conservation Area. Boundary walls and gateways are generally a unifying feature, benefiting public amenity 
and the character of the Conservation Area, examples as follows:

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of 
HMSO. © Crown copyright and database right (2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence number 100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Page 57



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

10

Fig 21 Alexandra Rd Fig 22 Edward Rd Fig 23 Dagmar Rd

Fig 24 Damers  Rd Fig 25 Maud Rd Fig 26 Olga Rd

Page 58



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

11

2. Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal, Sub-Area 'g': Fordington & Sub-Area ‘d’: 
The Walks

One of the areas surveyed is almost wholly situated in the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘g’: 
Fordington (p 30, Item 5.7) of which the Appraisal states: “This eastern Sub-Area is of great archaeological, 
historical and architectural significance, containing known Roman sites and remnants of the defences; a partly 
medieval parish church, with a high quality tower; an early plan form; a valuable green space (green) and a 
large number of 18th/early 19th century listed buildings. There are also many pleasant unlisted Victorian 
terraces and three buildings of industrial archaeological interest”. 

A part of the area surveyed, that is, Salisbury Walk and Salisbury Field, are within the Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘d’: 
The Walks (p 24, Item 5.4) which says: “Salisbury Walk: consists of a path through an avenue of mature horse 
chestnuts and sycamores running along the western edge of Salisbury Field to Salisbury Street. Salisbury 
Field is open, informal grassland dotted with trees and paths… Victoria Buildings is a pleasant late 19th 
century terrace, which faces and defines the eastern edge of the Fields...”.

An even smaller part (Salisbury St and the south side of Durngate St) of the area surveyed is situated within 
the Appraisal’s, Sub-Area ‘f’: South East Quadrant (see Item 3 below) but is incorporated here because of its 
close proximity. 

Reproduced by 
permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of 
HMSO. © Crown 
copyright and database 
right (2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence number 
100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Page 59



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

12

Properties in All Saints Rd, Culliford Rd North, Duke’s Ave, Durngate St, Heathcote Close, High St 
(Fordington), Holloway Rd, Icen Way, King’s Rd, Pound Lane, Robins Garth, Salisbury Field, 
Salisbury St, Salisbury Walk, South Walks Rd, St George’s Rd, Victoria Buildings, Victoria Terrace 
(see Appendix C for a list of properties)

Situated predominantly in the Appraisal’s Sub-Areas ‘g’ & ‘d’ with a small part in Sub-Area ‘f’, the area 
surveyed includes Fordington’s Parish Church and Green and a large number of terraced properties of various 
sizes, many of which have garden boundaries defined by walls or railings. Again boundary walls are evident in 
the smaller number of semi-detached and detached properties. Some of the latter are C20, occupying former 
walled garden of earlier properties, as do the C20 blocks of flats. Four properties on the southern side of Icen 
Way adjoin the Conservation Area and because of their roadside boundary walls have been included. The 
boundary limits of Salisbury Walk and Salisbury Field are defined by domestic property boundaries with the 
exception of the Old Gas Works. Boundaries and associated features are a key characteristic, contributing to 
the Conservation Area and public amenity, examples as follows:

Fig 27 All Saints Rd pedestrian access 
(left) to Salisbury Walk 

Fig 28 Culliford Rd North Fig 29 Duke’s Ave 

Fig 30 Durngate St Fig 31 Heathcote Close from 
Icen Way 

Fig 32 High St 

Page 60



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

13

Fig 33 Holloway Rd Fig 34 Icen Way

Fig 35 King’s Rd Fig 36 Pound Lane 

Fig 37 Robins Garth (left) from Icen Way Fig 38 Salisbury Field 

Page 61



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

14

Fig 39 Salisbury St Fig 40 Salisbury Walk 

Fig 41 South Walks Rd Fig 42 St George’s Rd

Fig 43 Victoria Buildings 

Page 62



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

15

3. Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal, Sub-Area ‘f’: South East Quadrant & Sub-
Area ‘d’: The Walks

One of the areas surveyed is within the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Are ‘f’: South East Quadrant (p 28, 
Item 5.6). The appraisal states: “This Sub-Area… corresponds with the south-eastern portion of the Roman town, 
within the line of the defences…. Wollaston Road and Linden Avenue are later 19th century developments and the 
southern end of Icen Way and the South Walks frontage have a number of larger Victorian detached houses”.

The area surveyed also abuts South Walks that is in the Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘d’: The Walks (p 24, Item 5.4), 
which states: “…South Walks is a particularly attractive asset to the town. Its broad footway and superb avenue of 
mature horse chestnut trees, combined with earthwork remnants of the Roman defensive ditches and banks, 
underline the visual, amenity and historic value of the area. East of the Acland Road junction, the southern 
boundary is formed by a series of impressive Victorian stone and brick walls, related to the large villas of Linden 
Avenue”.

Reproduced by 
permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of 
HMSO. © Crown 
copyright and database 
right (2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence number 
100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Page 63



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

16

Properties in Acland Rd, All Saints Rd, Icen Way, Linden Ave, South Walks, Wollaston Rd (see 
Appendix C for a list of properties)

Situated within the Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘f’ and abutting Sub-Area ‘d’, the area surveyed comprises generally 
large terraced, semi-detached and detached C19 properties. C20 properties, including blocks of flats, were 
built in the grounds of earlier properties. There are significant boundary walls and gateways that benefit the 
Conservation Area and public amenity, examples as follows:

Fig 44 Acland Rd Fig 45 All Saints Rd (northern corner)

Fig 46 Icen Way Fig 47 Linden Ave

Fig 48 South Walks Fig 49 Wollaston Rd

Page 64



Dorset Council - Dorchester Article 4 Direction Appendix 4

17

4. Dorchester Conservation Area Appraisal, Sub-Area ‘b’: High Street

One small area surveyed on London Rd became part of the Conservation Area in 2003. Being at the end of High 
East St, the area surveyed fits into the Conservation Area Appraisal’s Sub-Area ‘b’: High St (p 18, Item 5.2), 
which states: “High Street is the main east-west route in the historic core, running from Top o' Town to Grey's 
Bridge”. 

London Rd (see Appendix C for a list of properties)

This area comprises a terrace of late C19 properties with a detached C20 property at one end and a former early 
C20 chapel/workshop at the other. The boundary walls and gateways are a unifying element that benefits public 
amenity and the Conservation Area, example as follows:

Reproduced by 
permission of Ordnance 
Survey on behalf of 
HMSO. © Crown 
copyright and database 
right (2019). Ordnance 
Survey Licence number 
100060963.
© Dorset Council 2019.

Fig 50 London Rd

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



) )

)

)

)))

)
)))

)

)

))

)

)))))

)))

)

)

)

)

))

#

)

))))

)

)

)

)

)

)

))))))

)))

)

)

)

)

) )))))))))

)
)))
)

)

))))
)

)

)

)))

)

)

)

)

))

))

)
))

))

)

)
)) )

)
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
)

)

))

)

)

)

)

))
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

))

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

))
)
)))

)

)) )

))

)

)

)
)

)

#

)
)

#

)

)

2

1

Sluices

HQ

Youth

Clubs

29
 to

 3
2

Bridge

Wareham

FB

1

A
C

K
E

R
M

A
N

R
O

A
D

1
0a

7

24

11

31

1
3

2

9

River Frome

The Mill Stream

9

LB

27

20

18

57.9m

New Buildings

4
2

15

10

Am
bulance

Station

T
he

 B
arn

5

2

3

1

5
5a

LITTLE BRITAIN 6

Sports Court

Recreation Ground

K
IN

G
S

 R
O

A
D

CR

Shelter

2
8

Play Area

Grey's Bridge

61.6m

El Sub Stas

39

R
O

A
D

4
1

Epic

1
4

40

4
7

House

B 3144

MS (defaced)

B
3
1
4
3

8
a

34
a

3
4

3
6

Kingston Court

1 to 16

3
2

2
5

2
6

A
L
IN

G
T
O

N

Centre

Community

Youth and

1

10

5

9

8 13

E
vi

e
 P

la
ce

14

Prince's Bridge

B
3
1
4
3

32

1

11

13

1
3

57.3m

4

1

55.5m

1

El Sub Sta

1
6

B3150

B
3
1
4
3

Pumping

Station

Posts

38

53.3m

1
 to

 9

18
 to 2 3

24 to 31
1 to 6

1
0 to  1

7

5

9

7

K
e

a
ts H

o
u
se

Tunnel

23

13

LB

1 to 3

LB

P
la

ce

S
t J

a
m

e
s

3
5

33

M
A

U
D

 R
O

A
D

T
C

B

PH

59
a

5
9
b

61

1 to 5 7
6

26

24a

34

3
7

24

1
8
c

2a 2b

1

4

Victoria Flats

1 to 4

27

76.8m

9 to 12

2  
to

 8

Court

Albany

2
0

1

2

1

R
e
d
la

n
d
s 

C
t

P O
12

22

1
 to

 4

43

1
5

65

1
1

53

1 6

1

C
h

u
rc

h

1
8

2

75.3m

Damers

14

18

15

1
1

10

5

1

6

Court

Helipad

15

1 to 12

7

16

43

33

26

1

38

11

1

26

Pre School

24

1

16

The Grove

2
a

1
a

2

4

77

79

to

L
la

m
e
d
o

s

18

13

23

26

20

Victoria Court

T
h

e
 G

l e
n

D
u
n

ro
v i

n

26

24

1
8
a 18

68

56

23 21

21

a

11

8
2

2

7

25

1

Works

21

12

8

32

79

27

21

2
5

1
2

11

1

18

1

4
5

Gallows Hill

7

1
963.4m

17

15

13

Posts

H
u
nt

e
rs

 L
o

2

65.2m

1 to 6

1

Culliford

20

Linden Gardens

62.5m

1

1a

1

R
O

M
A

N
 W

A
L
L

Beacon

41

9

20 to 36

2
 to

 1
9

5

38 to 65

1

1
8

17

1
1
 1

2

1
3

1
4

1
5

 1
6

3

Fordington

72

5

F
ive

w
a
ys

Cross

53.6m

TCB

1

94

5
8

6
0

99

6

Surgery

53.0m

50

89

H
ill

si
de

 T
er

ra
ce

10

PH

17

1
8

a

FORDINGTON

17

12

1

20

8
4

21b

GARDENS

Garage

88

60.0m

75

5

1

24

21 to

23

2

1

6

3

T
H

E
 B

O
W

65.8m

5 N
O

R
T

H
 S

Q
U

A
R

E

Church

47
44

Centre

Sports

Sandringham

86

Works

Bowling

Green

5

3
1

2

8

3
7

ATHELSTAN ROAD

4

1

65

1
2

1
1

5

55

W
A

Y

1
6

8

SL

Path

St Mary's Catholic

Ward Bdy

188
176

82 84

64.3m

14

1

8

16

13

2 17

LANCASTER

S
Y

D
E

N
H

A
M

8 to 14

23

2
0

2 1

2
2

1
9

15

GARDENS
MAEN

37

C
R

138

152

71.9m

140

164

PH

2

Maen

56

1 to 7

B 3144

The Rectory

W
A
LE

S
 R

O
A
D

70.7m

PR
IN

C
E O

F

13

6

16 15

C
o
u
rt

3
1

7 to 12

23

3
2

24

B
a
y
e
u
x

14

1 to 20
1 to 26

Bridge

HouseHouse

Signal

El Sub Sta

135

141

139

137

143

145

Nursery

Community

LB

School

38

46

to

40

44

36

SB

BITTER END

Cottages
South Western

74

64

19

7
9

MP 0.75

9
0

8
0

7
6

77

8
9

8
7

8
6

24

32

26

30

to18

to

20

24

7
4

59

5
9

a

5
4

7
2

5
2

50

65

ALFRED ROAD

57

57
a

32 38
36

53

El

Sub

SL

SL

41

2
9

Sta

3
0

3339
35

6
0

6
2

7
0

6
8

6
4

2
6

C
H

U
R
C

H
 A

C
R

E

15

2

7

1

72

8

14
63

82

69

12

1
0

8

6

5

13

15

K
IN

G
S

 R
O

A
D

House

Fordington

Fordington Dairy

11

1

11

211

ALFRED PLACE

24

21a

16

HEATHCOTE CLOSE
22

29

56
.4

m

2
3

25

23

24

9
0

31

11 & 12

Green

Fordington

LB

10

Posts

Posts

6
1

2
4

4

1
8

El

23

Sta
Sub

EARL CLOSE

20

1

38

1 
to

 1
0

31

32

31

29

23 to

35

30

6

A
V

E
N

U
E

D
U

K
E

'S

40

3
5

3
0

63.7m

3
3

3
1a

6

C
ra

n
bo

rn
e

R
O
A
D

Icen House

36

Icen Mead

12

1511

14

14

28

24

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

25 26

9
47

ROBINS

18

CR

Posts

16

Meml

19

GARTH

1

8

MontserratSunninghill Preparatory School

Millstones

Chesters

Tall Trees

36

Owls Roost

Culliford Court

1

1

5

2ROAD

YORK

C
U

L
L

IF
O

R
D

 R
O

A
D

 N
O

R
T

H

Ward Bdy

ALL S
AIN

TS' R
OAD

7

5

3

The Old Rectory

(o
n

 co
u
rs

e
 o

f)

ICEN
 W

AY

14

2

Linden

Court

House

18

4
5

1

4

LB

42

37

to

1c

SOUTH WALKS ROAD

ROMAN WALL

3
7

LINDEN AVENUE

Car Park

8

7

13

Acland Court

4

WOLLASTON ROAD

Acland
Court

Sub Sta

El

1

A
R

B
U

T
U

S
 C

L

6

13 to 18

Parish Centre
Holy TrinityYork House

9

El

E
x
ch

a
n
g

e

1

to

7

19 to 24

6

Sub Sta

12

T
e

le
p

h
o
n
e

to

Car Park

Nappers

Court

A
C

L
A

N
D

 R
O

A
D Shelter

DORCHESTER

E
l 
S

u
b
 S

t a

South Walks House

Car Park7

Agra Place

47

1 45
4

1

Arcade

14

1

8

5

3

2

1 to 64

House
Southfield

El

Sub Sta

River Frome

DVRNOVARIA

Salisbury Field

Play

Area

S
a
lis

b
u
ry

 W
a
lk

64.9m

23

ROMAN TOWN

Place

1

El Sub Sta

16

20

12

7

27

FB

Foundry

2

7 to 12

13 to 18

1

Villas

S
a
lisb

u
ry

24

5

19

to

6

1 to 8 10 to 16 22 to 23

1 to 9

Foundry Court

1 to 5

Malthouse Cottages

Exhibition Court

4

6

7

9

15

Posts

58.4m

Depot

S
a
lisb

ury T
e
rrace

1

M
e
w

s

Salisbury

2

7

1

Hall11

S
A

L
IS

B
U

R
Y

 S
T
R

E
E
T

1

Allington Terrace

1 to 6

LB

The Malthouse

CR

Museum

11a

11

6

10

at Home

Old House

9

C
H

A
N

N
O

N
S

 C
O

U
R

T
5

9

W
h

it e
 H

a
r t M

e
w

s

51 52

5
0

a5
0

8
6

1

7

2

51b

Posts

1
7

1
2

Day Centre

4
6

B
rid

g
e 

C
ou

rt

3

G
re

e
n
in

g
s
 C

o
u

r t

4

1 
to

 4

1  t o 3

Ic
e
n

M
e

w
s

5

7

Millennium Court

4

3
3
a

5
8

2

5
7

1 to 5

5

The Coach

ESS

Court

DURNGATE STREET

5
1

51
c

50

5
1

d

1
 to

 1
4

5
2

1

6a

to19

M
a
rin

e
rs

22

1
 to

 5

6

10

13

10 to 12

43

1
a

41

38

P
a
ra

d
e

4
 to

 9

Court
Baileys

3

11

ESS

6 to

18

15

10

CourtParsons

C
h
u
rch

 C
lo

se

16
a

2 8

16

34

M
e

w
s

T
h

e

PH

C
H

U
R

C
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

33

35

1

Ward Bdy

63.7m

F
R

IA
R

Y
 L

A
N

E

19

Hotel
(closed)

King's

Arms

Exchange

Corn

4

8

1
0

2

1
 2

3

6

5

1
2

1 
to 

42
Court

Swanbrid
ge

1

55.5m

El S
ub S

ta

Depot

1
1

4
7

Depot

4
9

1
1
a

6

7
a

Swan Bridge

6a
7

H
o
t e

l

1 to 12

C
S

1

10

6
a

Car Park

8

6

45

12

40

11

10

39

PH

1

HIGH EAST STREET

2

18

1
8

6 
to

 9

to1
5

7

House

Museum

7

1 to 3

Agriculture

Palace

House

to

5

1

5
3

2
a

2
6

1

4

5
5

2
7

6

1

5

6
 t
o
 1

7

31

Church

22

20

All Saints'

61.0m

32

PH

16

8

W
a
re

h
o
u

se

LB

3 5

4

7a

A
rca

d
e

8

PCs

7

8a

Tudor

Church

9

8

1
7
 &

 1
8

1
2

Victory Ct

28

1

29

3 to 7

2

2
9a

8
 t

o
 1

0

13

3

63.4m

10

2

1

9a
11

1
b

25 to 27

9

29  to 31 T
h
e

 O
ld

22

23 24

1
a

11
5

5

1
0

Bank

Mon

25

65.8m

1
3

2
a

2

3

28

17 to 20

S
A

N
D

R
IN

G
H

A
M

 C
O

U
R

T

7

CLOSE

1
2

K
e

n
s
in

g
to

n
 W

a
lk

1
6

1
4

C
A
R
R
IC

K

1
0a

1
6 a

1
6 b

1
0

14

CLOSE

El

Play Area

Sta

1

7

Sub

2
3

9

2
4

8

4

1
0

1

to

to

21

68.9m

13 to 16

24

25

5
 to

 8

7

2

1 
to

 4

1

4

10

CAERNARVON

14

9
 to

 1
2

9

25

1
1

24
23

26

14

16

15

12

6

4

8
5

1

1

49

Walk

4
5

Conway

5
9

43

2
2

33

1
7

7

102
3

11

16

15

BALM
ORAL

1

9CRESCENT

1
2

2
0

20

18

19

17

A
R
M

A
D
A
 W

A
Y

2

1
7

2
1

1
5

4

1
1

Fordington Farm

2
1

2
2

1

6
3

2

DUCHY CLOSE

6 7

Sub
El

Sta

29

29

31

12

6

A
L
IC

E
 R

O
A

D

12

10

to

6

1 to 4

S
c h

o
o
l 
C

lo
s e

5

2

C
o

rn
h
il l

2

1
6

St Peter's

Bank

S
o

u
t h

 S
t r

e
e
t

Bank

TCB

5
2

5
2
a

Bank

S
O

U
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

21a

3
7

6
3
.1

m

S
o
u

th
 T

e
rr

a
ce

24a

NEW STREET

4
1
c

7
5

1
0

30

30a

ESS

2 & 3

H
P

O

T
R

IN
IT

Y
 S

T
R

E
E

T

Court

4
5
a

1 4 4

2
7

County

LB

Museum

65

5

Dorset

64

6

TCB

4

11

16a

Walk

Moule

House

Antelope

ESS

16

3

7

14

35

2

7

1

STREET

4234 36

5

1

Cottages

Trinity

Court

Bennetts

3

Trinity63

10

Holy

Church

T
r in it y

C
h

am
bersE

l S
ub

 S
ta

6

House

G
e

o
r g

ia
n
 H

o

11 12

2

13

Ps
LB

TCBs

Shelter

PCs

Surgery

Centre
Forum

The

5

4

2
0

13

G
re

y S
ch

o
o
l

P
a
s
sa

g
e

Hall

1

23
22 32

P
a

rk
in

s

COLLITON

Royal Mews

Posts

8

38

14

17

16

2

12

4
1

 4
2

31

33

9

Club

Club
Trinity

1
1

PH

Stratton House

HIGH WEST STREET

58 to 60

Shire Hall

15

18

MS

62

Mews

16

Colliton

3 42

17

1

1

H
o
u
s
e
 (1

 to
 2

5
)

1 to 7

29

3

12

B
e
n
ja

m
in

 F
e
rre

y

E
a

st
P

rin
c e

s  M
e
w

s

1
3 to

 18

Chesil Place

Electricity

Distribution Site

1
9 to

 26

1 to 42

Car Park

8

ALEXANDRA

TERRACE

14
 to

 3
4

6 & 7

8

16

1 to 4

2

5

9

Copper Crescent

1
1

H
O

P
 H

IL
L

6

LB

19

17a

24

South Lodge

4
1

Hardye

4
0a

War Memorial

21

4
0

3
1

Dorchester South

Station

4
4

Shelter

6
6

3
8

4
0

4
2

4
6

4
8

FB

64.9m

5
0

Crown Post

47

50a

5

FAIRFIELD ROAD

Fair Field

(Car Park)

6

W
E
Y
M

O
U

T
H

 A
V

E
N

U
E

R
O

M
A

N
 R

O
A

D

Station

5

3

Court

Pulman

Police

B
3
1
4
7

UPPER

Car Park

FAIRFIELD ROAD

71.9m

12

74.7m

1

M
A

U
M

B
U

R
Y

 R
O

A
D

PCs

PCs

1
0

5

Market

Gas Gov

13 to

14

W
e
s
t W

a
lk s

H
o
u
s
e

H
o
u
s
e

W
o
rd

s
w

o
rth

1
0

2

5

11

14
a

B
la

ke
 H

o
u
se

6

8

16

ELDRIDGE STREET

Rising Bollards

1
0

The Cooperage

K
e
g
 S

to
re

6

P
O

P
E
 S

T
R

E
E
T

4
1
a

2
2 2

3

2
0

8

6

1
5
1

15

Trinity House

Bk

70.1m

4

12

4

53

13

18

14 to 43

5

COPPER STREET

6

1 to 18

3

1 to 12

Signature House
Ammonite

Screen House

Hotel

6 to
 12

Rising Bollard

Brewery

Square

4
4

Cinema

1 to 11

13

15

PRINCE'S STREET

29a

Princes

8 to17

18

3

2

LB

PH

2
5

Fairfield

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

M
A
U

M
B
U

R
Y

2
 to

 5

YARD

TCB

Car Park

Ps

W
ar

d 
B

dy

2
3

DRAY HORSE

1

1
 to

 6

1
 to

 5

S
lo

p
in

g
 m

a
so

n
ry

1
 to

 4

Skateboard

Park

B
ro

w
n
in

g

ESS

Estate

Great Western

Industrial

W
A

Y

1
 t o 6

7
 t o

 1
2

P
O

E
T

S

B
yro

n
 H

o
u
s
e

S
h
e
lle

y

H
o
u
se

1

2

3
5

21

3
3

17a

19

17b

4
1

3
9

3
6

a
36

3
7

3
1

Fountain

4

A
L
IN

G
T

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

22 25

20

23a

25
24

PH

53

57

23

S
O

M
E

R
L

E
IG

H
 R

O
A

D

Somerleigh

9

2

8

12

Gate

Colliton

1 to 11

Glyde Path

House

74.1m

House

Court

1 to 12

Hascombe

Manor

Edgcumbe

4
8

42

36

1

4
4

Court
Somerleigh

6

Hall

18

Garlands

5

7

1

74.4m

Court

2

18b

4

5

R
e

cto
ry (C

l ub )
T h

e  O
l d

P
rin

c
e
s
 M

e
w

s
 W

e
s
t 7

6

1 HouseLimetree

El Sub Sta

27

H
o
te

l

B 3150

28

3

H
o
te

lLB 31

49

74.7m

War Meml

2

El

Sub Stas

ESS

ESS

Homechester

House

Colliton Park

W
E

S
T

 W
A

L
K

S
 R

O
A

D

Court

1
 t o

 2
0

Weld

H
o
u

s e
W

e
s t W

a
l ks

o
n

 c
o

u
rs

e
 o

f

R
O

M
A

N
 W

A
L

L

9

Fn

Bandstand

5

5 a

9

1

1275.6m

TCBs

76.2m

Shelter

36

34a

40
39

(site of)

WEST GATE
Post

C
o

l lit
o
n

 W
a

l k

45

1

4

Napper's

3

8
7

1
5

House

6

PCs

Pond

A
LB

E
R
T
 R

O
A
D

Club

B
3
1
4
7

CentreBaptist Church

4
2

Ps

3
5

R
O

M
A

N
 W

A
L

L

(r e
m

s
 o

f)

1
8

Gardens

Borough

C
O

R
N

W
A

L
L
 R

O
A

D

2
0

2
3

Meml Play Area

WESTOVER ROAD

15

Tower
ClockV

IC
T
O

R
IA

 R
O

A
D

1
4

LB

6

C
hestnut C

ottage

Gables

The

1 to 6

4
0

4 4 8

W
est C

ottage

1
8

Top o' Town

House

Posts

3
4 33

24

to
21

to

35

3 to 4

Hall
United Church

Chy

El Sub Sta

1

Health

Centre

7

R
ow

an
 C

ot
ta

ge
 (
C

lu
b)

Rowan

House

31

64.0m

27
d

3
0

2
8

SOUTH GATE

33a

B
 3

1
4
4

3
3

(site of)

3
6

2
5

2
7a

1

1
0

9

11

34

PH

1
4

Hotel

Junction

1
2

1 3

2

Shelter

W
ar

d 
B
dy

1
3

19

1
5

21

17

38

31c

ROMAN WALL

31a
37

4
0

on course of

41

39

35

6

GREAT WESTERN ROAD

1

B3144

B
ru

n
e

l

Bowling Alley Walk

11

C
o

u
rt

7

31

to

1

21

18 to 21

Post

70.4m

68.6m

13

22

Western

22 & 23

14 to 17
9 to 12

24 & 25

Court

26

69.8m

15

Pavilion

Tennis

Court

Great

Whetstones

9 to 20

5 to 8

1 to 4

6
8.6

m

Tennis Centre

Tennis

Court Tennis Courts

8

1 t
o 8

GREAT WESTERN CROSS

1

ESS

71.3m

B3144

Yard

2

1

19

Builders

B
3
1

4
7

1

5 to 20

3

2

1 Isa
m

b
a
rd

C
o
u rt

4

8

2

1
4

4

Dorchester

West (Station)

7
 t o

 1
0

1

1
2

House

Longfellow

SL

M
P

 0
.7

5

68.6m

FB

Balancing

Pond

5

4

A
L

E
X

A
N

D
R

A
 R

O
A

D

1

2

1
5

6

18

8a

H
al

l
20

The

5
3

15

Rectory

8

65

17

5

St Mary's

Balancing

Pond

Centre
Childrens

Drag

23

13

24

14

2

14

17

D
a

m
e

rs
H

o
u
s
e

El Sub Sta

7

23
a

21

23
c

CR

27

27

Area
Play

45 to 47

10

29
31

25

29

41

24

33

34

48

49

DAGMAR ROAD

45

W
E

S
T

 M
IL

L
S

 R
O

A
D

to

2

3
8

1
1

7
 to

 1
0

1
8

1
9

 2
0

4
5 to1
5

1
4

T
H

E
 G

R
O

V
E

AR Centre

2

Army Cadet HQ

76.2m

Married Soldiers Quarters

1

41

1 to 2
2

H
e
n

c h
a
r d

Mon

42

78.9m

ESS

PCs

Shelter

Posts

Car Park

3
 to

 6

Posts

3
1

6

20

34

Stones

2
1

3
3

2
5

5

S
T

 H
E

L
E

N
'S

 R
O

A
D

1

1
1

28

4

1

2

2
1

Office

Museum

LB

Sorting

Keep

1

The

ESS

48

22

1
2

A
V
E
N

U
E

W
IL

L
IA

M
S

Vespasian House

34

43

to

to

32

29

46

Court

Church

Christ

C
o
u

r t

38

Posts

Cott

Cott

Emerald

Topaz

2
4

6

7 8

1

2
2

9

11

2

ST DAVIDS

5

CL

9

10

28

26

6

26

Play Area

Sports Court

8

20

1

Path (um)

3

Twelveman's Way

6

9

12

7

5

Tumulus

1
4

1
5

8

1
5

1
3

16
14

1
1

12

6

9

NONESUCH CLOSE

2

1

3

11

1
7

18

5

1

4

3

M
I X

E
N

 L
A

N
E

GARLAND CRESCENT

21

1
7

192 0

1

2
12

1
3

1
6

4

20

1
4

1
5

DIG
GORY CRESCENT

1

2

C
U

T
S

O
M

E
 C

L
O

S
E

12

6

10

10

8

7

32

3
0

29

G
A
R
LA

N
D
 C

R
ESC

EN
T

30

3

28

4

2

13

LO
R
N
TO

N
 W

A
LK

7

26

EVERDENE ROAD

1

D
IG

G
O
R
Y
 C

R
E
S
C
E
N
T

7

1

5

3

G
A

B
R

IE
L
 G

R
E
E
N

2

1

4

3

6

2

LB

C
U

L
L
IF

O
R

D
 R

O
A

D

7

1

15

32

26

2
1

1

7

73.5m

2

14

25

2

35

1
2

6

15

11

124

13674.4m129

1

26

11

20

100

112

75.6m

1
0

7

1
1

9

19

1
1
a

72.8m

9

El S
ub S

ta

38

5

45

10

40

55

64

Play Area

83

56

95

71

68

62

76

1

3

88

8

2

57

69

23

59

2
4

74

1
3

MONMOUTH ROAD

1

2

1
2

SOUTH COURT

54

AVENUE

69

2

1
1

1

15

30

C
R

O
M

W
E

L
L
 R

O
A

D

1
6

3
1

2
9

3
3

45

47

35

81

38

62

5
0

1 33

71.0m

70

4

3

1

1

68

Mast

1
7

21

17

14

15

26

19

31

5

7

76

6

1

Sch

1a

77.1m

FB

2

9
3

1

26

Tilia House

LB R
O

A
D

M
A

U
M

B
U

R
Y

78.3m

8

19

1
8

18a

B
 3

1
4
7

2

5

29

7

28

8

Kingscote

26

25 24

3
1

1 to 5

36

EDWARD ROAD

El Sub Sta

PH

2
7

4
1

Sand

3

1

OLGA ROAD57

Church

3

4

LIME CLOSE

Melcombe
House

1

2

2

1

1
a

9

31

29

81.4m

23

32

24

35

6
1
0

3

3

C
L
A

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
A

D

1
7

13

Sta
Sub
El

W
E
Y

M
O

U
T
H

 A
V

E
N

U
E

Chapel

2

Lodge

3
1

1
0

Chapel
Posts

3

1

9

26

12

22

13

17

18

19

Posts
28

1
2

2

1

2

1
0
a

3

9a
9

7

Greenwood

30

LB

4

56

1
0

2

Posts

Depot

1

Posts

19 to 24

DURNOVER COURT

12

to

13 to 18

6

1 to 9

to

1

FB

The Old Mill

2

7

1

FB

44

4
4

a

10

8

1312

7
6

9

11

42

53.6m

47
b

49

34 & 35

30
28

3

a

32

1 to 6

3a

33

32

25 to 30

H
A

R
D
Y

 A
V

E
N

U
E

7

15

17 to 27

31 to 36

Posts

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

1

38

37

3

L
O

N
D

O
N

 C
L
O

S
E

5

38a

MILL STREET

46a
HOLLOWAY ROAD

House Court

LB

46

20

Stone

Ps

V
ica

rage

Church

1

10

18

17

St George's

Hall
9

13

38b

12

1
5
a

R
IV

E
R

1
5

1
8

9 to 12

The Kensingtons

4

CourtEdwards

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

1
7

1

27

25

FB

Stone

17

1 & 2

19

Rectory

Court

7

1
1
 t
o
 1

6

House

14

35a

53.1m

35

34

33c

P
O

U
N

D
 L

A
N

E

4

3

4H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E
T
 F

O
R

D
IN

G
T
O

N

M
ou

le T
err

7
0

6

65.8m

6
6

6
4

2 PW

7

59

1
 to

 4

9 to 14

23

4

1

56

El S
ub S

ta

46

20

55

1

1

V
ic

a r
ag

e
 L

a
n
e

1 to
 8

49

18

39

47

Terrace

Harveys

37

S
c
h
 C

t

G
e
o
rg

e
sS

t

68

12

to

5

7

V
ic

to
ri
a 

T
er

ra
ce

Fordington Hill

House

1
1

 t o
 4

2

31

Garage

Garage

29

33a

LONDON ROAD

33b

15

House

Colson

38

34

1
1

V
ictoria B

uildings

Ps

33 to 35

17

Mill Bank

28

8

13

29

31

2

3
1

6

6

5

First School

2

38

DIGGORY CRESCENT

16

10

1

4
6

FA
R
FR

A
E

1

CRESCENT

14

LUCETTA LANE

El Sub Sta

19
23

2

Stone

1
0

17

18

1
2

11

13

15

9

8

2

B
A
R
N
E
S
 W

A
Y

4

1

Te
rr

ac
e

B
at

hs
he

ba

15
119

11

9

7

1 3

7

2

20

1
3

1

4
4

12

MOYNTON RD

5
9

14

4

42

3

1

3

4

7

2

9

6

3

10

12

5

6

ROAD

3

YorkTerrace

C
R

9

12

1

7

1 0

7

6

8

12

STANDFAST WALK

5

1

MARSHWOOD

1

Buc
kb

ur
y

7

D
e
f

1
4

Mews

72.5m

5

W
a
rd

 B
d
y

2

6

4

2
1

2

1

IVEL CLOSE

4

K
n
ap

w
a
te

r 
W

a
lk

9

9

P
a
th

38

36

30

7
b

7
a

B
A

R
N

E
S

 W
A

Y
9

8

11

21a

18

13

21

TCB

Path
 (u

m
)

Library

61.6m

C
H

A
R

L
E

S
 S

T
R

E
E

T

51

20

A
v
e

n
u
e

 H
o

u
s
e

T
he O

ld
 R

ector y

5

3

5a

Beech

7

Court

62.5m

South Walks

4

26

1 2

20

2
5

1

SQUARE

MAUMBURY

Maumbury

23

Zullacre

15

24

Newbrook

10

16

35

39
41a

38

Rossmore

14

Surgery

41

1
2

M
P

 1
6
2
.0

M
P
 1

36
.0

A
S

H
L
E

Y
 R

O
A

D

Rings

2
1

624

2
5

76.5m

Ind
Est

W
ar

d 
B

dy

3
2
a

16

4

3

3
a

10

Coburg

43

1 to 5

1
1a

COBURG ROAD

51

Digby Court

Court

22

19

QUEENS AVENUE

15

59

4

2

53

78.9m

40

17

80.5m

1

Record

SL

Community

The

House

Office

County

Barracks

Little Keep

1 to
 26

ESS

G
ate

27
 to

 5
5

4

Li
ttl

e 
Kee

p

Hollands House

Shelter

Balancing

Pond

MP 0.5

Dorset County

Hospital

85.3m

1

8

2 8

2 1

PH

SP

B
rid

g
e
 C

o
tt

8
1.7

m

S
T
 T

H
O

M
A

S
 R

O
A

D

9

33

14

2

53

BRIDPORT ROAD

16

2
0

1
7CLOSE

MOUNTAIN ASH ROAD

7

27

HAWTHORN

Sub

Sta

El

14

22

9
8

T
a
n
ks

T
a
n
ks

W
a
rd

 B
d

y

Flats

1
 t o

 2
4

ESS

El Sub Sta

Shelters

93.3m

Hawthorne

6

1

ROMAN ROAD

1

ROAD

PROSPECT ROAD
31

21

21

20

2

H
A

W
T
H

O
R

N
E
 R

O
A

D
2
1
a

Great Western Rd 

Prince of Wales Rd

South Walks Rd 

W
ey

m
o
u
th

 A
ve

York Rd 

South Walks

Linden Ave

Wollaston Rd

Bridport Rd 

A
lb

er
t R

d 

Albert R
d 

C
o

rn
w

a
ll R

d
 

C
o

rn
w

a
ll R

d

S
t H

e
le

n
's

 R
d

 

V
ic

to
ria

 R
d

 

Damers Rd

Monmouth Rd 

Bar
nes

 W
ay

C
u

llifo
rd

 R
d

K
in

g
s 

R
d
 

High St

H
igh S

t 

St George's Rd Heathcote Close 

High St

Salisbury Field

P
o
u
n
d
 L

an
e

V
icto

ria B
u
ild

in
g
s

V
ic

to
ri

a
 T

e
rr

a
ce

 

Holloway Rd

D
u
k
e
's

 A
ve

Icen W
ay

South
 W

alks R
d

S
a
lis

b
u

ry
 W

a
lk

C
u

ll
if

o
rd

 R
d

 N
o

rt
h Robins Garth

Icen W
ay

Icen
 W

ay

Durngate St

S
a
lis

b
u

ry
 S

t 

All S
aints R

d

High East St

London Rd 

M
aum

bury R
d 

H
e

rr
in

g
s
to

n
 R

d

Queen's Ave

L
im

e
 C

lo
s
e

W
e
y
m

o
u

th
 A

v
e

M
a
u

d
 R

d
 

Damers Rd

Dagmar Rd

A
le

x
a

n
d

ra
 R

d

Olga Rd

Edward Rd

0

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of HMSO.
© Crown copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey Licence number 0100060963.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any
form.

Projection:

Date:

Author:

Scale:

British National Grid

29/10/2019

S Saltman

1:4,500

45.0 90.0

m

Dorchester Article 4 Direction
Indicative plan

#

Appendix 5

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                    

1.0 APPLICATION NUMBER: 2/2018/0458/OUT 
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-
applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage

SITE ADDRESS: Shillingstone Poultry Farm , Shillingstone Lane, Okeford 
Fitzpaine, DT11 0RB

PROPOSAL: Demolish existing buildings and develop land by the erection of up 
to 45 No. dwellings with associated infrastructure, including the widening of 
Shillingstone Lane and provision of school drop off car park. (Outline application 
to determine access).

APPLICANT: Lone Star Land Ltd

CASE OFFICER: Clare McCarthy

WARD MEMBER: Councillor Pauline Batstone

UPDATE: This proposal came before the Planning Committee of North Dorset 
District Council on 26 March 2019. It was deferred at that time to allow Officers 
time to consider amend plans put forward by the applicant shortly before the 
Committee meeting. Those amendments sought to address concerns raised by 
the Conservation Officer with regard to the setting of the Downs Cottage which is 
a grade II listed building, and the Okeford Fitzpaine Conservation Area (OFCA). 
In particular, these would allow retention of a grassy bank and hedgerow 
adjacent to Shillingstone Lane.

2.0 Summary of Recommendation: 

Delegate authority to the Head of Planning to grant subject to a Section 106 
agreement and conditions set out in this report.

3.0 Reason for the recommendation: 

 The proposal could provide significant public benefit thought the 
delivery of housing to help meet the 5 year housing supply on a 
disused poultry farm in close proximity to the village centre. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5b

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 Development for housing would assist in meeting local needs to 
satisfy the economic, environmental and social objectives 
supported by the NPPF core principles. 
 

 The proposal would result in a less than substantial harm to the 
setting of Downs Cottage listed building and the (OFCA).

 
 Okeford Fitzpaine (OF) is considered to be a sustainable location.

 There is not considered to be any significant harm to neighbouring 
residential amenity

 The economic, social and environmental benefits of the proposal as 
amended now outweigh the less than substantial harm caused to 
the heritage assets.

4.0 Key planning issues 

Issue Conclusion
Principle of development The principle is finely balanced. In 

accordance with Paragraph 11d of the 
NPPF The planning judgement needs 
to be in favour of boosting housing land 
supply, unless any adverse impact of 
doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies in 
the NPPF taken as a whole. As 
adverse impacts to heritage formerly 
identified have been mitigated, the 
recommendation is to continue to 
support boosting housing land supply.

Impact on heritage The proposal would cause less than 
substantial harm the setting of Downs 
Cottage or the Conservation Area due 
to the amended location of the access 
to the site further east on Shillingstone 
Lane retaining the character of the rural 
hedge-lined lane.

Access and highway impacts Access would be acceptable and is 
considered in detail as part of this 
outline application. The revised access 
position further to the east provides 
adequate visibility for cars for two way 
passing of traffic on Shillingstone Lane. 

Page 70



A 2m footpath forms part of the access 
road leading towards footpath N48/7 to 
the east. Pedestrian links from the site 
to other public footpaths leading to the 
village centre and improvements to the 
footpaths are incorporated into the 
S106 infrastructure contributions. 

Sustainability of site location The site is sustainable in that the 
Parish of Okeford Fitzpaine has been 
identified as a larger village capable of 
meeting local needs housing within its 
settlement boundary because it has a 
good number of local facilities including 
school, shop, pub, church, village hall 
and playing fields with changing room 
and meeting room. The housing need 
for Okeford Fitzpaine is calculated to 
be 56 dwellings. In the past year 54 
dwellings have been approved in 
outline planning permissions. This 
development would exceed the 
identified local need within the village 
by 43 dwellings. In the countryside the 
level of housing is set as an ‘at least’ 
number.  Therefore it is a matter of 
planning judgement as to when the 
local housing need has been met in 
Okeford Fitzpaine. In this instance, 
given the facilities in the village and the 
proximity of the site to the village 
centre it is considered that the village is 
a sustainable settlement which could 
accommodate a larger number of 
houses that identified as a need. 

Impact on ecology Wildlife would be protected and 
enhanced through a planning condition 
requiring bats, birds, hedgehogs, 
dormice and reptiles to be translocated. 
New hedgerows and grassland areas 
would be planted with species rich 
varieties to support the wildlife and a 
green space retained for reptile refugia. 
Bat and bird boxes would be installed 
on dwellings. 

Impact on neighbour amenity Given the relatively enclosed and self- 
contained nature of the site the housing 

Page 71



development would be unlikely to 
generate harmful levels of noise and 
disturbance that would significantly 
affect the quiet enjoyment of 
neighbouring residential properties. 
During construction a construction 
management plan condition could be 
imposed to ensure that any disturbance 
would be kept to a minimum.

Affordable housing The development proposes 40% of the 
units on the site towards affordable 
housing. This would provide 18 
affordable homes on this site, if the 
maximum number of 45 dwellings are 
built.

Planning contributions Grey, Green and Community 
infrastructure amounting to £15,458.29 
per dwelling would provide significant 
public benefits to primary and 
secondary education and pre-school. 
Also play facilities, outdoor sports, 
outdoor space, allotments, leisure and 
indoor sports with maintenance and 
rights of way enhancements.

Planning Balance In this instance, the less than 
substantial harm to significance of the 
Okeford Fitzpaine Conservation Area 
and listed building would be sufficiently 
mitigated through retention of the 
hedge lined rural lane to be outweighed 
by the public benefits. The proposals 
would therefore accord with the 
provisions of LP1 policy 5 and 
Paragraph 196 of the NPPF. Overall, 
the additional supply of housing and 
the provision of public benefits to 
Okeford Fitzpaine outweigh the harm to 
heritage assets, such that the proposal 
represents a sustainable form of 
development, with benefits that 
outweigh the harm that would arise as 
a result. 

5.0 Description of Site

Page 72



The site is situated on the north eastern side of the village of Okeford Fitzpaine 
and is accessed from Shillingstone lane which is a narrow, winding, hedge lined 
country lane, with no pavement alongside. The listed Downs Cottage sits on the 
bend with an open frontage with low wall and hedges to both sides. The 
landscape character type is Rolling Vale, and the Dorset Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty lies to the south some 200m. 

Undulating in form, the site measures 2.86 hectares and is currently covered with 
6 large disused chicken sheds on the lower ground to the north east. An area of 
hardstanding, formerly used as car park, exists in the central part of the site.  The 
chicken sheds and parking area are not visible from Shillingstone Lane as they 
are set behind two planted bunds which screen the site from immediate views 
from the road other than through the access drive.

There is a strong public right of way network surrounding the site. One footpath 
crosses the site along its northern and western boundaries and allows for access 
to the primary school and the centre of the village, as well as a route towards 
Castle Lane and the sports and recreation ground. The footpaths are narrow and 
unsurfaced but provide useful connections within the village.

Okeford Fitzpaine benefits from a number of services and facilities. It has a 
primary school, a church, a village hall, shop and post office, a public house, a 
car repair garage, superfast broadband, and a sport and recreation ground. It is 
also served by a bus route and lies on a national cycle route.

Description of Development

This is an outline application for the erection of up to 45 dwellings with details of 
access only to be agreed now. All other matters (appearance, layout, scale and 
landscaping) are reserved for later consideration. 

The proposed access have been moved a few metres to the east of the existing 
access onto Shillingstone Lane. This would allow the retention of the existing 
bank closest to the OFCA and opposite a listed building. 

Should permission be granted, a Section 106 legal agreement has been 
prepared and engrossed by the applicant. This legal agreement would secure 
40% affordable housing, improvements to rights of way surrounding the site, 
contributions for pre-school, primary and secondary education, play areas, sports 
fields and informal open spaces and allotments, community, leisure and indoor 
sports contribution within the Parish of Okeford Fitzpaine.

6.0 Relevant Planning History
  

Application: 2/1979/0448

Page 73



Proposal: Erect 4 No. chicken houses
Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 18.07.1979

Application: 2/2002/0800
Proposal: Application for Certificate of Lawfulness to use land for the production of 

poultry and for the parking of cars for staff employed at High Street 
premises, Okeford Fitzpaine

Decision: Approve (not implemented)
Decision Date: 26.09.2003

7.0 List of constraints 

Agricultural Land Grade: 3

Parish Name - : Okeford Fitzpaine CP

Public Rights of Way - Route Code: N48/55
Public Rights of Way - Route Code: N48/4
Public Rights of Way - Route Code: N48/6
Public Rights of Way - Route Code: N48/5

Settlement Boundary: Okeford Fitzpaine

TPO - Charge Description: Area TPO 42/2/66 Okeford Fitzpaine No.2. The 
several hedgerow trees, principally Oak and Elm, with some Ash. A4,A6 

Ward Name: Bulbarrow Ward

8.0 Consultations

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website on the following link: 
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=P6C
PC3LHG0Z00

Environment Agency - 
No objection subject to conditions.  

Dorset AONB - 
No objection in principle subject to conditions. 

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group -
No objection subject to community infrastructure contribution being secured.

Page 74

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00


Conservation Officer DC  -
No objection following submission of revised access plan SK03.

Transport Development Management DC - 
No objection subject to conditions and informatives.

Drainage (Flood Risk Management) DC - 
No objection subject to conditions and informative notes.

Environmental Health Officer DC - 
No objection subject to a condition(s).
 
Principal Technical Officer DC - 
No objection subject to condition

Landscape Architect DC - 
No objection.

Conservation Officer DC –
No objection. 

Rights Of Way DC - 
No objection subject to contribution being secured. 

Planning Obligations Manager DC - 
No objection subject to contributions being secured. 

Dorset Education Authority DC - 
No objection subject to contributions being secured. 

Planning Policy DC -
The Council can only demonstrate 4.0 years of the requisite 5 year housing land 
supply (5yr HLS).  This means the most important Local Plan policies for 
determining the application (Policy 2, 6, 7 and 20) out-of-date.  Therefore, full 
weight cannot be given to these policies in the planning balance, and the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in Paragraph 11 of 
the NPPF applies.

Okeford Fitzpaine PC -   
No objection.

Representations

31 letters of representation were received, of which 9 objected to the proposal 
and 22 supported the proposal.

Page 75



Note: full comments can be seen on the case file online on the following link: 
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=P6C
PC3LHG0Z00

Summary of issues raised:
Objections: 

 Access on Shillingstone Road dangerous with increased traffic flows
 Proposed visibility splay of limited benefit as doesn't solve visibility at two 

blind bends close to site
 Shillingstone Lane too narrow with blind bend at each end accidents 

outside Downs Cottage and bottleneck at Trinity Cottage
 Shillingstone Lane unsafe for increase in traffic due to a steep hill, blind 

summit and an obscured exit onto the main A357 road in Shillingstone.
 Vehicular access should be from Ridouts off Castle Lane
 Estimated pedestrian trips inaccurate for Shillingstone Lane 
 Footpaths around the site are muddy and cannot be used for much of year
 Disproportionate increase in housing in the village on this one site
 Change in character and scale of village
 Too much pressure on existing infrastructure and school
 Harmful impact on setting of listed properties 
  Harmful impact on natural environment rich with wildife and greenery
 Loss of privacy, increased noise,loss of natural setting, light pollution to 

Downs Cottage Listed Building
 Front wall damaged and reported 14 times at Downs Cottage 
 Vehicle collisions at Downs Cottage bend and Little Lane July 2017 

reported to police, vehicles recovered and road closed
 Car park to school no use as footpaths across cattle field and muddy.

Support: 
A petition of 40 in support of the principle of housing development was received, 
including two comments welcoming bungalows and one welcoming affordable 
housing. Other individual letters of support made the following points: 

 Best site for housing in Okeford Fitzpaine in Neighbourhood Plan
 Site in settlement boundary so not building in open countryside
 Good connectivity with the village alternative footpaths to avaoid danger of  

walking on Shillingstone Lane
 Access improvements widening Shillingstone lane outside application site 

beneficial to traffic flows
 Excellent use in place of derelict chicken sheds
 Road widening and traffic signs proposed adequate for highway safety

Page 76

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00
https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=P6CPC3LHG0Z00


 Hedge planting to replace bund will be more appropriate on Shillingstone 
Road frontage

 Good use of derelict wasteland with former concrete hard standing of 
chicken sheds and car park

 9.0 Relevant Policies

North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (January 2016) (LPP1):
Policy 1 - Sustainable Development.
Policy 2 - C Spatial Strategy
Policy 3 - Climate Change
Policy 4 - The Natural Environment
Policy 5 - The Historic Environment
Policy 6 - Housing Distribution
Policy 7 - Delivering Homes
Policy 8 - Affordable Housing
Policy 13 - Grey Infrastructure
Policy 14 - Social Infrastructure
Policy 15 - Green Infrastructure
Policy 20 - The Countryside
Policy 23 - Parking
Policy 24 - Design
Policy 25 - Amenity

North Dorset District-Wide Local Plan (saved policies) 2003
1. 7 Development within Settlement Boundaries
1. 9 Important Open or Wooded Areas

Policy OF1 (Employment Development Site E/34/1), relates to the relocation of 
the chicken factory that was proposed to relocate to the poultry farm site which is  
this application site. Policy OF1 specified: 

"2.1 Hectares (5.2 acres) of land at Shillingstone Lane will be developed 
for employment use, specifically for the relocation of the existing 
employment site off Higher Street, subject to the following criteria;

(i) the satisfactory relocation of the existing poultry rearing unit,
(ii) the site shall be served by a new access road off Castle Lane,
(iii) the existing vehicular access off Shillingstone Lane shall be closed,
(iv) where necessary improvements shall be made to Castle Lane 

northwards from the new access road to the junction with the A357."

Note: the continued use of this site sought a new access road off Castle Lane 
and the existing vehicular access off Shillingstone Lane to be closed.

National Planning Policy Framework

Page 77



As far as this application is concerned the following section(s) of the NPPF are 
considered to be relevant;

1.      Introduction
2.      Achieving sustainable development
4.      Decision-making
5.      Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
8.      Promoting healthy and safe communities
9.      Promoting Sustainable transport
10.    Supporting high quality communications
11.     Making effective use of land
12.     Achieving well-designed places
14.     Meeting challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15.     Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
16.     Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Para 11 - Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. 

For decision-taking this means: 
c)  approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or
d)  where there are not relevant development plan policies, or the 

policies which are most important for determining the application are out-
of-date, granting permission unless:

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or 
asset of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed (see footnote 6); or

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, which assess against the policies in 
this Framework taken as a whole. 

10.0 Human rights

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies.  It was 
considered on-site and as part of the application that this proposed development 
would not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party.

11.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty 

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their 
functions must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics

Page 78



 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the neds of other people

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the 
Duty is to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in 
considering the merits of this planning application the planning authority has 
taken into consideration the requirements of the PSED.

It is considered that arrangements would include better surfacing of rights of way 
and a public footpath alongside the access drive to ensure people with 
disabilities or mobility impairments or pushing buggies would be accommodated.

12.0 Financial benefits

 40% affordable housing (18 dwellings)
 Financial contributions towards: improvements to rights of way, pre-

school, primary and secondary education, play areas, sports fields and 
informal open spaces and allotments, community, leisure and indoor 
sports contribution within the Parish of Okeford Fitzpaine.

 Short-term construction jobs 
 Additional spending by new residents in the village shop, public house and 

other village business services
 Council tax from new dwellings

13.0 Planning Assessment

The key planning issues are considered to be: 

 Principle of development
 Impact on heritage
 Access and highway impacts 
 Sustainability of site location
 Impact on trees and landscape
 Impact on ecology
 Impact on neighbouring amenity
 Contaminated land and groundwater  
 Affordable housing 
 Affordable housing and planning contributions 
 Planning Balance

Principle of Development

The Council can currently demonstrate four years of the required a five-year 
housing land supply (5yr HLS). However, the proposed development site would 

Page 79



affect the setting of a listed building and the OFCA.  Because of the need to 
consider the effect of the development on designated heritage assets and the 
reference to these in footnote 6 of the National Planning Policy Framework it 
would mean that the ‘tilted balance’ in paragraph 11d is not triggered unless the 
proposal can first pass the simple balancing exercises in paragraph 195 (in 
cases where harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset is judged to 
be substantial), or 196 (where any harm is found to be less than substantial).

On that basis the correct approach to decision making here would be first to 
assess whether any harm would be caused to the significance of the designated 
heritage assets affected.  If any is found, then the degree of that harm needs to 
be defined.  Then, that harm needs to be balanced against the public benefits of 
the proposal.  If the public benefits do not outweigh the harm then, following the 
Framework’s path, planning permission should be refused.

If the public benefits do outweigh the harm caused to the significance of the 
designated heritage assets, then the ‘tilted balance’ in paragraph 11d would be 
re-engaged and the policies which are the most important for determining the 
application should be considered out-of-date.  That would mean that planning 
permission should be granted unless any adverse impact of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. It is only if the proposal passes the 
test in paragraphs 195 or 196 that any additional harm (ie that arising from the 
location of the site) would need to be considered.  In either scenario proper 
regard must also be had to the Local Plan and other material considerations.

If adverse impacts have been adequately mitigated then the recommendation 
can continue to support boosting housing land supply, even when above the level 
of local housing need identified, as there is no upper limit in policy to prevent 
granting permission for additional housing in a village above the number 
identified for local needs housing. However at some point there may be a reason 
to refuse the principle of further housing in Okeford Fitzpaine, if more housing 
sites are approved. 

Therefore the principle of development in this instance would be acceptable if the 
benefits outweigh the adverse impact first on Heritage and then on any other 
material considerations assess in the planning balance section below. 

Impact on Heritage 

The proposed development site shares a boundary with the OFCA. Downs 
Cottage (grade II listed building) is located opposite the application site on 
Shillingstone Lane approximately 100m to the east of the proposed access into 
the site.  The Cottage is also within the OFCA.

Page 80



The primary heritage concern is with the setting of Downs Cottage and the 
setting of the OFCA. In weighing the proposal, due consideration has been given 
to Section 12 of the NPPF, Sections 66 and 72 of the 1990 Act, the Framework, 
and the Development Plan.

The significance of the building of Downs Cottage in relation to the application 
site relates to its aesthetic value that would be harmed when viewed from the 
Shillingstone Lane (including from the existing site entrance). The identified harm 
to this listed-building relates to its contribution to the character of the eastern 
entrance to the village which enhances the street scene and setting of OFCA. 

In order to minimise the harm to the aesthetic value of Downs Cottage, an 
amended access plan has been submitted, showing removal of the originally 
proposed widening of Shillingstone lane; and showing retention of the grassy 
bank and mature hedgerow opposite Downs Cottage. It is considered that the 
amended scheme overcomes the concerns raised previously. 

The proposed development with the detailed access as amended in drawing 
SK03, would result in less than substantial harm to the identified heritage assets. 
The public benefits of the proposed development would need to outweigh the 
identified harm for the application to succeed. 

Access and highways impact

The details of the proposed access are now considered to be acceptable. 
The revised access position several metres to the east would provide adequate 
visibility for cars for two way passing of traffic on Shillingstone Lane. A 2m 
footpath forms part of the access road leading towards footpath N48/7 to the 
east. Pedestrian links from the site to other public footpaths leading to the village 
centre and improvements to the footpaths are incorporated into the S106 
infrastructure contributions

The access proposed meets the engineering requirements for safety and traffic 
flows as designed and set out in the County Council Transport Officers 
assessment. 

The submitted Transport Statement (TS), prepared by the applicant's highways 
consultants, considers the impact that the development would have on the 
highway network in the vicinity of the site.  It also considers the sustainability of 
the development in terms of accessibility to and from the site.

The proposed vehicular access to the site is from Shillingstone Lane, as shown 
on Drawing  SK03, utilising a priority controlled T-junction, providing a 5.0m wide 
carriageway to accommodate two-way passing traffic, with junction radii and 
visibility splays in accordance with the guidance provided by Manual for Streets.

Page 81



 It is proposed that Shillingstone Lane would now only be widened along the site 
frontage to the east of the access. Plan SK03 demonstrates how to 
accommodate two-way movements of large vehicles, such as refuse and delivery 
vehicles and private cars can work safely on Shillingstone Lane.

The submitted "Proposed Site Plan", Drawing No 03 Rev A, indicates that a new 
footway would be provided across the site frontage to the east of the access onto 
Shillingstone Lane. This would link up to join to the existing public Right-of-Way 
at Little Lane footpath N48/7 and to a proposed internal public footpath shown on 
this drawing.  A condition can be imposed to ensure the delivery of this 
improvement.

 It should also be noted that the site plan shows an internal estate road layout 
that embraces the principles suggested by Manual for Streets, providing a safe 
and attractive place for all road users that is suitable for use by refuse vehicles 
and other large service HGVs.  It is intended that car parking would be provided 
in accordance with the recommendations of the Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset 
Residential Car Parking Study.

 TRICS is the national standard for trip generation analysis and employs a 
system of site selection filtering that enables users to simulate site scenarios 
through a number of progressive stages and to calculate vehicular and multi-
modal trip rates based on these selections. The submitted TS has, in the opinion 
of the County Highway Authority, complied with the recommendations of the 
TRICS Good Practice Guide 2013 and produced a robust daily trip generation for 
the proposed development. The TRICS data outputs are attached to the TS (in 
Appendix C) and provide the empirical evidence to substantiate the trip rates 
used.  It should be noted that only those sites classed as 'edge of town' were 
selected to reflect the size, type and location of the development as this is the 
most "rural" classification available in TRICS.

The proposed development is anticipated to generate up to 31 vehicular trips in 
the AM peak period (08:00 to 09:00), up to 26 vehicular trips in the PM peak 
period (17:00 to 18:00) and a total of up to 215 two-way trips per day.  

Historically, the proposed site was previously used as a chicken farm and a car 
park for factory workers and HGV's associated with the Faccenda Food 
processing plant at the centre of the village (which has since been redeveloped).  
It is accepted that the traffic numbers and type generated by the proposal would 
be likely to be less than the historic use of the site created on a daily basis. 
Although several local residents object to the traffic volumes and safety due to 
traffic speeds in Shillingstone Lane and danger with the narrow road with no 
pavements, a review of personal injury collision data has not identified any critical 
locations on the local highway network with collision records, so the proposed 
development is considered to be acceptable in both traffic generation and safety 
terms.

Page 82



With regard to pedestrian movements, unsurfaced and narrow Public Rights-of 
Ways are available in the immediate vicinity of the site that link to the centre of 
the village.  The applicant is to provide a financial contribution to support better 
surfacing of these footways as part of the development proposals (to be included 
within the S106 agreement). 

Therefore the Highway Authority would raise no objection to the proposal 
because the submitted Transport Statement is satisfactory and robust, and whilst 
the proposal would increase traffic flows on the highway network the residual 
cumulative impact of the development cannot be thought to be "severe", when 
consideration is given to paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) - July 2018.

The revised access is now acceptable in detailed engineering terms to enable 
use of this site for the housing proposed, and in heritage terms to allow retention 
of the historic character of Shillingstone Lane to the west of the existing access 
by removing the initially engineered visibility splay and footpath that did not link to 
any other safe walking route into the village. 

Sustainability of site location

LPP1 Policy 6: Housing Distributions states In the countryside (including 
Stalbridge and the villages) the level of housing and affordable housing provision 
will be…At least 825 dwellings…” during the plan period to 2031.  The Parish of 
Okeford Fitzpaine has been identified in LPP1 as a larger village capable of 
meeting local needs housing within its settlement boundary.  It has a school, 
shops, and other services available.  This proposed development site is within 
the settlement boundary of OF.

The site is subject to saved Policy OF1.  This policy seeks to retain the site for 
employment use and move the access to Castle Lane then closing the 
Shillingstone Lane entrance due to heavy goods traffic.  This policy is not likely to 
be carried forward as the release of the site for employment use was 
recommended on sustainability grounds in the 2007 Employment Land Review. 

Limited weight should be given to the emerging neighbourhood plan itself (as set 
out in PPG Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 41-007-20170728) as it has not been 
to examination and is therefore still developing. However the housing needs 
assessment (HNA) produced by the Parish Council as evidence base to inform 
the neighbourhood plan is a material planning consideration that can be taken 
into account. The HNA was produced in June 2016 and published alongside the 
draft neighbourhood plan as part of the pre-submission consultation. The 
conclusion reached by the HNA is that 107 dwellings are needed at Okeford 
Fitzpaine over the period 2013 to 2033. Taking into account completions from 

Page 83



2013 and extant commitments [53 - 2 (nos. completions in 11/12 and 12/13) = 
51], at 1/12/18 the current level of need is 56. 

In the past year, two schemes (each for 27 dwellings, at Castle Lane and 
Pleydells Farm), have been approved in relation to Okeford Fitzpaine.  As both 
are outline applications only limit weight should be given to them as they do not 
directly contribute to the housing land supply. In LPP1 Policy 6, the amount of 
housing in the countryside is set as an ‘at least’ number to contribute towards 
meeting identified local and essential needs.  However, the weight to be applied 
to the benefit of providing housing that extends beyond the local needs must be 
considered in light of the Council’s current 5yr HLS and the sustainability of the 
location. 

The village of OF benefits from a bus service and lies on a national cycle route,  
It contains a primary school, a shop, church, a sport and recreation ground and a 
public house that would support, and benefit from, future development. 

Impact on trees and landscape

The AONB officer identifies that the development is located outside of the AONB 
and the Council will not need to apply a major development test. It can instead 
determine the application in relation to the provisions of NPPF 115 and those 
aspects of its development plan that are considered to be up to date. NPPF 115 
states that the conservation of cultural heritage in AONBs is an important 
consideration. Given the proximity of the site to the OFCA , which itself partly 
within the AONB, it would appear reasonable that effects of the proposal on parts 
of the conservation areas that are within the AONB should be considered in 
relation to this aspect of NPPF. In considering these effects, the comments of the 
conservation officer are of relevance. 

Concerning the landscape and visual impact of the proposal, this is an outline 
application Nonetheless, it is possible to quantify the maximum housing density. 
Based on an approximate site area of 2.8 ha the proposed housing density is 
approx. 16 dwellings per hectare. This density is broadly comparable with the 
housing density that presently exists within the village. 

The detachment of the site from the village core is not sufficient to be problematic 
in landscape terms when considering the outlook from the AONB, largely 
because of the baseline position of the existing development chicken sheds 
within the site. Detailed design can potentially create a softer edge to the village 
for wider views than the existing large poultry buildings.

In relation to local landscape the Council's Landscape Officer identifies that the 
entire site falls within the Rolling Vales LCT and to the south (around Okeford 
Hill) is the Chalk Ridge/Escarpment LCA. The indicative proposed site plan 
illustrates that 45 houses can be accommodated on the site without significant 

Page 84



impact on the wider landscape character or any of the key features described in 
the landscape character assessment for the area. In terms of local landscape 
character and visual amenity, the proposed development could be designed so 
that tree planting would be incorporated to soften the impact of the hard urban 
edge that would occur as a result of the introduction of residential housing in this 
area. The urban grain can be improved through removal of the views from 
Okeford Hill of the large poultry sheds in a regular arrangement that appears 
industrial rather than domestic in scale and grain. Redevelopment in this respect 
would be a landscape gain. 

Therefore in terms of landscape the primary concern is to ensure that the 
development fully addresses any harmful impacts from the development on the 
rural character of the OFCA and its setting within the landscape. This has been 
achieved as set out in the Conservation section through the removal of the 
urbanised form of the engineered visibility splay and wide access to the west of 
the site and the retention of the narrow rural hedge-lined road with grassy banks 
and no footpath in compliance with policy 4 of the North Dorset Local Plan Part 1.  

Impact on ecology

A Biodiveristy Mitigation Plan and construction method statement was submitted 
and identifies that badgers have not been occupying the site, bats and birds 
forage in the site and there are hedgehogs, dormice and reptiles present on the 
site which would need relocating. New hedgerows would need to be planted with 
species rich varieties to support the wildlife and a green space retained for reptile 
refugia. Bat and bird boxes are proposed on dwellings. The grassland areas 
would also be planted with a species rich mix. 

Subject to all these findings the Biodiversity species and habitats at the site can 
be appropriately protected mitigated and enhanced. Maintenance could be 
secured through a Landscape Environment Management Plan via planning 
condition. 

Impact on neighbouring amenity 

The proposed housing development would be unlikely to generate harmful levels 
of noise and disturbance that would significantly affect the quiet enjoyment of 
neighbouring residential properties. 

During the construction phase of the proposed development, there would 
inevitably be some adverse impact on neighbouring occupiers, by way of 
disturbance. However, a construction management plan condition could be 
imposed to ensure that any such disturbance would be kept to a minimum. Such 
disturbance would also be transitory and, as such, it is not considered that the 
disturbance would be significant enough to warrant refusal of the scheme.

Page 85



Therefore, notwithstanding local concern, a satisfactory detailed design at the 
reserved matters stage could ensure that the proposal would not have a 
significant adverse impact on residential amenity. Furthermore, a construction 
management plan condition would assist in protecting neighbouring amenities, in 
compliance with Policy 25 of the LPP1.

It is clear from the illustrative outline layout that there would be sufficient space to 
accommodate open space and additional planting necessary on boundaries to 
assist retaining a rural appearance through new hedgerows  establishing a 
landscape screen to housing that would lie beyond the linear settlement pattern 
and to protect the rural qualities of the surrounding countryside.

Contaminated land and groundwater

The Environment Agency and the Dorset Lead Flood Authority both identify 
potential contamination relating to historic tanks and made ground and the 
proximity of the site to Collwell Brook, which would need to be addressed in line 
with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy to avoid and unacceptable 
risk from levels of water pollution.

The Geo-Environmental Assessment submitted in support of the planning 
application demonstrates that it would be possible to suitably manage the risk 
posed to controlled waters by this development through planning conditions, 
such that the proposed development would be acceptable if a further risk 
assessment, remediation strategy and verification report, were to be carried out 
in line with paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

It is therefore concluded that any harm to groundwater could be mitigated to 
remove any concern of this material consideration.

Affordable housing and planning contributions 

Okeford Fitzpaine is well serviced by infrastructure as a rural settlement and from 
this site it is a walk of 5 minutes to a pub, shop and school and less than 10 
minutes to the playing fields, village hall and church. 

The Heads of Terms for the S106 agreement relate to the policy compliant 
provision of  40% Affordable Housing plus contributions towards  Pre-school, 
Primary and Secondary Education, Rights of Way; Open Space; and, Social 
infrastructure in line with Grey Green and Community Infrastructure Policy. 

The need for affordable housing throughout North Dorset is great and therefore a 
minimum of 18 affordable dwellings would meet the immediate need of affordable 
homes from within the Parish, would boost the mix of tenure available in the rural 
areas, and offer a small amount of additional affordable homes to meet the wider 
needs of North Dorset District Council rural areas. 

Page 86



The following list of the proposed grey (highway and footpaths) Green (open 
space and play) infrastructure and community contributions (village hall schools 
and pre-school) have been negotiated in consultation with the Parish Council and 
Dorset County Council. The contributions have been demonstrated to the 
reasonable, necessary and proportionate and to meet the regulations for 
Community Infrastructure Levy and have been agreed in full by the applicant.

Proposed Heads of Terms for S106 legal agreement (subject to satisfactory grant 
of planning permission- including reserved matters- and subject to 
implementation of permission 40% Affordable housing and grey, green and 
community infrastructure as calculated below).  The contributions per dwelling 
are proposed to be delegated to officers to continue to finalise and adjust prior to 
completion of the S106 agreement: 

 Play Facilities = £967.52
 Play Facilities Maintenance = £359.36
 Allotments = £308.16
 Formal Outdoor Sports = £1,318.80
 Formal Outdoor Sports Maintenance = £128.73
 Informal Outdoor Space = £2,307.36
 Informal Outdoor Space Maintenance = £1,278.80
 Community, Leisure & Indoor Sports Facilities = £2,006.97
 Rights of Way Enhancements = £498.45
 Primary and Secondary Education = £6,094
 Pre-school provision = £190.50

Total of £15,458.29 per dwelling

Planning Balance

The application site is located adjacent to the Okeford Fitzpaine Conservation 
Area, and a grade II listed building.  The proposed development would cause 
less than substantial harm to both heritage assets which form part of the 
considerations. However the harm is significantly reduced because of the revised 
access arrangements showing retention of the historic character of the land to 
the west of the access nearest to the heritage assets. 

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states: "When considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance."   

Page 87



In this instance great weight is afforded to the assets’ conservation due to the 
significance of OFCA and Downs Cottage. However, the setting of both these 
heritage assets would now only be minimally harmed because of the removal of 
the proposed engineered form of the visibility splay and footpath originally 
proposed in a westerly direction, which overcomes the main concerns. It is 
considered by the Conservation officer that he would have no objection to the 
alteration of Shillingstone Lane in an easterly direction from the new access 
position because the character of Shillingstone Lane with its grassy banks and 
hedge-lined rural and winding heritage value close to Downs Cottage or the 
Conservation Area would be protected and enhanced with more hedging where 
needed. 

The revised Framework 2019 is clear in footnote 6 to Paragraph 11, and 
paragraph 196, that this can be a clear reason for refusing development 
proposed if the benefits do not outweigh the harm.  

However, the great weight afforded to the significance of the heritage assets and 
the less than substantial harm to their setting is no longer considered to outweigh 
the public benefits of increasing housing supply with accompanying infrastructure 
contributions for this application, due to the amended access plan providing 
mitigation to overcome the majority of the “less that substantial harm” and 
preserve the character of that section of Shillingstone Lane.

Given the shortfall in respect of the supply of land for housing within the District 
the planning balance can be weighed in favour of development if the site specific 
conservation issues can be proven to outweigh the balance towards the 
presumption in favour of development.

This application is supported by assessments and reports that demonstrate that 
the application is technically and environmentally acceptable in relation to 
access, drainage, ecology, density of development, open space, trees and 
landscape and ecological enhancements. Additionally infrastructure contributions 
and affordable housing provision also add significant weight in favour of the 
proposal. 

Although the application site is located close to OFCA Reference ID: 41-007-
20170728 , and in proximity to a number of listed buildings, its redevelopment for 
housing could have a better impact on its setting than the existing use with large 
farm buildings of a different scale and urban grain than the surrounding housing 
in the village centre. This can be perceived from the surrounding hills and is point 
made by the AONB and landscape officer in their comments above.

The revised Framework is clear in Footnote 6 to Paragraph 11 that policies 
should not be considered out of date if the application of policies in the revised 
Framework that protect areas of particular importance, including designated 

Page 88



heritage assets, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed. 
Given that the proposed development is considered to still cause less than 
substantial harm the setting of the designated heritage assets of the and listed 
buildings the so called 'tilted balance' set out in paragraph 11 is not engaged.

This means under paragraphs 11, footnote 6, and paragraph 196 of the NPPF, 
that harm to heritage assets has to be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, without “tilting” the balance in favour of housing supply.

In this instance the public benefits are significant because of the under supply of 
housing at a time of when the local need of the village has not been completely 
met.  The proposals would increase the choice and supply of housing within the 
district and help to reduce the serious shortfall in supply. In addition, the 
affordable dwellings would assist in meeting the housing needs of those living 
within the area and would be conveniently located for services and facilities. 

 When the development commences there would be support for the construction 
industry, including employment provision. Upon occupation of the dwellings there 
would be additional household expenditure within the local economy. 

There are good rights of way enhancements offered as part of the S106 
agreement and contributions to green, grey and community infrastructure to meet 
the identified needs of Okeford Fitzpaine in a manner that is reasonable and 
proportionate to the scale of the development proposed.

The contributions contained within the section 106 Agreement, such as the 
proposed play areas, enhanced rights of way and contribution to the village hall 
or sports pavilion improvements would amount to social benefits of the proposal. 

The proposal would also provide some environmental benefits in terms of new 
hedgerow planting and other landscape planting, as well as some enhancements 
to biodiversity. 

The weight afforded to the public benefits proposed with this scheme is 
considered to be significant. This has to be balanced against the harm to 
heritage assets.  

Paragraph 193 of the NPPF states: "When considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential 
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance."   

In this instance great weight is afforded due to the significance of the OFCA and 
the surrounding Listed Buildings. However, the loss of setting has been 

Page 89



sufficiently mitigated through the amended plan that the harm is no longer 
demonstrable, given the retention of the historic character of the rural lane. 
Additionally the new urban grain could be designed in materials and layout to 
respect the setting at reserved matters stage and would remain screened now by 
the existing hedge supplemented with further hedge planting along the frontage 
so that the dwellings sit within and enclosed site and not imposing above the 
exising dwellings on Shillingstone Lane. Therefore the less than substantial harm 
is considered to be at the lower end of the scale and could be offset through 
good design and landscaping at reserved matters stage.

Overall, the additional supply of housing and other public benefits to Okeford 
Fitzpaine would outweigh the harm to heritage assets, such that the proposal 
represents a sustainable form of development, with benefits that outweigh the 
harm that would arise as a result. The application is therefore recommended for 
approval subject to a Section 106 agreement, conditions and informative notes.

14.0 Conclusion  

The additional supply of housing and other public benefits to Okeford Fitzpaine 
would be afforded greater weight than has been applied to the heritage policy 
considerations, such that the proposal would represent a sustainable form of 
development, with benefits that outweigh the harm that would arise as a result. 
The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject to a Section 106 
agreement, conditions and informative notes.

15.0 Recommendation:

Delegate authority to the Head of Planning to grant subject to a Section 106 
agreement and the following conditions:

1. Commencement
The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
whichever is the later of the following dates:-
(i) the expiration of three years from the date of grant of outline planning 
permission, or
(ii) the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 
in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 
matter to be approved.
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

 2. Reserved Matters submission 2 yrs
Application for approval of any reserved matters must be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority not later than the expiration of two years beginning with the 
date of this permission and the development hereby permitted shall begin before 

Page 90



the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved 
matters to be approved

Reason: This condition with shortened timeframe, normally imposed by Section 
92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), seeks to 
encourage development, due to the pressing need for housing to be provided in 
a short timeframe, within an area where housing land supply is not currently 
being met. 

 3. Reserved Matters all approval before Commencement
Approval of the reserved matters (that is any matters in respect of which details 
have not been given in the application; and which concern in this instance: The 
layout, scale and appearance of the buildings to which this permission and the 
application relates and to the landscaping of the site), shall be obtained from the 
Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced, and 
such development shall be carried out as approved.

Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

 4. Approved Plans
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Site Location Plan - Drawing No: 01 dated 23 May 2016
Proposed Access Arrangements - Drawing No: SK03 dated 27 March 2019

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the permission.
I refer to the amended plan - revised access arrangement drawing SK03, in 
respect of the above planning application, received on 9 April 2019.

5. Outline Estate Road Construction (adopted or private)
Prior to commencement details of the access, geometric highway layout, turning 
and parking areas have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.
 
Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site

6. Vehicle access construction
Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, the first 15.00 metres of the 
vehicular access, measured from the rear edge of the highway (excluding the 
vehicle crossing - see the Informative Note below), must be laid out and 
constructed to a specification submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Page 91



Reason:  To ensure that a suitably surfaced and constructed access to the site is 
provided that prevents loose material being dragged and/or deposited onto the 
adjacent carriageway causing a safety hazard.

7. Visibility splays as submitted

The visibility splay areas as shown on the submitted plans must be 
cleared/excavated to a level not exceeding 0.6 metres above the relative level of 
the adjacent carriageway.  The splay areas must thereafter be maintained and 
kept free from all obstructions.

 Reason: To ensure that a vehicle can see or be seen when exiting the access.

 8. Cycle parking scheme to be submitted

A scheme showing precise details of the proposed cycle parking facilities shall be  
submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  Any such scheme requires approval 
to be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme must be constructed before the development is commenced and, 
thereafter, must be maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the 
purpose specified.

Reason: To ensure the proper construction of the parking facilities and to 
encourage the use of sustainable transport modes.

9. Grampian condition 
Prior to occupation of any dwelling hereby approved, the following works must 
have been constructed to the specification of the Local Planning Authority:

 The widening of Shillingstone Lane to 5.50m along the site frontage, from 
the proposed site access to the eastern boundary of the site, as shown on 
Dwg No SK03 dated 27 March 2019, or a similar scheme to be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

 
Reason: These specified works are seen as a pre-requisite for allowing the 
development to proceed, providing the necessary highway infrastructure 
improvements to mitigate the likely impact of the proposal.
 
10. Construction traffic management plan to be submitted
 
Prior to the commencement of any works a Construction Traffic Management 
Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The CTMP must include:

 construction vehicle details (number, size, type and frequency of 
movement)

 a programme of construction works and anticipated deliveries
 timings of deliveries so as to avoid, where possible, peak traffic periods

Page 92



 a framework for managing abnormal loads contractors' arrangements 
(compound, storage, parking, turning, surfacing  and drainage)

 wheel cleaning facilities
 vehicle cleaning facilities
 a scheme of appropriate signing of vehicle route to the site
 a route plan for all contractors and suppliers to be advised on
 temporary traffic management measures where necessary

 
The development must be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
Construction Traffic Management Plan.
 
Reason: to minimise the likely impact of construction traffic on the surrounding 
highway network and prevent the possible deposit of loose material on the 
adjoining highway.

11. Remediation strategy contamination
Prior to commencement of any works on site approved by this planning 
permission a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with 
contamination of the site has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the following components:
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:

 all previous uses;
 potential contaminants associated with those uses;
 a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 

receptors; and
 potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off 
site.
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred 
to in (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy 
giving full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be 
undertaken.
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant 
linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
 
12. Verification Report for Remediation completion
Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied a verification 

Page 93



report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include 
results of sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved 
verification plan to demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.

Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to human health 
or the water environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved 
verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This 
is in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
 
13. Further contamination remediation strategy
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation 
strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation 
strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water 
pollution from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development 
site in line with paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
 
14. Surface water Management Scheme  
Prior to commencement of works on site, a detailed surface water management 
scheme for the site, based upon the hydrological and hydrogeological context of 
the development, and including due consideration of the construction phase, has 
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
surface water scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the submitted 
details before the development is completed. 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, and to improve water quality. 

15. Maintenance of Surface water Management Scheme  
Prior to commencement of any works on site, details of maintenance and 
management of the surface water sustainable drainage scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme 
shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance 
with the approved details. These should include a plan for the lifetime of the 
development, the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the surface 
water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system, 
and to prevent the increased risk of flooding. 

Page 94



16. Strategic hard and soft Landscaping
The first reserved matters application shall include strategic details of hard and 
soft landscape proposals across the whole site, including a local area of play 
area and public open spaces.  The landscaping reserved matters shall develop 
the strategic plans and shall include planting plans, written specifications and 
schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes, proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate and implementation timetables, and shall include details of the 
management of excess spoil arising from the development. Mitigation measures 
to address views into the site from the AONB that would be relevant are as 
follows:

 Limiting the scale and density of housing within the southern portion of the 
site

 Adopting a comprehensive landscaping strategy that incorporates planting 
of a native species landscape buffer along the southern boundary of the 
site and the inclusion of sufficient native trees within the site to soften the 
appearance of the housing. 

 High quality building design and the use of materials that are both 
appropriate to the site’s local context and also suitably recessive. 

Reason: To ensure the provision of visual amenity afforded by appropriate
landscape design throughout the site including open spaces. 

17. Landscape Management Plan
Prior to first occupation of any dwelling on the site a landscape management plan 
shall, by reference to the reserved matters site layout drawings of an appropriate 
scale, be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and shall include long term design objectives, management responsibilities and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than small, privately 
owned, domestic gardens. The subsequent management of the development's 
landscaping shall accord with the approved plan.

Reason: To ensure that due regard is paid to the continuing enhancement and 
maintenance of amenity afforded by the landscape features of communal, public, 
nature conservation or historical significance.
18. Palette of Materials
The submission of reserved matters for appearance shall reflect a palette of 
materials that are prevalent in other buildings in the core of Okeford Fitzpaine 
such as, coursed stone rubble, or brick and thatch or slate roofs or clay tiles, 
along with dry layered course stone walls or hedges to mark boundaries.

Reason: To ensure provision of a high quality mixed housing development 
across the site in the interests of good design and to reflect the local 
distinctiveness of this rural settlement.

19. Lighting strategy ecology

Page 95



As part of the layout design for the first reserved matters application, a lighting 
and signage strategy shall be provided to satisfy transport and biodiversity 
requirements for the development as a whole. The approved lighting and signage 
strategy shall then be implemented prior to first occupation within the phase of 
development to which it relates, and maintained and retained thereafter.

Reason: In the interest of road safety and protection of wildlife.

20. Biodiversity Mitigation
Prior to occupation of the dwellings hereby approved all the measures set out in 
the Biodiversity Mitigation and Enhancement Plan submitted by FPCR dated 
March 2018, as certified to Dorset Natural Environment Team, shall be 
implemented in full. 

Reason: To ensure that the development conserves and enhance biodiversity in 
accordance with the objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework 

21. Tree Survey
A full tree survey of the site shall be undertaken by reference to site layout 
drawings of an appropriate scale. The survey shall be submitted to, and agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any site works commence. The 
survey shall show details of all existing trees with a stem diameter of 100mm or 
greater and shall include, as appropriate, the following information:
(a) The location, species, unique reference number, stem diameter, accurately 
plotted crown spread and an assessment of the age and condition of each tree.
(b) The existing ground levels at the base of any tree where excavations or 
changes in level are proposed near that tree.
(c) The position and individual details of all trees to be removed as a result of the 
proposed development.
(d) The position and details of any fencing, walling, service runs/trenches, 
drainage ditches etc.
e) The manner and means of protecting all trees (incl. their stems, crowns and 
root systems) to be retained.

Reason: To enable proper consideration to be given to the impact of the 
proposed development upon the existing trees. 

22. Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Prior to commencement of works on site, a detailed Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment shall, by reference to site layout drawings of an appropriate scale, 
be carried out, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Based on the Tree Survey, the assessment will identify and assess the 
impact of the proposed development on the existing trees on site, as well as any 
appropriate measures to alleviate this impact. The measures identified to 
alleviate impacts shall thereafter be implemented for the duration of the 
construction programme.

Page 96



Reason: To ensure thorough consideration of the impact of the development and 
any mitigating measures on the existing trees.

23. Arboricultural Method Statement
Before any works commence on site a detailed Method Statement shall be 
produced, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The statement will include details of how the existing trees are to be protected 
and managed before, during and after development and shall include information 
on traffic flows, phased works and construction practices near trees. The 
development shall thereafter accord with the approved Statement.

Reason: To ensure thorough consideration of the impacts of development on the 
existing trees.

24. Tree root protection
No works shall commence on site until details of the design of building 
foundations, car park surface construction and the layout (with positions, 
dimensions and levels) of service trenches, ditches, drains and other excavations 
on site (insofar as they may affect trees on or adjoining the site) shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter accord with the approved tree protection details.

Reason: To ensure the protection of trees to be retained, and in particular to 
avoid unnecessary damage to their root systems.

25. New tree and hedge planting
No works shall commence on site until precise details of all tree, shrub and 
hedge planting (including positions and/or density, species and planting size) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Planting shall be carried out before the end of the first available planting season 
following substantial completion of the development. In the five year period 
following the substantial completion of the development any trees that are 
removed without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority or which die 
or become (in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority) seriously diseased or 
damaged, shall be replaced as soon as reasonably practical and not later than 
the end of the first available planting season, with specimens of such size and 
species and in such positions as may be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. In the event of any disagreement the Local Planning Authority shall 
conclusively determine when the development has been completed, when site 
conditions permit, when planting shall be carried out and what specimens, size 
and species are appropriate for replacement purposes.

Reason: In the interests of continued visual public amenity 

NOTES TO APPLICANT

Page 97



1. National Planning Policy Framework Statement
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 
on providing sustainable development.  The council works with 
applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

 offering a pre-application advice service, and
 as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that 

may arise in the processing of their application and where 
possible suggesting solutions. 
In this case:

 The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided 
with the opportunity to address issues identified by the case 
officer.

2. Section 106 Agreement:
The applicant is advised that this Decision Notice shall be read in conjunction 
with the corresponding Section 106 legal agreement in relation to affordable 
housing and infrastructure contributions required in association with the 
development hereby approved.

3. Informative: Developer-Led Infrastructure
The applicant is advised that, notwithstanding this consent, if it is intended that 
the highway layout be offered for public adoption under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980, the applicant should contact Dorset County Council's 
Development team.  They can be reached by telephone at 01305 225401, by 
email at dli@dorsetcc.gov.uk, or in writing at Development team, Dorset 
Highways, Environment and the Economy, Dorset County Council, County Hall, 
Dorchester, DT1 1XJ

4. Informative: Dorset Highways
The vehicle crossing serving this proposal (that is, the area of highway land 
between the nearside carriageway edge and the site's road boundary) must be 
constructed to the specification of the County Highway Authority in order to 
comply with Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980.  The applicant should contact 
Dorset Highways by telephone at Dorset Direct (01305 221000), by email at 
dorsetdirect@dorsetcc.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset Highways, Dorset County 
Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the commencement of any 
works on or adjacent to the public highway.

5. Informative: Controlled Waste
If any controlled waste is to be removed off site, then site operator must ensure a 
registered waste carrier is used to convey the waste material off site to a suitably 
authorised facility. If the applicant require more specific guidance it is available 
on our website  https://www.gov.uk/how-to-classify-different-types-of-waste

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/how-to-classify-different-types-of-waste


6. Informative: Classification of Waste
If any waste is to be removed from the site then the applicant needs to ensure 
that sufficient testing has been undertaken in line with Waste classification 
technical guidance WM3. This is to ensure all waste on the site is correctly 
classified and disposed of accordingly to a suitably authorised facility.
 
7. Informative: If any hazardous waste is to be removed offsite the site operator 
must ensure that consignment notes are completed correctly in accordance with 
the legislation. If the applicant requires more specific guidance it is available on 
our website  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hazardous-waste-
consignment-note.
 
8. Informative: Pollution Prevention during Construction
Safeguards should be implemented during the construction phase to minimise 
the risks of pollution and detrimental effects to the water interests in and around 
the site. Such safeguards should cover the use of plant and machinery, 
oils/chemicals and materials; the use and routing of heavy plant and vehicles; the 
location and form of work and storage areas and compounds and the control and 
removal of spoil and wastes. We recommend the applicant refer to our Pollution 
Prevention Guidelines, which can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-prevention-for-businesses
 
9. Informative: Sustainable Construction 
Sustainable design and construction should be implemented across the 
proposed development; including water efficiency measures such as dual-flush 
toilets; water-saving taps; water butts; greywater recycling and rainwater 
harvesting.  This is important in limiting the effects of, and adapting to, climate 
change. Running costs for occupants can also be significantly reduced.  

10. Informative: fire prevention and sprinkler systems
The Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service would recommend that you 
look to provide at least a 32mm minimum diameter water main which would 
enable the installation of sprinkler systems within the approved dwelling(s). There 
is compelling evidence that sprinklers systems are a cost effective way of 
reducing the number of fire deaths and injuries, as well as reducing the 
economic, social and environmental impact of fires.

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-classification-technical-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-classification-technical-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hazardous-waste-consignment-note
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hazardous-waste-consignment-note
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pollution-prevention-for-businesses


This page is intentionally left blank



1.0 APPLICATON NUMBER: 2/2018/1749/OUT 

SITE ADDRESS: Honeymead Field, North Fields, Sturminster Newton

PROPOSAL:  Develop land by the erection of up to 114 no. dwellings, form 
vehicular access, associated infrastructure and public open space (outline 
application with all matters reserved)

APPLICANT NAME: Fidei Holdings

Case Officer: Jan Farnan

Ward Member(s):  Councillor Carole Jones

This application is brought to committee at the request of the Nominated Officer in 
accordance with section 134 of the Officer Scheme of Delegation, following 
representation received from the Town Council and the scale of the development.

2.0 Summary of Recommendation:
 

2.1 Recommendation A: Delegate authority to the Head of Planning to grant 
planning permission subject to conditions and the completion of a S106 legal 
agreement to secure the contributions listed in section 15 of this report . 

Recommendation B: Refuse permission for the reasons set out below if the 
S106 agreement is not completed within 6 months of the date of the committee 
resolution or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning.

1. Policy 8 of the adopted North Dorset District Local Plan Part 1 2016 
requires a minimum on-site provision of 25% of the units as affordable 
housing. In the absence of a planning obligation to secure these 
affordable units the scheme would fail to meet the substantial unmet need 
for affordable housing in the district and the proposal would therefore be 
contrary to Policy 8 of the adopted Local Plan. 

2. Policies 13,14 and 15 of the adopted  North Dorset District Local Plan Part 
1 2016 sets out that where new development will generate the need for 
new or improved community infrastructure.  In the absence of a planning 
obligation to secure the required community infrastructure the scheme 
would fail to mitigate the increase in demand for the necessary 
infrastructure to support the development. It would namely fail to provide 
for:

Education;
Libraries;
Health facilities;

Page 101

Agenda Item 5c

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=shttps://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PJ9R8WLHIZQ00ummary&keyVal=PJ9R8WLHIZQ00


Children’s play provision;
Maintenance of play provision;
Destination play facilities;
Maintenance of Destination play facilities
Formal outdoor Sports;
Maintenance of outdoor sports facilities;
Allotments;
Community, Leisure and Indoor Sports Facilities;
Sustainable Transport;

In the absence of a planning obligation the proposals therefore fail to meet 
the provisions of Policies 13,14,15 of the  North Dorset District Local Plan 
Part 1 2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

3.0 Reason for the recommendation: 
 

 Para 11 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that 
permission should be granted without delay for sustainable development 
that accords with an up-to-date development plan unless specific policies 
in the NPPF indicate otherwise

 Sturminster Newton is a sustainable location being one of the main towns 
identified for growth in the core spatial strategy of the local plan.  

 The proposal accords with the criteria set out in the Sturminster Newton 
Neighbourhood Plan.

 The proposal is acceptable in relation to; access, highway safety, flood 
risk and drainage,  landscape and visual impact, provision of green 
infrastructure, affordable housing provision, Impact on heritage assets, 
design and amenity and provision of community infrastructure.

 There are no material considerations which would warrant refusal of this 
application

4.0 Table of key planning issues 

Issue Conclusion
Principle of development Allocated for residential 

development in both North Dorset 
District Local Plan and Sturminster 
Newton Neighbourhood Plan

Access and Highway safety No objection from DC Highways
Flood Risk and drainage No objection to proposed 

sustainable drainage strategy from 
DC LLFA

Trees and Landscape Scheme provides for tree and 
hedgerow retention /enhancement 

Page 102



and acceptable landscape 
mitigation 

Biodiversity mitigation Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Plan agreed by DC 
Natural Environment Team

Green Infrastructure Provision of acceptable multi-
functional green infrastructure 
framework.

Affordable housing Scheme would provide policy 
compliant 25% affordable housing

Heritage Assets Proposal would not cause harm to 
the significance of heritage assets.

Design and amenity Illustrative layout demonstrates that 
114 dwellings can be satisfactorily  
accommodated within the site.

Community Infrastructure via Section 106 On-site provision and financial 
contributions to community 
infrastructure to make the 
development acceptable in planning 
terms.  

5.0 Description of Site

The site is a single arable field measuring 8.85ha located off North Fields road on 
the northern edge of Sturminster Newton.  It has a recently planted tree belt 
bordering agricultural land to the north.  To the west it borders Sturminster 
Newton Football Club pitch, with Sturfit Leisure centre and Sturminster Newton 
High School further to the west.  The west and east boundaries have established 
trees and hedgerow planting along them and the east borders woodland and an 
undesignated trail (permissive path) known as Green Lane.   The southern edge 
is bounded by fencing and the rear gardens dwellings of North Fields.

The land slopes gently from west to east, from 62.5 AOD in the west to 54.5 
AOD.  It is not covered by any statutory nature conservation or ecological 
designations.  Butts Pond Meadow a local nature reserve and Site of Nature 
Conservation Interest is located approximately 270m south of the site.  

There are no designated heritage assets within 300m of the site and Hambledon 
Hill Camp a scheduled ancient monument is over 5km away.  Cranborne Chase 
AONB also lies over 5km away and forms a distant back drop within parts of 
Sturminster Newton.
 
There are no TPO’s within the site although adjacent woodland to the east is part 
of woodland TPO 54/8/02.     

Page 103



The site is within flood zone 1, which is the lowest probability of flooding and the 
closest surface water main river is the River Stour approximately 700m to the 
west.  There is a ditch along the south eastern boundary of the site. 

The built up area in the vicinity of the site is made up of predominantly late 20th 
century residential development together with some community, education and 
community uses.  The area immediately to the south is a high density residential 
estate development where building heights are mainly 1 – 2 storeys.  There are 
some 3 storey, including adjacent to the southern boundary of the site.  Dwellings 
are in terraces or linked detached with some apartment blocks with parking in 
courts or on-plot.  

6.0 Description of Development

This is an outline application for up to 114 dwellings with only access to be 
determined at this stage.  Vehicular access would be from Northfields via a new 
mini roundabout into the site.  An illustrative layout has been provided to 
demonstrate how 114 dwellings could be accommodated.  This shows a mix of 
housing types at a density of approximately 30 dph within a landscape framework 
retaining the woodland buffer to the north, a green buffer to the west an open 
space area to the east and further amenity green spaces and planting within the 
development.  Existing hedgerows and trees would be retained and enhanced 
and sustainable drainage features would be located within the open space areas 
to the north and east.  

Footpath links are shown to the track (permissive path) to the east of the site, 
and to the boundary in the north–west corner and on the southern boundary to 
facilitate links the leisure centre and school, and Northfields development 
respectively.    A recreational woodland walk, through the treed area to the north, 
would be provided together with informal open space and an equipped play area.

Biodiversity mitigation and enhancement is proposed in the form of retained and 
enhanced hedgerows and trees, native shrub planting and species rich grassland 
to provide habitat enhancement along the perimeters of existing woodland and 
proposed drainage basins, and the open space areas to provide new wildlife 
habitat and improved green infrastructure / pedestrian links.

The built form is shown in a perimeter block layout with positive frontages 
overlooking areas of public open space.  Dwellings would be mostly 2 storey with 
a small number of 21/2 storeys at the entrance to the site.  Parking would be on-
plot or within small courts.  25% of the dwellings would be affordable housing.

7.0 Relevant Planning History 
 

Page 104



REFVAL: 2/2002/0054 – Adjacent site - Outline application to develop land for 
residential purposes - Approved
REFVAL: 2/2003/0508 – adjacent site -Erect 75 houses (including 11 No 
affordable houses) with associated garages, form vehicular access and car 
parking areas.  Approved.
REFVAL: 2/2015/0038/PDT- Telecommunications cabinet
REFVAL: 2/2003/0854 – enlarge surface water balancing pond and widen ditch

8.0 Relevant Constraints 

 Within settlement boundary of Sturminster Newton
 Group woodland TPO adjacent to the site
 Existing trees and hedgerows within the site

9.0 Consultations
(Consultee comments can be viewed in full on the website.)

Natural England – no objection subject to implementation of agreed BMEP
DC Natural Environment Team - awaited
DC LLFA – no objection subject to conditions
DC Highways – no objection subject to conditions and S106 contributions
DC Technical Officer - no objection subject to conditions
DC Archaeology – no objection
DC Planning Obligations – no objection subjection to contributions towards     
DC Urban Design -  no objection
DC Landscape – no objection
DC Tree Officer – no comment
Public Health Dorset - no comment
Clinical Commissioning Group – no objection subject to S106 contributions
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust – no objection subject to S106 contributions
Wessex Water – no objection
Housing Enabling – no objection
Dorset Waste Partnership – no comment
Dorset Fire & Rescue – no comment
Dorset Police – no comment

Sturminster Newton TC
Object – concerns relate to the following issues:

-Access
-Insufficient parking within the proposed development
-Road layout within the proposed development
-Density of dwellings

Page 105



-Privacy concerns
-Access and impact on existing road infrastructure and road safety

10.0 Representations 

A total of 20 public comments were received, 

One representation partially in support for the following reasons 

 The Houses are a good thing
 Support affordable housing provision

19 objections received raising the following concerns:-

 Increase in traffic lead to road safety issues especially at school drop off 
and pick up times

 Access arrangements are not safe
 Create a second access onto Manston Road
 Insufficient parking provision
 Loss of trees /open space to provide mini roundabout
 Wish to see green spaces and parks within the development
 Loss of privacy
 Lack of services & facilities, including school places in the town and new 

development would put extra pressure on them
 Lack of public transport
 Impact on biodiversity
 Risk to TPO’d trees within the site
 Would increase the risk of flooding
 Sewerage system inadequate
 Empty homes should be occupied before building more
 Density too great, 114 dwellings is more than envisaged for the site
 Should develop brownfield sites first
 No local employment available, journeys to work would increase carbon 

footprint
 Threatens country walks
 Land is at risk from contamination
 Site is of Archaeological Importance
 Question accuracy of Transport Assessment

11.0 Relevant Policies

North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (LPP1)

Page 106



Policy 1 – Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development
Policy 2 – Core Spatial Strategy
Policy 4 – The Natural Environment
Policy 5 – The Historic Environment
Policy 6 – Housing Distribution
Policy 8 – Affordable Housing
Policy 13 – Grey Infrastructure
Policy 14 – Social Infrastructure
Policy 15 – Green Infrastructure
Policy 19 – Sturminster Newton
Policy 23 – Parking
Policy 24 – Design
Policy 25 – Amenity

Saved Policies North Dorset District Local Plan 2003
Policy 1.7 – Settlement Boundaries
Policy 1.9 – Important Open/Wooded Areas (IOWA’s) within Settlements

Sturminster Newton Neighbourhood Plan (SNNP)
 
Policy 2. Important views and landscape sensitivity
Policy 4. Local green space
Policy 5. Other green spaces
Policy 6 . Trees in the landscape
Policy 7. Housing numbers and locations
Policy 8. Settlement boundary revisions
Policy 9. Housing Types
Policy 11. Open space and recreation provision and standards in new 
development
Policy 12. Delivering a safe and convenient travel network
Policy 14. Rural recreational trails
Policy 27. Protecting Honeymead and Northfields Character
Policy 28. Honeymead Lane Education and Leisure Hub
Policy 29. North Honeymeads Fields

The development of North Honeymead Fields (as shown on Map 14 area 3) 
will be supported provided all the following criteria are met:

 it is for housing or other uses that are compatible with a quiet, largely 
residential area. A mix of housing more suitable to families would be 
appropriate in this location 

 an area of green public open space is provided that extends the North 
Fields Open Space to the wider countryside (as indicated in the diagram). 
Other smaller areas of amenity green space should also be provided. 
Where opportunities arise, the hedgerows and tree coverage in this area 
should be extended 

Page 107



 there are no 2½ storey or taller, or otherwise conspicuous (e.g. through 
light coloured rendering), buildings either on the higher ground to the west 
or on land close to the countryside edge 

 the layout includes the provision of a landscaped recreational trail around 
the northern edge linking to the Leisure Centre, the retention of species-
rich hedgerows and any further measures that may be required as part of 
an approved biodiversity mitigation plan. The layout of the roads and 
buildings should be orientated to lead out to this trail, with landscaping 
included to further soften and create an attractive edge with the 
countryside 

 parking spaces, sufficient for the likely future occupants, are conveniently 
located to the dwellings they serve, and the streets and planting, designed 
to avoid on-street parking clutter 

 the permeable layout of the development, together with any reasonable 
traffic management measures secured for the wider local road network, 
ensures that the issues associated with parking along Honeymead Lane 
are not made worse and facilitates safe pedestrian movements 

 the potential for a district heating system, potentially linked with the 
adjoining education and leisure hub, has been explored and, if feasible, 
provision made for this within the development

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

As far as this application is concerned the following section(s) of the NPPF are 
considered to be relevant;

2. Achieving sustainable development
4. Decision-making
5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
6. Building a strong, competitive economy
8. Promoting healthy and safe communities
9. Promoting sustainable transport
11. Making effective use of land
12. Achieving well-designed places
14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
17. Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

Para 38 - Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed 
development in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of 
planning tools available, including brownfield registers and permission in 
principle, and work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-

Page 108



makers at every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable 
development where possible.

Other material considerations

Sturminster Newton Town Design Statement
North Dorset Landscape Character Assessment 2008
Bournemouth, Dorset & Poole Residential Parking Guidelines
National Design Guide

12.0 Human rights 

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party.

13.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty 

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their 
functions must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the neds of other people

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the 
Duty is to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in 
considering the merits of this planning application the planning authority has 
taken into consideration the requirements of the PSED.

The proposed development would result in the provision of up to 114 dwellings, 
including affordable housing provision within a sustainable location which 
benefits from access to facilities.  The dwellings would be built to the latest 
building regulations standards with regard to access for people with disabilities or 
mobility issues.

14.0 Financial benefits
 

Material benefits of the proposed development

Page 109



Housing Nos. Up to 114 dwellings
Affordable housing Nos 25% of 114 = 28.5  dwellings – precise 

numbers to be agreed through RM.
Green Infrastructure – natural /semi 
natural open  space
Allotments 0.11ha on-site or financial contribution
LEAP & LAP play areas
Sustainable drainage system

Financial contributions to be secured via S.106 agreement
Education contribution £6094 per dwelling with more than one 

bedroom
Libraries contribution £75 per dwelling
Surgery provision £9,120
Destination Play facilities £967.52 per dwelling
Destination play maintenance £359.36 per dwelling
Formal outdoor sports provision £1,318.80 per dwelling
Formal outdoor space maintenance £128.73 per dwelling
Allotments £308.16 per dwelling if not provided on-

site
Community, leisure & indoor sports 
facilities

£2,006.97 per dwelling

Sustainable Transport £100,000
Non-material benefits of the proposed development

Council Tax Unknown –outline application only
New Homes Bonus Unknown –outline application only

15.0 Planning Assessment of key issues

Principle of Development

Sturminster Newton is one of the 4 main towns identified for growth in the core 
spatial strategy policy 2 LPP1.  It is therefore considered a sustainable location 
for new development.  The site is identified to meet local housing needs under 
Policy 19 Sturminster Newton (LPP1).  In addition SNNP policy 29 allocates the 
site for residential development and policy 8 shows it within the settlement 
boundary.  Therefore in terms of the development plan as a whole the site is 
within the settlement boundary and allocated for residential development.  The 
principle of residential development is considered to be acceptable, subject to 
meeting the criteria set out in these and other relevant policies within the 
development plan.

Access and Highway safety 

Page 110



There were a number of representations expressing concern about the adequacy 
of the highway network to accommodate the traffic from the development, 
potential adverse impact on highway safety, particularly in relation to school drop 
off and pick up times and lack of parking within the scheme.

LPP1 Policy 13 Grey infrastructure requires the submission of Transport 
Assessments to assess the impact of new developments on the existing highway 
network, identification of any mitigation measures required and the production 
and implementation of Travel Plans.  NPPF para 108 requires safe and suitable 
access to the site to be provided for all users.

A Transport Assessment (TA), accompanied the application, which considered 
the likely impact that the development would have on the highway network in the 
vicinity of the site.  It also considered the sustainability of the development in 
terms of accessibility to and from the site. 

Vehicular access would be from North Fields from a new mini-roundabout 
junction.  An uncontrolled crossing point would be provided to the north of the 
junction and a raised table crossing located to the east of the roundabout.  The 
new junction has been subject to a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA), the 
findings of which have been accepted and agreed by the Highway Authority.  The 
exact layout and design of the internal road layout would be agreed at Reserved 
Matters stage.  Precise details of the access road design would be conditioned to 
be submitted prior to commencement of development.

Pedestrian access into the site would be via 2m footways either side of the 
access road and new footpaths links are proposed through the  open space area 
connecting  to existing track to the east and to facilitate future links in the north 
west corner to the Leisure centre.  Precise locations of these would be agreed at 
reserved matters stage.

The TA has used TRICS (Trip rate computer system) to provide likely traffic 
generation of the proposed development.  This is national standard for analysis 
of trip generation and tests various scenarios to calculate vehicular and multi-
modal trip rates.  In the opinion of the Highway Authority, the assessment 
complied with the recommendations of the TRICS Good Practice Guide 2013 
produced a robust daily trip generation for the proposed development. The 
results from the modelling show that all of these junctions are expected to 
operate well within capacity; considering the impact of vehicles on a number of 
pertinent junctions on the highway network.  

At the request of the Highway Authority, the applicant looked in depth at the 
junction of Honeymead Lane with Bath Road, due to the proximity of the nearby 
school and the on-street car parking that takes place in close proximity to the 
junction. Particular consideration was given to the AM peak hour (0800- 0900). 

Page 111



The modelling indicated that this junction would still operate well within 
operational capacity when the development traffic passes through it (effectively 
one extra vehicle every two minutes for the hour period). 

With regard to sustainable transport from the development site to nearby facilities 
and the town centre, the applicant has agreed to make a financial contribution 
towards the improvement of pedestrian and cycle routes identified in the 
neighbourhood plan i.e. Routes 3 (Town Centre Exchange to Leisure 
Centre/High School), and 7 (Butts Pond to N Field) identified by the Map 8 in 
accordance with policy 12 of the SNNP.  A further contribution to School 
Transport Planning would also be provided and a Transport Plan would be 
developed.

With reference to paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) - July 2018, consideration must be given to the residual cumulative 
impact of the development and whether it can be thought of as being "severe". 
The Highway Authority considers that the submitted Transport Statement is 
satisfactory and robust and that whilst traffic flows on the roads serving the site 
would obviously increase as a result of the proposed development, the residual 
cumulative impact of the development, in terms of highway safety and impact on 
the operation of the local highway network, cannot be thought to be "severe”.

Representations were made concerning the need for a second access for the site 
onto Manston Road.  This is not considered necessary as the proposed access 
from Northfields is acceptable, as set out above and a second access is not part 
of the consideration of this proposal.

Concerns were also raised about the level of parking however as this is an 
outline application with only access to be agreed the amount of parking is not 
being determined at this stage.  It would be part of a reserved matters application 
and would be provided in accordance with the Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
residential parking guidelines.  

Therefore subject to conditions requiring the submission of the detailed design of 
the access, a cycle parking scheme, implementation of the mini-roundabout, 
highway improvements, Travel Plan and agreement of construction management 
plan the proposal is acceptable in highway terms.  It therefore conforms to the 
requirements in NDLP policy 13, SNNP policy 12 and NPPF para 108, & 111.

The proposal also conforms to the requirement in Policy 29 of the SNNP to, 
Provide a permeable layout that does not exacerbate road safety issues related 
to parking on Honeymead Lane, and facilitates safe pedestrian movement.

Flood risk and drainage

Page 112



LPP1 policy 3 Climate Change bullet point e. requires development to avoid 
areas at risk of flooding from all sources and to incorporate measures to reduce 
flood risk overall.  A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Sustainable Surface 
Water Drainage Strategy has been prepared for the proposal.  

The site is within flood zone 1 (having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability 
flooding) which is the zone at the lowest risk of flooding from river or tidal sources 
where development should be directed towards.  In terms of surface water 
flooding the majority of the site is considered very low risk with small areas 
towards the south east classified as being at low risk which is expected due to 
the topography of the site.  An area lying to the east of the site in an area of high 
surface water flood risk associated with the existing attenuation pond and there is 
a surface water flow path along the south eastern boundary associated with the 
existing ditch network.

In considering all sources of flood risk (fluvial, tidal, surface water, groundwater, 
sewer and artificial) the FRA concluded that the site is at low risk of flooding.  
This is in terms of present day and future climate change considerations would 
not change this classification.

The SUD’s drainage Strategy aims to control runoff from impermeable areas at 
sources and attenuate through SUD’s features following the SUD’s hierarchy. 
The preferred method of discharge is to the existing drainage ditch located 
towards the south east of the site and the following features would be 
incorporated; 

 Permeable paving
 Filter drains
 Swales
 Dry swales/ detention basin

Drainage basins are proposed located within the open space areas around the 
northern and eastern edges of the site and swales along internal road network.

Foul drainage would connect into the existing Wessex Water public foul sewer at 
the south east corner of the site.  Wessex Water has confirmed that a150mm 
connection to the public foul sewer is acceptable for the foul flows from the 
development.  

Foul sewers in the vicinity of the site drain to the Field Close pumping station and 
Wessex Water would appraise the receiving foul sewers following the grant of 
planning consent and identify and construct any necessary improvement to 
accommodate the development.  Therefore Wessex Water has no objection to 
the proposal.

Dorset LLFA consider that the necessary detail has been provided to 
substantiate the proposed surface water strategy and so has no objection subject 

Page 113



to conditions.  These would require a detailed surface water management 
scheme and the maintenance and management of both the surface water 
sustainable drainage scheme and any receiving system to be submitted, agreed 
and implemented.  

A number of representations raised concern regarding flood risk and surface 
water drainage.  Following the submission of the FRA, agreed Sustainable 
surface water drainage strategy and no objection from the LLFA or Wessex 
Water I am content that the scheme complies with NDLP policy 3 point e. that the 
scheme avoids areas at risk of flooding from all sources and incorporates 
measures to reduce flood risk overall.

Trees and Landscape 

An Arboriculture survey and Landscape Visual Impact Assessment ( LVIA ) were 
undertaken to support the application.  

The Arboriculture survey describes three groups of trees within the site.  The first 
extending along the eastern boundary predominantly made up of English Elm 
with some coppiced Hazel and Hawthorn. The second a group extending along 
the western boundary predominately made up of Blackthorn and Elder with an 
individual mature Elm tree and the third a linear group of semi-mature, mixed 
species trees forming a belt along northern boundary of field.  Silver Birch, 
Cherry, and Field maple and the density of the original planting has resulted in 
suppression and missshaped canopies. 

All the trees on site are described as being within category C, low quality 
however the mature nature of the hedgerows and trees make a positive 
contribution to the landscape structure and character of the site.  The group on 
the eastern boundary was found to contain ancient woodland indicators during 
the site survey.

There are no Tree Preservation Orders (TPO’s) or Groups within the site 
however TPO 54/8/02 (Wooded Green Lane to North of Sturminster Newton) 
abuts the southern part of the eastern boundary, with some trees overhanging 
the site.  This wooded TPO area is also designated as part of an Important 
Open/Wooded Area (IOWA) in saved Policy 1.9 of the NDDLP and SNNP policy 
6 area 4 identifies it as part a tree coverage area where trees make a significant 
positive contribution to the character of the area.  

This important tree cover area abuts the proposed openspace area running along 
the eastern boundary thereby preventing adverse impact on the trees.  Concerns 
were raised about the impact of the proposed mini roundabout on TPO’d trees 
however the roundabout would be located further to the west and the  road and 
footways close to the TPO’d trees are already in existence.  Therefore it is 
considered that the proposal would not have an adverse impact on trees.  

Page 114



The LVIA describes Sturminster Newton as being situated in a broad undulating 
area know as the Blackwater Vale, at the end of a scarp running north/south 
containing the River Stour.  Hambledon Hill (6km away) features prominently in 
views from the town and Cranborne Chase AONB lies over 5km to the north east 
of the site but locally  landform provides containment as it gently rises to the 
northwest, towards the distinctive Yewstock Plantation/ Twinwood Coppice. 

The majority of visual effects are assessed as Minor adverse or Negligible 
adverse. There would be one Moderate adverse visual effect from North Fields 
adjacent to the site, where short term construction activities and the new housing 
would be dominant in the view. Over time the proposed housing in this view 
would be softened by maturing tree planting and the visual effect would reduce to 
Minor adverse.

The LVIA recommends the following mitigation measures;

 retention of the existing trees and hedgerows; 
 public parkland to wrap around the proposed housing, providing a soft, 

gradual transition to the countryside, linking the existing North Fields Open 
Space to the wider countryside; 

 provision of a mix of native and ornamental tree planting, shrubs and 
hedges throughout the site to integrate new housing and parking courts in 
their surrounds; 

 building heights limited on higher areas of the site to the west; and • 
management and maintenance of retained trees and vegetation in the 
longer term.

With the implementation of these measures it is considered that the proposal 
would maintain landscape character and not have an adverse impact on 
Cranborne Chase AONB or views from Hambledon Hill.  It is therefore in 
accordance with LPP1 policy 4 and SNNP policy 2 and 6.  

Biodiversity

Ecological surveys were undertaken for the site and a Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Plan developed.  This plan proposes;  
 

 Areas of retained woodland and hedgerow & proposed enhancement 
measures.  Including retention of the broad leaf plantation woodland to be 
managed to maintain it’s long term value, including sensitive thinning and 
an agreed design and route of a new woodland walk.  

 Buffer zones to the high quality boundary habitat along the northern and 
eastern boundaries.  

Page 115



 Approximately 6550 sqm of pubic open space incorporating native trees 
and shrub planting with know wildlife benefits together with Sustainable 
drainage features and species rich grassland.

 Bat roosting and bird nesting features

 Installation of a reptile hibernaculum

 Hedgehog nest boxes

 Approx 260 sqm of a zone provided for landscape, public realm and play

 Sensitive lighting strategy to protect features of ecological value from 
impacts of artificial light.

Dorset Council Natural Environment Team has agreed the BMEP.   Therefore 
provided conditions are imposed requiring the implementation of the BMEP and 
future retention and maintenance the proposal is considered acceptable in 
relation to protection and enhancement of biodiversity.

Green Infrastructure

The landscape and biodiversity mitigation together with the sustainable drainage 
features would form the overall green infrastructure framework for the site.  
Greater detail would be developed at the reserved matters stage where other 
elements of green infrastructure such; as street trees, amenity landscaping, 
verges etc would be provided to enhance the scheme.  It is important that the 
green infrastructure within the site is well linked to the overall green infrastructure 
network of the wider area.  

SNNP policy 4 identifies local green spaces including the wooded area to the 
east and open space to the south east.   It also highlights the importance of 
linking areas of open space and wildlife with green corridors including to Butts 
Pond local nature reserve and Green Lane and the countryside beyond.  One of 
the criteria with policy 29 requires ‘an area of green public open space to be 
provided that extends the North Fields Open Space to the wider countryside 
Other smaller areas of amenity green space should also be provided. Where 
opportunities arise, the hedgerows and tree coverage in this area should be 
extended’  

Under policy 15 of the LPP1 a development of this nature would be expected to 
provide a local area of play (LAP) and local equipped area of play (LEAP) on-
site. Allotments would also be required preferably on-site or via a financial 
contribution.  These on-site elements would be secured through a section 106 
agreement along with other off-site contributions to other community 
infrastructure. 

Page 116



It is considered that the proposal through the provision of landscape and 
biodiversity mitigation, sustainable drainage features, footpath links, play and 
allotments provision would provide all the elements necessary to create a well 
linked multifunctional green infrastructure network as required by LPP1 policy 15 
and SNNP policies 4, 5 & 6.   It would also meet the criteria in SNNP policy 29 in 
terms of ; 

 Provision of landscaped recreation trail around the northern edge linking 
to the Leisure centre, biodiversity mitigation, layout to lead out to the trail, 
and create an attractive edge to the with the countryside

 Provision of public open space that extends the North Fields open space 
to the wider countryside, smaller areas of green space and extension of 
hedgerows and tree cover

Affordable Housing

Within the settlement boundary of Sturminster Newton and any urban extension 
to the towns, 25% of the total number of dwellings should be affordable.   70% to 
85% of the affordable housing should be provided as affordable rented and/or 
social rented housing. The remaining 15% to 30% should be provided as 
intermediate housing. 

The Housing Enabling Officer has commented that there is a high level of need 
for affordable rented and social rented housing in North Dorset evidenced by the 
current households registered on Dorset Home Choice.  

In providing 25% affordable dwellings with a tenure split of 70/30 affordable 
rent/shared ownership this development would make a contribution to meeting 
the affordable provision across the North Dorset area.  The affordable element 
would  need to be secured in perpetuity by a S106 agreement which is the 
customary method operated across the Dorset Council area.  Affordable housing 
should be designed to be indistinguishable from other housing on a development 
site and be pepper-potted amongst the market housing.

Therefore provided the 25% affordable housing in a 70/30 rented/shared 
ownership tenure split is secured through the Section 106 agreement the 
proposal would comply with policy 8 of the LPP1.

Heritage Assets

There are no designated heritage assets within 200m of the site. The nearest 
Listed Buildings are within Sturminster Newton 450 m to the southwest and the 

Page 117



edge of Hinton St Mary, over 800 m to the north. Hambleton Hill Camp, a 
Scheduled Monument lies on higher ground over 5 km to the southeast. 

Though not formally designated, the sites’ southeast boundary hedgerow 
contains ancient woodland indicators and could therefore be considered as a 
non-designated heritage asset.  In addition, there is an historic record of a 
medieval ridge and furrow near Yewstock 160m from the site.

Local Plan policy 5 states that great weight should be given to conservation of 
designated heritage assets and there must be clear and convincing justification 
for any harm to the significance, whether through direct physical impact or by 
change to its setting.  Similarly for any harm to the significance of a non- 
designated heritage assets regard should be given to the to the desirability of 
sustaining and enhancing the significance of the asset; the scale of any harm or 
loss; and the significance of the heritage asset.

Given the distances from any designated heritage assets it is not considered that 
the development of the site would cause harm to the significance of the assets or 
their setting.

Dorset Council Archaeologist has commented that Dorset Historic Environment 
Record refers to ridge-and-furrow being recorded in the field to the north and 
north-west of the present site.  Ridge-and-furrow are earthworks resulting from 
the type of ploughing employed in the Middle Ages. The field and site of present 
proposal have been ploughed in recent times. Hence these earthworks would 
have been lost and he does not believe that anything of great archaeological 
importance associated with them would survive beneath the ploughsoil.  
Therefore there is no requirement for any further archaeological investigation for 
this site.

The ancient woodland indicators within the south east boundary hedgerow would 
be retained and enhanced through the landscape and biodiversity mitigation 
proposals including the provision of buffers and open space areas to provide 
substantial separation from the built development.  Therefore it is considered that 
the proposal would not cause harm to the non-designated asset or it’s setting.

Design and amenity

This is an outline application with only access to be determined at this stage and 
so layout, scale, appearance, and landscaping would be submitted as reserved 
matters at a later date.  

The application however is accompanied by an illustrative layout to demonstrate 
how up to 114 units could be accommodated on the site.  The layout 
incorporates all the elements of the green infrastructure framework described 
above and is laid out in a perimeter block form with positive frontages over 

Page 118



looking the open space areas and footpaths to provide natural surveillance.  The 
road hierarchy consists of traditional roads with footways on both sides and 
shared surfaces.  There is a mix of detached, semi-detached, terraced and 
flatted properties with garages, on-plot parking or parking courts.  

The density equates to 30 dph and this scheme shows:

 13 No one bed flats
 7 No two bed flats
 44 No two bed houses
 37 No three bed houses
 8 No four bed houses
 5 No five bed houses

DC Urban Design Officer is content that the illustrative layout demonstrates that 
114 dwellings could be accommodated on the site in an acceptable manner that 
would conform to NDDLP policy 24.  114 dwellings is in excess of the 100 
dwelling figure (depending on the type and layout)  suggested in the supporting 
text of SNNP policy 29 however the number is an up to figure and so the precise 
number would be determined at the reserved matters stage.   

The Town Council and others were concerned about the density of the proposal 
however I consider that the density is appropriate for the site and the illustrative 
layout shows that up to 114 dwellings could be accommodated satisfactorily.  
Comparatively the development at Northfields has a density of 42.5 dph, 
Dashwood Close 25.7, and combined 30 dph.

A number of representations were concerned about the loss of privacy, 
particularly where properties were shown backing onto the southern boundary.  
The layout is for illustrative purposes only and the distances between properties 
and positioning of windows that would effect privacy would be dealt with at 
reserved matters.  However the distances between existing and proposed 
properties on the southern boundary appear to be generally acceptable and 
unlikely to cause a serious loss of privacy the proposal would therefore conform 
to policy 25 of the LPP1. 

In addition, the detailed design would need to be in compliance with criteria listed 
in SNNP policy 29 including:

 there are no 2½ storey or taller, or otherwise conspicuous (e.g. through 
light coloured rendering), buildings either on the higher ground to the west 
or on land close to the countryside edge

 parking spaces, sufficient for the likely future occupants, are conveniently 
located to the dwellings they serve, and the streets and planting, designed 
to avoid on-street parking clutter

Page 119



 it is for housing or other uses that are compatible with a quiet, largely 
residential area. A mix of housing more suitable to families would be 
appropriate in this location

Further criteria in policy 29 requires developers to explore  the potential for a 
district heating system, potentially linked with the adjoining education and leisure 
hub, and, if feasible, provision made for this within the development.  The 
applicant has considered this and makes the following assessment concluding 
that it is not feasible given the costs involved for a relatively small housing 
development.

Community Combined Heat and Power (CHP), or district heating systems, 
is a form of decentralised heating which is ideally suited for large, mixed-
use developments where there is a diversity of energy uses and ongoing 
demand. These features allow electricity to be generated for extended 
periods and minimise the risk of an over-generation of heat. 

The size of the proposed development, up to 114 units, makes the 
establishment of a site-wide heat distribution network impractical and 
exorbitantly expensive. The cost of pipe runs alone is in the region of £500 
per metre and therefore the total cost of the community heating would be 
significant and likely affect the viability of the site.

In light of the current economic conditions, it is more appropriate for the 
development to implement more cost effective measures to achieve a 
sustainable reduction in energy demand and subsequent carbon 
emissions. There are also concerns that the operation of any CHP engine 
would create noise emissions which could disturb local residents and 
adversely affect amenity. It is also possible that the installation of a CHP 
network in the locality could have a detrimental effect on air quality 
standards. 

For these reasons it is deemed inappropriate and overly expensive to 
accommodate such a system at the application site.

Community Infrastructure via section 106

A number of representations were concerned that the development would place 
an unacceptable strain on existing services and facilities including school places 
in the town.  LPP1 Policies 13, 14 and 15 Grey, Green & Social infrastructure set 
out general infrastructure requirements for new developments and Policy 19 
Sturminster Newton identifies the needs within the town itself.  In addition, SNNP 
policies 11, 12, 29, provide more detail of specific facilities and projects.  

Page 120



Consultees have responded with requests for financial contributions to 
community infrastructure as a result of the impact of the development and 
discussions have taken place with the town council regarding provision of 
facilities on-site or through financial contributions.  From this information a list of 
Section 106 requirements has been developed and agreed with the applicant.

In order for the Council to require the applicant to enter into a section 106 
obligation to make such payments, the contributions must meet the requirements 
of Regulation 122 (2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) which are also reflected in government policy in the NPPF at 
paragraph 56 and the NPPG.

Regulation 122 (2) provides that:

A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission for the development if the obligation is—
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
(b) directly related to the development; and
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

It is considered that all the Section 106 contributions set out in the table below 
meet these CIL tests.   With these provisions the development meets the 
requirements of NDDLP policies 13,14,15 & 19 and SNNP policies 11,12, and 29 
and so would not adversely effect existing services and facilities.

Community Infrastructure On-site provision/ financial 
contribution

Local Area of Play (LAP) On-site provision
Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP ) On-site provision
Destination Play Facilities

- Multi-use games area and / or 
Skate park in Sturminster 
Newton

£967.52 per dwelling

Destination play maintenance £359.36 per dwelling
Formal Outdoor Sports

- Improvements to the training 
and all weather pitches in 
Sturminster Newton

£1,318.80 per dwelling
and/or provision of land in lieu of 
contribution.

Maintenance £128.73 per dwelling
Allotments
One 250 sqm plot for every 60 people

0.11ha on-site provision or 
£308.16 per dwelling

Community, Leisure & Indoor Sports 
Facilities

- Improvements to Honeymead 
Lane Education and Leisure hub

£2,006.97 per dwelling

Page 121



Sustainable Transport

School Travel Planning

Cycle and Pedestrian routes

£30,000 Total contribution

£70,000 Total contribution

Education £6094 per dwelling (with more than one 
bedroom)

Libraries £75 per dwelling
Clinical Commissioning Group

- Surgery provision in Sturminster 
Newton

£9,120 total contribution

All contributions are index linked using RPI from the date of this committee report

Salisbury NHS Foundation Hospital Trust has made representations seeking 
£213,945 in respect of the impacts they contend arise from the proposed 
development. These representations constitute material considerations in 
principle. However, such contributions may only be required if they meet all 
legal/policy tests relevant to seeking such contributions. 

Having carefully reviewed the consultation responses provided by the Salisbury 
NHS Foundation Hospital Trust officers do not consider that information provided 
demonstrates that the need for the contributions has been clearly justified or 
evidenced as being directly related to the development or fairly and reasonably 
related in scale and kind to the development. It cannot be concluded that it is 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.  A number of 
appeal decisions were submitted as part of the justification for the contribution 
however these are regarded as superficial and not a material consideration given 
the circumstances of the scheme.  

16.0 Conclusion

Para 11 c) of the NPPF,  the presumption in favour of sustainable development, 
requires decision takers to approve development proposals that accord with an 
up to date development plan without delay.  This site is identified for growth in 
the NDDLP and allocated for residential development in the SNNP.  A list of 
criteria is attached to policy 29 that allocates the site for residential development 
and it is considered that the outline proposal meets those criteria that are to be 
determined at this stage.  

The proposal is acceptable in terms of access and highways safety, flood risk 
and drainage, impact on trees, landscape character, biodiversity, and heritage 
assets.   It would make appropriate provision for affordable housing, green and 

Page 122



other community infrastructure through a section 106 planning obligations and is  
therefore acceptable in planning terms and so should be approved.

17.0 RECOMMENDATION 

Recommendation A: Delegate authority to the Head of Planning to grant 
planning permission subject to conditions and the completion of a S106 legal 
agreement to secure the contributions listed above. 

Planning Conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:
-Location Plan received on 17th December 2018
-Means of Access Plan No 183862 A01 Rev A dated 30.04.18.
-Landscape Biodiversity Parameter Plan dated 8th November 2019.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

2. Application for approval of any reserved matters must be made not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission. 

Reason: This condition is required by to be imposed by Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
 

3. Approval of the details of, layout, scale, and appearance of the building(s), 
and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called the Reserved Matters) 
shall be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any 
development is commenced. 

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4. No development must commence until details of the access, geometric 
highway layout, turning and parking areas have been submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site 

5. The development hereby permitted must not be occupied or utilised until a 
scheme showing precise details of the proposed cycle parking facilities is 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Any such scheme requires 
approval to be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme must be constructed before the development is 

Page 123



commenced and, thereafter, must be maintained, kept free from 
obstruction and available for the purpose specified. 

Reason: To ensure the proper construction of the parking facilities and to 
encourage the use of sustainable transport modes.

6. Prior to occupation of  the development hereby approved the following 
works must have been constructed to the specification of the Local 
Planning Authority: 

 The provision of a mini-roundabout as shown on Dwg No 
183862_A01 Rev A 

Reason: These specified works are seen as a pre-requisite for allowing 
the development to proceed, providing the necessary highway 
infrastructure improvements to mitigate the likely impact of the proposal

7. Prior to commencement of the development a Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The CTMP must include: 

• construction vehicle details (number, size, type and frequency of 
movement) 
• a programme of construction works and anticipated deliveries 
• timings of deliveries so as to avoid, where possible, peak traffic 
periods 
• a framework for managing abnormal loads 
• contractors’ arrangements (compound, storage, parking, turning, 
surfacing and drainage)

 • wheel cleaning facilities 
• vehicle cleaning facilities 
• a scheme of appropriate signing of vehicle route to the site 
• a route plan for all contractors and suppliers to be advised on 
• temporary traffic management measures where necessary 

The development must be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved Construction Traffic Management Plan. 

Reason: to minimise the likely impact of construction traffic on the 
surrounding highway network and prevent the possible deposit of loose 
material on the adjoining highway. 

8. Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a Travel Plan 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
The Travel Plan, as submitted, will include: 

 Targets for sustainable travel arrangements. 
 Effective measures for the on-going monitoring of the Travel Plan. 

Page 124



 A commitment to delivering the Travel Plan objectives for a period 
of at least five years from first occupation of the development. 
 Effective mechanisms to achieve the objectives of the Travel Plan 
by the occupiers of the development 

The development must be implemented only in accordance with the 
approved Travel Plan. 

Reason: In order to reduce or mitigate the impacts of the development 
upon the local highway network and surrounding neighbourhood by 
reducing reliance on the private car for journeys to and from the site.

9. As part of the reserved matters application footpath links shall be provided 
through the development up to the boundary with the football ground site 
in the north-west corner to facilitate future pedestrian access to the 
Leisure Centre, and at three points through the eastern open space area 
to the track located to the east of the site.  

Reason: To ensure satisfactory pedestrian permeability and linkage with 
the surrounding area. 

10.  Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved a detailed 
surface water management scheme for the site, based upon the 
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, and 
including clarification of how surface water is to be managed during 
construction, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The surface water scheme shall be fully implemented 
in accordance with the submitted details before the development is 
completed. 

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect 
water quality, and to improve habitat and amenity.

11.Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved details of 
maintenance & management of both the surface water sustainable 
drainage scheme and any receiving system have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with 
the approved details. These should include a plan for the lifetime of the 
development, the arrangements for adoption by any public body or 
statutory undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of 
the surface water drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage 
system, and to prevent the increased risk of flooding. 

Page 125



12.Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved the mitigation 
measures as detailed in the Biodiversity Mitigation Plan dated 8 November 
2019 shall be completed in full. 

Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity.

13.Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by a qualified 
arboriculturalist providing comprehensive details of construction works in 
relation to trees that have the potential to be affected by the development 
must be submitted to, and agreed in writing by the Council. All works must 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. In particular, the 
method statement must provide the following: 

a) a specification for protective fencing to trees and hedges during 
construction phases which complies with BS5837 (2012) and a plan 
indicating the alignment of the protective fencing; 
b) a specification for scaffolding of building works and ground protection 
within the tree protection zones in accordance with BS5837 (2012); 
c) a schedule of tree work conforming to BS3998; 
d) details of the area for storage of materials, concrete mixing and any 
bonfires; 
e) plans and particulars showing proposed cables, pipes and ducts above 
and below ground as well as the location of any soakaway or water or 
sewerage storage facility; 
f) details of any no-dig specification for all works within the root protection 
area for retained trees: 
g) details of the supervision to be carried out by the developers tree 
specialist; 

Reason: This information is required to be submitted and agreed before 
any work starts on site to ensure that the trees and hedges deemed 
worthy of retention on-site will not be damaged prior to, or during the 
construction works.

14.Prior to the occupation of the development hereby approved a lighting 
strategy to reduce the use of artificial light sources and in accordance with 
‘Guidance note 08/18 Bats and Artificial Light in the UK’ shall be submitted 
to and agreed by the local planning authority.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the agreed strategy.  

Reason: To protect biodiversity.

15.Landscape mitigation measures outlined in Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment by The Landmark Trust dated November 2018 shall be 
included in the reserved matters application.

Page 126



Reason: To preserve landscape character within the locality.

16.Prior to the submission of reserved matters a Landscape and
Ecology Management Plan (LEMP), prepared by a qualified ecologist, 
shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority.   
It shall include long term management prescriptions for; retained and 
proposed hedgerows and woodland, open spaces and SUDs features. 
The agreed management regimes shall be implemented in accordance 
with the agreed LEMP.
 
Reason: To ensure the management, maintenance, and long-term
landscape and ecological objectives are met.

Informatives:

Informative note: Development team. 
The applicant is advised that, notwithstanding this consent, if it is intended that 
the highway layout be offered for public adoption under Section 38 of the 
Highways Act 1980, the applicant should contact Dorset Council’s Development 
team. They can be reached by telephone at 01305 225401, by email at 
dli@dorsetcc.gov.uk, or in writing at Development team, Infrastructure Service, 
Dorset Council, Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ. 

Informative note: Grampian 
The highway improvements referred to in the recommended condition above 
must be carried out to the specification and satisfaction of the Highway Authority 
in consultation with the Local Planning Authority and it will be necessary to enter 
into an agreement, under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980, with the 
Highway Authority, before any works commence on the site. 

Informative note:
 If the applicant wishes to offer for adoption any highways drainage to 

DC, they should contact DC Highway’s Development team at 
DLI@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk as soon as possible to ensure that any highways 
drainage proposals meet DC’s design requirements. 

 Prior Land Drainage Consent (LDC) may be required from DC’s FRM 
team, as relevant LLFA, for all works that offer an obstruction to flow to a channel 
or stream with the status of Ordinary Watercourse (OWC) – in accordance with 
s23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991. The modification, amendment or realignment 
of any OWC associated with the proposal under consideration, is likely to require 
such permission. We would encourage the applicant to submit, at an early stage, 
preliminary details concerning in-channel works to the FRM team. LDC enquires 
can be sent to floodriskmanagement@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk.

Page 127

mailto:floodriskmanagement@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Informative note:
The Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service would recommend that you 
look to provide at least a 32mm minimum diameter water main which would 
enable the installation of sprinkler systems within the approved dwelling(s). The 
Council considers this to be a key element in reducing the impact of fires. The 
Council believes there is compelling evidence that sprinklers systems are a cost 
effective way of not only reducing the number of fire deaths and injuries, but also 
reducing the economic, social and environmental impact of fires.

Recommendation B: Refuse permission for the reasons set out below if the 
S106 agreement is not completed within 6 months of the date of the committee 
resolution or such extended time as agreed by the Head of Planning.

1. Policy 8 of the adopted North Dorset District Local Plan Part 1 2016 
requires a minimum on-site provision of 25% of the units as affordable 
housing. In the absence of a planning obligation to secure these affordable 
units the scheme would fail to meet the substantial unmet need for affordable 
housing in the district and the proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy 8 
of the adopted Local Plan. 

2. Policies 13,14 and 15 of the adopted  North Dorset District Local Plan Part 
1 2016 sets out that where new development will generate the need for new 
or improved community infrastructure.  In the absence of a planning obligation 
to secure the required community infrastructure the scheme would fail to 
mitigate the increase in demand for the necessary infrastructure to support 
the development. It would namely fail to provide for:

Education;
Libraries;
Health facilities;
Children’s play provision;
Maintenance of play provision;
Destination play facilities;
Maintenance of Destination play facilities
Formal outdoor Sports;
Maintenance of outdoor sports facilities;
Allotments;
Community, Leisure and Indoor Sports Facilities;
Sustainable Transport;

In the absence of a planning obligation to secure the required community 
infrastructure, the proposal(s) would fail to meet the provisions of, and be 
contrary to, Policies 13,14,15 of the North Dorset District Local Plan Part 1 
2016 and the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

Page 128



1.0 Application Number – 2/2018/1486/FUL 

Site address: Hawkes Field Farm , Hillside, Hilton, DT11 0DN

Proposal: Erect 1 No. dwelling

Applicant name: Mr & Mrs M Gillard

Case Officer: Mr J Lytton-Trevers

Ward Member: Cllr Jill Haynes

REASON APPLICATION IS GOING TO COMMITTEE: At request of Head of 
Planning.

2.0 Summary of Recommendation: APPROVE subject to conditions 

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:

 This is an established horse racing and training yard. There is a good set 
of stables, as well as an all-weather gallop on-site. To function properly in 
the future the owner/manager does need to live on-site, which in turn frees 
up the office building to return to an office and staff rest area. 

 Sufficient information has been provided to demonstrate the business is 
making an annual profit and is financially sound.   

 The dwelling would be of a size, design and siting to meet the need.

4.0 Table of key planning issues 

Issue Conclusion
Principle of development The full time, functional and financial 

tests are met.
Alternative Accommodation There are no alternative dwellings in 

close proximity and the office should be 
returned to its original use as an office 
rather than continue to be used as a 
dwelling.

Type and Size of Accommodation The dwelling would be of appropriate 
size to meet the needs of the 
enterprise.

The accommodation is appropriately 
sited

The dwelling would be in sight and 
sound of the enterprise.

Character and appearance of the Area 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty

The design is acceptable and the 
landscape of the AONB would be 
preserved.

Other matters There are no significant issues.

Page 129

Agenda Item 5d

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=documents&keyVal=PGR0M8LHIHL00


5.0 Description of Site

Hawkes Field Farm is located between the villages of Hilton and Ansty.  It is in an 
elevated position within chalk downland designated within the Dorset Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It is accessed from the road through a field gate.  
Bridleway E10/30 passes through the site and joins footpath E10/29.  There is 
one principal equine barn consisting of 20 loose boxes and a converted office 
barn, currently being used for accommodation for the applicants.  There is an all-
weather horse gallop across the farm.  It totals 30 acres.  

6.0 Description of Development

The proposal is to build an occupational dwelling near the existing stables. The 
accommodation would be a 3 bedroom house with an internal floor area to be 
140 m2.  The applicants run a horse racing business.  The existing office block 
and converted accommodation would continue to be the racing yard office but 
rather than the owners residing in the residential part, it would be used as staff 
rest room and temporary accommodation for staff that needed to stay overnight.

7.0 Relevant Planning History  

Application: 2/2014/0085/PLNG
Proposal: Erect 1 No. haystore and storage container (retrospective) and 1 No. 

tractor/storage (for horsebox)  barn.
Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 21.08.2014

Application: 2/2013/1403/PLNG
Proposal: Application to vary Condition No. 2 against Planning Permission 

2/2011/0584 to allow amendments as shown on submitted plans.  Form 
external stairs and door on north elevation, form 1 No. window on south 
elevation, amend roofing to profile sheeting, change position of window 
and door on east elevation and amend internal layout as shown on the 
floor plan.

Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 05.03.2014

Application: 2/2011/0584/PLNG
Proposal: Erect new building and single storey extension to existing building.
Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 08.07.2011

Application: 2/2008/0309
Proposal: Change of use of land and buildings from agriculture to equestrian use.
Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 15.05.2008

Page 130



Application: 2/2007/1141
Proposal: Change of use from agricultural (Sui Generis) to agricultural/equestrian 

(Sui Generis, Class D2)
Decision: Refuse
Decision Date: 17.12.2007

8.0 List of Constraints 
Agricultural Land Grade - Grade: GRADE 3
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty - Name: Dorset
Public Rights of Way - Route Code: E10/30, Path Type: Bridleway

9.0 Consultations

Wessex Water 
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 5 December 2018 are 
as follows: 
No objection.

Transport Development Management 
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 14 December 2018 
are as follows: 
No objection conditional of turning and parking construction.

Rights Of Way 
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 2 January 2019 are 
as follows: 
Comment
Within vicinity of a right of way.

Independent land agent
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 29 October 2019 are 
as follows: 
Support.

Abbey Ward 
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 23 February 2019 are 
as follows: 
Request for committee decision.
The design and location of the proposed dwelling would be damaging to the 
appearance of the Dorset AONB.

Hilton Parish Council 
Consulted on the 3 December 2018, their comments dated 9 January 2019 are 
as follows: 
Comment

Page 131



The proposed building would not be suitable in the Dorset AONB & outside the 
village settlement boundary. 
The design of the building features large windows which would cause light 
pollution at night, especially as the site is elevated. 
The construction materials & height of the proposed property also raised 
concerns. 
Concern was raised over the building of a property connected to a business, 
what happens to the property once the business ceases to trade? 
Request that this application is sent to the Planning Committee.

10.0 Representations 

19 letters of representation were received, of which 0 offered comments which 
neither supported nor objected to the proposal, 12 objected to the proposal and 7 
supported the proposal.

12 Objections:
Prominent, high ground and would be harmful to the Dorset Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.
The dwelling would be 7.65m to ridge height with large windows on the first floor 
of the west, east and south elevations which have undoubtedly been designed to 
take advantage of the distant views towards the Dorset Gap, Purbeck Hills and 
the Hilton/Milton Abbey valley. 
At night, light from these windows would appear as a beacon.
The materials, brick with stained timber cladding are not vernacular.
The Training Yard has been based at Hawkes Field Farm since 2008 with the 
owner living approximately 5 miles away and has, according to the Appraisal, 
grown during that time without anyone living on site. It is therefore difficult to 
understand why this has suddenly become a necessity.
Question if a hobby business.
Existing tracks and buildings unsightly.
Previous enforcement in respect of a noisy generator.
Retrospective permission was sought for a hay and tractor store.
A footpath through the site is obstructed and has been ever since the stables 
were built.
The site is currently appears to be used for the disposal of commercial waste by 
burning and for textile recycling.
The office building appears to be used as a dwelling.
The business has been established for at least three years, it has been profitable 
for at least one.

7 Supporters:
Brings commerce to the area (employing staff, local petrol, shopping in local 
stores, hay and bedding from local farmers, mechanics to fix all machinery and 
vehicles, local farrier, local saddlery for repairs, local feed merchant, local Pub).

Page 132



The applicants need to live on site to run business and ensure health and 
security of horses.
The building would enhance the landscape.
Terrain is good for horse riding.
Have known the applicants for many years.

11.0 Relevant Policies

North Dorset Local Plan Part 1 (2011-2031):

Policy 1 - Sustainable Development
Policy 4 - The Natural Environment
Policy 23 - Parking
Policy 24 - Design
Policy 25 - Amenity
Policy 33 - Occupational Dwellings

National Planning Policy Framework (2019):

1.            Introduction
2.            Achieving sustainable development
4.            Decision-making
6.            Building a strong, competitive economy
8.            Promoting healthy and safe communities
12.         Achieving well-designed places
15.         Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

172. Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and 
scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. 
The conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also 
important considerations in these areas, and should be given great weight in 
National Parks and the Broads. The scale and extent of development within 
these designated areas should be limited.

Dorset AONB Management Plan 2019-2024

12.0 Human rights (standard text)

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.
The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party.

Page 133



13.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty (standard text)

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their 
functions must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the neds of other people

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the 
Duty is to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in 
considering the merits of this planning application the planning authority has 
taken into consideration the requirements of the PSED.

Arrangements would be made to ensure people with disabilities or mobility 
impairments are accommodated in order to comply with Building Regulations.

14.0 Financial benefits

Jobs would be created during the construction stage.
Jobs would be created by improving the running of the racing stables with the 
enhanced accommodation and ability to undertake its ongoing management.
The dwelling would generate council tax and the enterprise business rates.

15.0 Climate Implications

The dwelling would be designed to meet current building regulations which would 
help reduce the carbon footprint of the ongoing heating and running of the 
building.

16.0 Planning Assessment

Principle

The principle of occupational dwellings to meet the needs of a rural enterprise is 
supported by the NPPF in paragraphs 78 and 79 and policy 33 which requires a 
proven full time, functional and financial justification for the dwelling.  The 
applicants’ case for a dwelling to support the horse racing business is considered 
below.

The NPPF sets out in paragraphs 78 and 79:
'To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located 
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning 
policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially 

Page 134



where this will support local services. Where there are groups of smaller 
settlements, development in one village may support services in a village nearby. 

Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes 
in the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply: 

a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority 
control of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in 
the countryside; 
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage 
assets; 
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting; 
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential 
dwelling; or 
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it: 
- is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in 
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in rural 
areas; and 
- would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the 
defining characteristics of the local area. 

Policy 33 of the Local Plan sets out for occupational dwellings in the countryside 
the following policy:
Permanent Occupational Dwellings 
A new permanent dwelling for an agricultural, forestry or rural worker will only be 
permitted if: 
a) the need relates to a full-time worker and does not relate to a part-time 
requirement; and 
b) there is an essential existing functional need for a worker to live at, or in the 
immediate vicinity of, their place of work; and 
c) the economic viability of the enterprise to which the proposed dwelling relates 
can be demonstrated by satisfying the 'financial test' applied by the Council; and 
d) the functional need could not be fulfilled by any other means; and 
e) it is of the minimum size and an appropriate design commensurate with the 
established functional requirement and reflective of the enterprise's financial 
projections; and 
f) it is sited so as to meet the identified functional need and is well-related to 
existing farm, forestry or rural business buildings, or other dwellings. 

Temporary Agricultural Workers' Dwellings 
A new temporary dwelling for an agricultural worker will only be permitted if: 
g) the need relates to a full-time worker and does not relate to a part-time 
requirement; and 

Page 135



h) it is essential to support a new farming activity for which there is a clearly 
established functional need for the worker to live on or in the vicinity of the 
holding; and 
i) the economic viability of the enterprise to which the proposed dwelling relates 
can be demonstrated by satisfying the 'financial test' applied by the Council; and 
j) the functional need could not be fulfilled by any other means; and 
k) it takes the form of a caravan, a wooden structure, or other temporary 
accommodation of the minimum size required to support the proposed new 
farming activity. 

As this application is for a permanent dwelling to house the owner/manager of 
the business, it is evaluated as follows.

Full-time Test
The need relates to a full-time worker and does not relate to a part-time 
requirement.

The running of the racing yard and business would relate to a full-time 
requirement. 

The Functional Test
There is an essential existing functional need for a worker to live at, or in the 
immediate vicinity of, their place of work.

The applicants operated a Racing and Textile Recycling Business from Elm Tree 
Farm from 1990.  The applicants moved the Racing Business to Hawkes Field 
Farm in 2008.  A member of staff lived full-time on-site for licensing purposes 
from that date, in an existing caravan, which was replaced in 2010.  Permission 
was granted for the office/staff room building in 2011 and erected in 2013.  The 
office building has been converted to provide residential accommodation for the 
applicants (without permission). 

The applicants vacated Elm Tree Farm in April 2018.  The office activities of Elm 
Tree Textiles were relocated to Hawkes Field Farm, while the warehousing 
remained and still remains at additional storage facilities nearby. The Textile 
Collection Vehicles are currently parked overnight at Hawkes Field Farm, and the 
necessary Environmental Waste permits have recently been granted to Hawkes 
Field Farm to facilitate the activities of Elm Tree Textiles at the site. 

Up to 20 race horses are kept and trained at the farm. These, like many race 
horses are either client owned or owned by the business, or a combination of the 
two.  The yard is managed by the applicants who employ four grooms/riders (one 
part-time) and two yard assistants.

In running this racing yard there will be daily tasks such as; mucking out, feeding, 
grooming etc. but also the training and exercising the horses each day.  There 

Page 136



will be a requirement to inspect the horses outside normal working hours. This 
will be particularly important for returning horses after a racing day. Such horses 
can leave early and be returned to the yard late. They are likely to travel some 
considerable distance to and from races. For a yard of 20 horses in-training, 
there will be several horses leaving and returning at different times, destined for 
different racing events.  The owners of the horses require the stables to have on-
site care to ensure their welfare at all times, without on-site accommodation this 
would not be possible and therefore the business would not be able to operate.  
To manage the yard and horses correctly, there would be a functional 
requirement for a suitably qualified person to be available on the yard at all times. 

The textile recycling business's office activities and overnight storage of textile 
collection vehicles are based at Hawkes Field Farm. However, these functions do 
not detract from the principal purpose or functional need to live on-site to run the 
equine racing yard.  Therefore, on this basis, there is a functional need for a rural 
worker to reside at this site.

From the evidence this is an established racing yard. There is a good set of 
stables all within one larger barn that is being occupied by up to 20 horses. There 
is also an all-weather gallop on hand. For these reasons the business is well 
established and has the infrastructure to remain a racing yard and horse training 
holding.  Because of the number of horses that are both being trained on-site as 
well as moving back and forth to racing events, it is impractical to run the unit 
without accommodation on-site. Animal welfare considerations, as well as the 
disinclination of horse owners to leave their horses on an unoccupied site, all 
support the case for accommodation. 
 
Financial Test
The economic viability of the enterprise to which the proposed dwelling relates 
can be demonstrated by satisfying the 'financial test' applied by the Council 

The applicants run two businesses, the racing yard as well as a non-equine 
textile recycling business. The applicants’ accountant has provided (on a 
confidential basis) the profit and loss accounts for years 2015 – 2019 and the 
balance sheets for 2017 - 2019.  These show a consistent net profit above the 
living wage plus a balance to reflect a return for the business. The balance 
sheets show the business is financially sound.

On the evidence the yard is being run on a commercial basis and the financial 
return shown in the profit and loss accounts is sufficient to demonstrate the 
business is viable. The capital balance sheets show the business is financially 
sound.

Page 137



Alternative Accommodation 

The requirement is whether the functional need could not be fulfilled by any other 
means.  The racing yard is in an isolated location. The nearby village of Hilton is 
too far away to meet the functional need.

The question of retaining the existing office accommodation as the principal 
dwelling is constrained by the following:
The office accommodation would require significant alterations;
There would be insufficient space to also accommodate a staff room or overnight 
sleeping areas; and,
The ability to entertain clients or manage various aspects of the business, 
separated from a staff area would be curtailed.

There are benefits for the staff rest room to be separated from the main 
residence of the manager/proprietor. As the existing office building is already 
designed for the office and staff rest area, it would be more pertinent and 
practical to provide a separate dwelling for the manager rather than retain the 
office as the key worker accommodation and build a new staff facility. 

Type and Size of Accommodation

The requirement is that the dwelling is of the minimum size and an appropriate 
design commensurate with the established functional requirement and reflective 
of the enterprise's financial projections.

The bench mark floor area for newly constructed North Dorset rural farm 
manager's dwellings has been set at a GIA of 140 m2. This figure was derived 
from 120m2 for the living area and 20m2 for office and store. The proposed 
design sets out that the GIA would be 140 m2. However, in this case the yard 
already benefits from an office, so there would be a case to reduce the size of 
the proposed dwelling by 20 m2. However, the applicants also seeks overnight 
accommodation for visiting horse owners, so the extra space would be beneficial 
to the business.  The amount of accommodation is considered to be appropriate.

The accommodation is appropriately sited

The requirement is that it is sited so as to meet the identified functional need and 
is well-related to existing farm, forestry or rural business buildings, or other 
dwellings.   The location, from a rural point of view, would be good being near to 
the stables.

Character and appearance of the AONB

The land is on high ground and set back from the road and is almost skyline 
when viewed from some directions.  The buildings which already exist form a 

Page 138



group to which the proposal would sit alongside.  In this respect it would not 
create undue additional massing when seen in this context.  The proposal would 
not be any more prominent than those buildings that exist.  The regressive colour 
of the proposed materials would help reduce its appearance.  

There has been concern that the large windows at first floor have been designed 
to enjoy the views (which maybe true) and that the lights inside the building 
would be seen at night if windows are left uncovered.  It is considered that any 
light emanating from windows would be limited given the number in question.  
More conspicuous lighting is that used to flood light outdoor areas such as used 
around buildings or riding arenas, and this could be controlled by condition.

The design of the building appears to resemble a barn with the absence of first 
floor windows excepting for reference to a hay loft and roof lights thereafter.  The 
Juliet balconies would not be unduly noticeable and the gable feature would 
resemble that found on a threshing barn.  The references to a vernacular design 
would mitigate any landscape impact.

Being aware of the elevated location of the proposed dwelling, from a rural 
business point of view, the accommodation does not need to be a stand-alone 
building. The functional need could be met from a different designed building. For 
example, it could be attached to the existing office accommodation and be single 
storey.  The applicant approached the Council prior to submission of this 
proposal and changes were made to the design at the suggestion of officers to 
reduce the impact.  A single storey proposal was never presented to the Council 
to make comment on and it was not seen as necessary to do so at that stage 
before an application had been made.  On balance, therefore, the design as 
proposed is considered acceptable.

Other matters

Whilst it has been raised that the business has been based at Hawkes Field 
Farm since 2008 with the owner living some distance away, this situation has 
been demonstrated to be less than ideal and has led the applicant to reside in 
the office to make the enterprise succeed.

There is no evidence to indicate that this is a hobby business.

The existing tracks and buildings which some consider are unsightly do not form 
part of this proposal.

Previous enforcement history does not prevent this proposal from being decided.

There is no comment from the right of way officer to indicate that the footpath 
through the site is being obstructed.

Page 139



It the site is being used for the disposal of commercial waste by burning and for 
textile recycling, this should be reported and pursued under separate 
communication as it does not relate to the proposal.

The biodiversity report was negative.

There would be no neighbours directly affected.

The access arrangements would be adequate to serve the development.

17.0 Conclusion

This is an established horse racing and training yard. There is a good set of 
stables, as well as an all-weather gallop on-site. To function properly in the future 
the owner/manager does need to live on-site, which in turn frees up the office 
building to return to an office and staff rest area. Sufficient information has been 
provided to demonstrate the business is making an annual profit and is financially 
sound.   The dwelling would be of a size, design and siting to meet the need. The 
scenic beauty of the AONB would be preserved. 

18.0 RECOMMENDATION Grant, subject to conditions. 

CONDITIONS:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

 2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly and only in 
accordance with the following approved drawings and details: Location Plan, 
120-3 forming the approved application.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the permission.

 3. The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to a person solely or mainly 
employed, or last employed, in the locality in agriculture, horticulture as defined 
in Section 336(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, or in forestry or 
keeping race horses (including any dependants of such person residing with him 
or her) or the widow or widower of such a person.
Reason: This permission is only granted having regard to the need for this 
dwelling to house an agricultural, horticultural, forestry or equestrian worker.

 4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
or re-enacting that Order)(with or without modification) no outbuildings, 
improvements, alterations and enlargement of the dwelling permitted by Classes 

Page 140



A, B, C, D and E of Schedule 2 Part 1 of the 2015 Order shall be erected or 
constructed, other than those expressly authorised by this permission.
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the 
development of the site and to make the dwelling affordable for an essential 
worker.

 5. Before the development commences a scheme showing precise details of 
all external lighting (including appearance, supporting columns, siting, technical 
details, power, intensity, orientation and screening of the lamps) shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Any such scheme shall require 
approval to be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented before the development is occupied and 
shall be permanently maintained thereafter. No further external lighting shall be 
installed on site without the prior approval, in writing, of the Local Planning 
Authority.
Reason: In the interest of the character and appearance of the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and public safety.

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



1.0 APPLICATION NUMBER:  2/2019/0904/REM

SITE ADDRESS:  Vale Cottage, Marnhull, DT10 1JN

PROPOSAL: Erect 2 No. dwellings (Reserved matters application to determine scale, 
layout, appearance and landscaping following grant of Outline Planning Permission 
2/2018/1406/OUT).

APPLICANT: RB Snook Building Ltd.

Case Officer: Christopher Poad

Ward Member(s): Cllr Graham Carr-Jones

2.0 Summary of Recommendation: GRANT, subject to conditions.

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:

 Para 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that 
permission should be granted for sustainable development unless specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate otherwise

 The location is considered to be sustainable and the proposal is acceptable in its 
design and general visual impact on the character of the site and locality. 

 There is not considered to be any significant harm to neighbouring residential 
amenity.

 There would be no harm to protected trees and appropriate landscaping would 
be secured by means of condition.

 There are no material considerations which would warrant refusal of this 
application.

4.0 Table of key planning issues 

Issue Conclusion
Principle of development The application site is within the 

settlement boundary for the village 
which is one of the 18 villages 
identified in Policy 2 for further growth. 
The principle of development for the 
erection of 2 No. dwellings has been 
established following previous Outline 
application 2/2018/1406/OUT having 
been granted.

Scale, design, impact on character and 
appearance

Introduction of 1 No. 2 storey dwelling 
and 1 No. 1 ½ storey dwelling would 
not be uncharacteristic of the area 

Page 143

Agenda Item 5e

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=PU2EV4LHL7400&activeTab=summary


given the mix of housing within the 
locality. Neighbouring properties sit 
centrally within their respective 
curtilages with the principal elevation 
fronting Ham Lane. The layout of the 
two dwellings reflects this grain of 
development. Additionally, the 
dwellings would be finished in natural 
materials that would be in-keeping with 
the local vernacular.

Impact on amenity The design of the two dwellings has 
been carefully considered to minimise 
the impact on neighbour amenity and 
to safeguard the amenity for future 
occupiers.

Trees and Landscaping The proposed development would be 
of an acceptable distance from nearby 
trees to not have a significant adverse 
impact on their health or growth. 

Economic benefits The development would result in the 
erection of two dwellings within the 
settlement of Marnhull built by a local 
construction company. 

Access and Parking The scheme would allow for adequate 
parking availability serving each 
dwelling. Access was determined 
under previous application 
2/2018/1406/OUT.

5.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

5.1 The site lies within the settlement boundary of Marnhull. To the north of the 
application site runs Ham Lane. Beyond Ham Lane is a cul-de-sac of single 
storey dwellings known as Woodlands Mead. To the east of the application site is 
Vale Cottage. Vale Cottage is a two storey dwelling that sits at an elevated 
position within the street scene. Vale Cottage is situated to the south-west of the 
Ham Lane and Burton Street junction. To the west of the application site is 
neighbouring residential property Hazletts. Hazletts is a single storey dwelling 
that is set back from Hams Lane. To the south of the application site is a parcel 
of agricultural land which gradually slopes down to the south.

6.0 DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT:
6.1 The proposed development seeks permission to erect 2 detached dwellings in 

the, once, curtilage of Vale Cottage.

Page 144



7.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

Application: 2/2018/1406/OUT
Proposal: Develop land by the erection of 2 No. dwellings (outline application to 
determine access).
Decision: Approve
Decision Date: 03.01.2019

8.0 LIST OF CONSTRAINTS: 

 Protected Trees

9.0 CONSULTATIONS 
(All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website) 

Wessex Water – No objection.

Dorset Council Highway Authority – No objection, subject to a condition regarding 
the construction of the turning and parking area.

Tree and Landscape Officer – The mature willow is deemed visually important in 
views from the public footpath situated to the south of the site. Consequently, it is the 
council’s view that the identified Willow (T1) should be taken fully into account in the 
proposals. Details of the proposed tree protective fencing should be submitted. If soft 
landscaping is proposed (as per in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Mitigation 
and Enhancement Plan) landscaping maintenance details for the first 5 years should be 
provided.

Marnhull Parish Council – Objections received on the grounds of;

 Impact on Neighbour Amenity (Loss of Light, Overbearing)
 Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area

Representations received:

3 letters of representation were received, of which 1 offered comments which neither 
supported nor objected to the proposal, 2 objected to the proposal and 0 supported the 
proposal.

Within the letter of representations received which objected to the proposed 
development, objections were made on the grounds of;

 Biodiversity (Landscape, Trees)
 Effect on appearance of the Area (Design, Height, Overdevelopment)
 Highway Impacts (Impact on Access, Parking, Road Safety)
 Residential Amenity (Noise/Disturbance, Overlooking/Loss of Privacy)

Page 145



10.0 RELEVANT POLICIES

10.1 Local Plan – 
 Policy 1 – Sustainable Development
 Policy 2 – Core Spatial Strategy
 Policy 6 – Housing Distribution
 Policy 7 – Delivering Homes
 Policy 20 – The Countryside
 Policy 23 – Parking
 Policy 24 – Design
 Policy 25 – Amenity

10.2 National Planning Policy Framework

 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development

 Section 4 – Decision-making

 Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

o Paragraph 78 – To promote sustainable development in rural areas, 
housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality 
of rural communities. Planning policies should identify opportunities for 
villages to grow and thrive, especially where this will support local 
services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements, development 
in one village may support services in a village nearby.

 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

o Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments: 

o a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just 
for the short term but over the lifetime of the development; 

o b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping; 

o c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the 
surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not 
preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as 
increased densities); 

o d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the 
arrangement of streets, spaces, building types and materials to create 
attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit; 

Page 146



o e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development (including green and other 
public space) and support local facilities and transport networks; and 

o f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for 
existing and future users46; and where crime and disorder, and the 
fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 
cohesion and resilience. 

11.0 Human rights

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.
The first protocol of Article 1 – Protection of property

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the application 
of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party.

12.0 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY 

12.1 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their 
functions must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the neds of other people

 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the PSED.

12.2 The proposed development would result in the erection of 2 detached dwellings. 
Access from Ham Lane into each site would be via a gentle upwards slope. The 
approach to both front doors would be level.

13.0 FINANCIAL BENEFITS: 

13.1 The proposed development would result in the erection of 2 open-market 
dwellings that would be subject to Council Tax. The proposed development 
would also provide work for local contractors and suppliers within the 
construction phase. Equally, there may be some longer term benefits by 
supporting local services in Marnhull.

Page 147



14.0 CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS:

14.1 The proposed development would result in erection of 2 detached dwellings 
within the settlement boundary of Marnhull; a village identified by Policy 2 of the 
North Dorset Local Plan as a sustainable location for further growth.

15.0 PLANNING ASSESSMENT:

 Principle of development
 Design
 Amenity
 Access and parking
 Biodiversity
 Trees and Landscaping

           Principle of development

The application site is within the settlement boundary for the village which is 1 of 
the 18 villages identified in Policy 2 for further growth. The site is located within 
walking distance of local shops and services and, therefore, the dwellings are 
considered to be in a sustainable location. 

The principle of development of 2 No. dwellings has been established following 
previous Outline application 2/2018/1406/OUT having been granted. The outline 
application was submitted to develop land by the erection of two dwellings and 
determine the access only. The matters regarding appearance, landscaping, 
layout and scale were reserved and are to be considered under this reserved 
matters application.

Design

At the time of the outline application no detailed drawings were submitted 
illustrating the design of the proposed dwellings. However, it was understood that 
one dwelling would be two storey in form, the other one and a half storey in form. 
Following an initial site visit it was noted that residential development within the 
locality comprised of a range of housing types including both single storey and 
two storey dwellings. Therefore, a view was taken that the introduction of a two 
storey and one and half storey dwelling would not be uncharacteristic of the area. 
Having had regard to the drawings submitted under the current application, the 
proposed development would result in the erection of two detached properties; 1 
No. two storey dwelling and 1 No. one and a half storey dwelling.

Page 148



The western-most dwelling (referred to hereafter in as 'Plot 1') would be one and 
a half storey in height. This dwelling would reflect a character similar to that of a 
cottage with its modest proportions and use of local materials.

The eastern-most dwelling (referred to hereafter in as 'Plot 2') would be two 
storey in height. This dwelling would have a more suburban character with a 
projecting gable end to the front elevation.

Whilst the character and design of each dwelling would differ, both dwellings are 
to be finished in similar external facing materials resulting in a sense of cohesion. 
The external facing walls to the principal elevations of both dwellings were 
initially stated to be finished in Purbeck tumbled walling stone, random coursed. 
The side and rear elevations would be finished in brickwork; Plot 1 with Terca 
Winchester Stock Brick and Plot 2 with Wienerberger Old Heritage Brick. The 
roof of Plot 1 would be finished in a slate tile roof covering with Imery Rustic Red 
plain clay tiles to the roof of Plot 2. Whilst the use of stone to the front elevations 
is supported and would be characteristic of the area there was concern over the 
use of Purbeck stone rather than the local Marnhull Stone. Amended drawings 
have since been provided proposing Marnhull Stone to the principal elevation of 
both dwellings. Whilst the principle of the proposed materials are considered to 
be acceptable, samples of the materials to be used in the external finish of the 
roof and the walls shall be made available on site and agreed in writing - this 
shall be secured by means of a condition to ensure the finish of both dwellings 
are of a high standard.  

Two car ports are also proposed, one for each dwelling, which would be 
positioned before the principal elevation of both dwellings; in the north-east 
corner of their respective sites. The structures are to be finished in stained timber 
feather edged horizontal boarding external facing walls sited on top of a Terca 
Winchester brick plinth. The roofs of both would be finished in slate tiles laid to 
20 degrees with plain clay bonnets. It can be seen that there are a number of 
instances where there are garages before the principal elevation of properties 
along Ham Lane and, therefore, their introduction would not be uncharacteristic 
of the area.

Having had regard to the consultation response from Marnhull Parish Council 
and the letters of representation received, concerns were raised with regards to 
the number and scale of dwellings proposed which, in combination, were 
considered to result in the overdevelopment of the site. The curtilage of Vale 
Cottage is spacious, in contrast to neighbouring residential properties along the 
southern edge of Ham Lane which sees dwellings located centrally within their 
respective curtilages within close proximity to their eastern and western 
boundaries. Therefore, the proposed subdivision of the site and layout of the 
dwellings would not be uncharacteristic of the pattern of development within the 
locality. Nonetheless, whilst the principle of two dwellings of their proposed form 
was considered to be acceptable, it was considered the dwellings would benefit 

Page 149



from being sited slightly further apart from each other to gain a greater sense of 
space and circulation between each property. Following discussions between the 
agent and the case officer, amended drawings were submitted showing dwelling 
Plot 2 having been reduced in length. As a result of the amendment, it is 
considered that both dwellings would sit comfortably within their plots and within 
the wider street scene and would not result in the overdevelopment of the site.

Amenity

To the west of Plot 1 is neighbouring single storey residential dwelling 'Hazletts'. 
To the eastern elevation of Hazletts it was noted that two openings existed, both 
of a single casement design. One of these windows were noted to employ 
obscure glazing suggesting that the opening was to allow for natural daylight to 
light the room rather than serve as a means of outlook. Furthermore, it was seen 
that owing to the changes in ground level between the application site and 
Hazletts, the hedgerow which delineates the shared boundary stands, in part, 
just under the eaves height of Hazletts. The presence of this hedgerow, 
therefore, already reduces the level of daylight these rooms receive. 

Nonetheless, dwelling 'Plot 1' is considered to be sited of a sufficient distance 
and of a modest design; being 1 ½ storey, to not significantly compromise the 
relationship between the two openings across the eastern elevation of Hazletts 
and the level of daylight they currently receive. Furthermore, the proposed 
dwelling Plot 1 would be sited of an acceptable distance from Hazletts to not 
overbear nor significantly overshadow the amenity currently enjoyed by the 
occupiers of this neighbouring property. There would be an opening to the west 
elevation of Plot 1 at ground floor which would serve the living room. The 
opening would be approximately 4 metres from the shared boundary with 
Hazletts. It is considered that owing to the degree of separation between the 
opening and Hazletts, as well as the boundary treatment delineating their shared 
boundary, there would not be a significant loss of privacy as a result of the 
opening. 

To the east of the Plot 2 lies neighbouring residential property 'Vale Cottage'. To 
the western elevation of Vale Cottage it was noted there are a number of 
openings which would face the development with the majority being located at 
ground floor level. The ground floor windows would be screened by the close 
boarded timber fence which delineates the shared boundary to prevent 
unacceptable levels of loss of privacy. With regards to the first floor window, 
owing to the siting and orientation of the dwelling 'Plot 2', the first floor window 
along the western elevation of Vale Cottage would overlook Plot 2's turning and 
parking area. This outlook is considered to be acceptable and would not impinge 
on the amenity of future occupiers of Plot 2. Additionally, Plot 2 is considered to 
be sited of an acceptable distance from Vale Cottage to not appear overbearing, 
nor overshadow, openings or private amenity space. No openings are proposed 
to the east elevation of Plot 2 which would overlook Vale Cottage.

Page 150



To the north of the application site, across Ham Lane, is cul-de-sac 'Woodlands 
Mead', the closest property of which is 7 Woodlands Mead. The proposed 
dwelling would be some 30 metres from 7 Woodlands Mead. With the separation 
of at least 30 metres across a public highway, it is considered the neighbouring 
property would continue to receive adequate levels of natural daylight and would 
not be overshadowed or overbeared by the proposed development. With regards 
to a loss of privacy/overlooking, the degree of separation between the two 
properties, with an intervening road and carports, would be acceptable to not 
result in harmful levels of overlooking.  It is, therefore, considered the proposal 
would not have a significant adverse impact on the amenity currently enjoyed by 
this neighbouring property.

In terms of the amenity of future occupants, the proposed dwellings have been 
designed to not overlook nor overbear each other. Whilst there would be a 
window at first floor to the west elevation of Plot 2 which would face the side 
elevation of Plot 1, this window would serve a bathroom. It is considered 
reasonable to condition that this opening is obscure glazed. Additionally, it is 
acknowledged that there would be an opening at ground floor to the west 
elevation of Plot 2 and another at ground floor to the east elevation of Plot 1. The 
windows would be separated by an intervening fence that divides the curtilage of 
both properties mitigating adverse levels of overlooking and/or inlooking. 
Furthermore, despite both windows being of a short distance from the proposed 
boundary fencing, both windows would be secondary windows to larger rooms 
and, therefore, it is considered both rooms would receive acceptable levels of 
daylight.

Given the above, the proposed development would not have a significant 
adverse impact on the living conditions of occupiers of neighbouring residential 
properties or, equally, future occupiers of the proposed dwellings.

Access and parking

Accesses to serve both dwellings were determined under previous Outline 
application 2/2018/1406/OUT. Both accesses would lead on to the well 
maintained public highway 'Ham Lane' with clear visibility to the east and west. It 
is appreciated that there are a number of vehicles which regularly park along the 
northern edge of Ham Lane, however, they do not cause an obstruction and 
there is sufficient room to move freely past. There would be no reason to believe 
why future occupants would chose to park their vehicles along Ham Lane when 
there is adequate off-road parking provision for both dwellings within the site. 

Additionally, the domestic use of the site is not considered to be overly intensive 
and vehicular movements would be low as a result.

Page 151



The area of hardstanding before the principal elevation of both dwellings and 
serving as the turning and parking areas would be finished in a permeable, 
Cotswold gravel covering. There would be an apron of hardstanding between the 
gravelled area and public highway to minimise lose material being dragged out 
onto the carriageway.

Biodiversity

Having had regard to the previously submitted Ecology Report, as prepared by 
Lowans Ecology and Associates (dated 09/10/2018) for Outline application 
2/2018/1406/OUT, it is considered that, subject to the Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancement Plan being followed in full, the development would not have an 
adverse impact on biodiversity. Mitigation measures include cutting back trees 
and hedgerows between 1st September and 28th February. Enhancement 
measures include the installation of an Ibstock bat brick or bat tube to the west 
elevations of both dwellings and the installation of a bird nesting box to the east 
elevations of both dwellings. With regards to the comments received suggesting 
the installation of additional swift boxes, the measures contained within the report 
are considered sufficient to protect and enhance biodiversity. Therefore, it would 
be considered unreasonable to insist on additional swift bricks or boxes to the 
north elevation of both buildings. Nevertheless, the applicant shall be made 
aware of the presence of swifts within the locality by means of an informative.

          Trees and Landscaping

During the determination of this application, following a site visit undertaken by a 
Tree and Landscape Officer, a Tree Protection Order was placed on the mature 
willow to the south of the application site within the curtilage of Vale Cottage. It is 
considered the mature Willow is a visually important feature when seen from the 
public footpath to the south of the site. 

Initially, the proposed soakaway serving Plot 1 would be within close proximity to 
trees that are shown to be retained; however, no arboricultural information was 
provided to investigate any impacts this may have on their health. It is 
understood that underground crate like systems often require being placed at a 
depth where one would find the majority of live root growth/activity. Furthermore, 
root encroachment and leaf detritus can result in blockages leading to water 
logging in the affected area. It was advised that an Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment and Method Statement be submitted to address these concerns.

Following discussions between the case officer and the agent, amended 
drawings were submitted showing the soakaway located further into the 
application site of Plot 1, outside of the root protection areas of adjacent trees.

The amended drawings also show new planting to the southern boundary of the 
application site. New planting is also proposed to the southern boundary of the 

Page 152



land under the ownership of Vale Cottage. Whilst new planting to the southern 
boundary of Vale Cottage would be welcomed, as this would fall outside of the 
application site this cannot be controlled by means of a condition. 

Following receipt of amended drawing, Proposed Site Plan and Street Elevation,  
showing the relocation of the soakaway, it is considered that the proposal would 
not have an adverse impact on protected trees. Furthermore, the new planting 
proposed within the application site is considered sufficient to safeguard and 
enhance biodiversity as well as improve visual amenity.

16.0 CONCLUSION

           The proposed development is considered to comply with the relevant policies of 
the Local Plan and sections of the National Planning Policy Framework as 
previously listed.

The proposed development would not have an adverse impact on the amenity 
currently enjoyed by occupiers of neighbouring residential properties

In terms of tree and landscape considerations, it is considered the Willow tree to 
the south of the application can be appropriately safeguarded throughout the 
course of the development. Equally, new planting would be secured by means of 
a condition to both enhance biodiversity and visual amenity.

The proposed development would not have an adverse impact on highway safety 
with adequate parking availability provided which would be secured by condition.

17.0 RECOMMENDATION:
GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly and only in 
accordance with the following approved drawings and details forming the 
approved application;
Existing Site Plan - 101 [03/07/2019]
Proposed Site Plan and Street Elevation - 102 Rev [X]
Proposed Plot 1 - Floor Plans - 103 Rev A [Received 23/10/2019]
Proposed Plot 1 - Elevations - 104 Rev A [Received 23/10/2019]
Proposed Plot 2 - Floor Plans - 105 Rev D [Received 23/10/2019]

Page 153



Proposed Plot 2 - Elevations - 106 Rev D [Received 23/10/2019]
Proposed Car Barn Options - 107 [Received 02/08/2019]
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the permission.

3. Notwithstanding the information contained on the submitted drawings, prior to the
commencement of works above damp course level samples of the 

materials to be used in the construction and finish of the walls and roofs of the 
dwellings hereby approved shall be made available on site for the inspection of 
the Local Planning Authority. Any such samples shall require approval to be 
obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority and the development shall 
thereafter accord with the approved materials.
Reason: The materials identified in the application details are considered 
inappropriate, therefore prior approval of materials to be used is necessary in 
order to safeguard the character of the locality.

4. Prior to the first occupation of either dwelling hereby approved, the first floor 
window in the west elevation of dwelling 'Plot 2' shall be glazed with obscure 
glass to a minimum Pilkington privacy level of 4 or equivalent. The window must 
thereafter be maintained in that condition.
Reason: To safeguard the amenity and privacy of the occupiers of neighbouring 
residential properties.

5. Prior to the commencement of development above damp course level, a scheme 
showing the location of all vents, flues and meter boxes to be installed externally 
shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All must be fitted in 
accordance with the details of the agreed scheme prior to the occupation of the 
development.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the development.

6. Prior to the erection of any fencing, detailed elevation and section drawings of all 
fencing shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter accord with the approved drawings.
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development.

7. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the New Planting 
as shown by approved drawing 'Proposed Site Plan and Street Elevation 102 
Rev [X] '. Planting shall be carried out before the end of the first available 
planting season following substantial completion of the development. In the five 
year period following the substantial completion of the development any trees 
that are removed without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority or 
which die or become (in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority) seriously 
diseased or damaged, shall be replaced as soon as reasonably practical and not 
later than the end of the first available planting season, with specimens of such 
size and species and in such positions as may be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. In the event of any disagreement the Local Planning Authority shall 
conclusively determine when the development has been completed, when site 

Page 154



conditions permit, when planting shall be carried out and what specimens, size 
and species are appropriate for replacement purposes.
Reason: In the interests of continued visual public amenity.

8. All existing trees and hedges shown on approved plan 'Proposed Site Plan and 
Street Elevation 102 Rev [X]' to be retained, shall be fully safeguarded during the 
course of site works and building operations in accordance with BS 5837:2012 
(Trees in relation to construction - recommendations) or any new Standard that 
may be in force at the time that development commences. No unauthorised 
access or placement of goods, fuels or chemicals, soil or other material shall take 
place within the tree protection zone(s). Any trees or hedges removed without the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority, or dying or being severely 
damaged or becoming seriously diseased before the completion of development 
or up to 12 months after occupation of the last dwelling shall be replaced with 
trees or hedging of such size, species in a timescale and in positions as may be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are adequately 
protected from damage to health and stability throughout the construction period 
and in the interests of amenity.

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



1.0 APPLICATION NUMBER:   2/2019/0359/FUL

SITE ADDRESS:  Somerville, New Road, Bourton, Dorset, SP8 5AP

PROPOSAL: Erect 6 No dwellings, create new vehicular and pedestrian access and 
form 11 No. parking spaces.

APPLICANT: Montpellier Land and Developments

Case Officer: Hannah Smith 

Ward Member(s): Cllr B Ridout, Cllr D Walsh, Cllr V Pothecary

2.0 Summary of Recommendation: GRANT, subject to conditions.

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:

 Para 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that 
permission should be granted for sustainable development unless specific 
policies in the NPPF indicate otherwise.

 The location is considered to be sustainable and the proposal is acceptable in its 
design and general visual impact. The three protected trees would remain and 
the proposed layout facilitates their retention. 

 There would not be any significant harm to neighbouring residential amenity, 
heritage assets, or highway safety.

 There are no material considerations which would warrant refusal of this 
application.

4.0 Table of key planning issues 

Issue Conclusion
Principle of development The site is located within the settlement 

boundary of Bourton. Therefore, the 
principle of providing dwellings in this 
location is acceptable as it would 
comply with the spatial distribution that 
is contained within Policy 2.  There are 
no site specific constraints in relation to 
the Bourton Neighbourhood Plan. 

Scale, design, impact on character and 
appearance

The development is designed so as to 
be in keeping with its surroundings. 
Units 1-5 are two storey dwellings and 
Unit 6 is a chalet bungalow. This is 
commensurate with the scale of the 
development in the locality. 

Page 157

Agenda Item 5f

https://planning.north-dorset.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=PO7M1VLHK0F00


Trees The three Tree Preservation Order 
trees would be protected. The layout is 
designed to ensure that the root 
protection areas of the trees would not 
be compromised. The layout was 
amended to move Unit 6 further away 
from Victoria Lodge. This would also 
provide better amenity for Unit 6. 

Impact on amenity The development has been deigned so 
as not to give rise to unacceptable 
impact on the amenity of surrounding 
residential properties. 

Impact on Heritage Assets There would be no harm to the 
significance of heritage assets. There 
are three grade II listed buildings 
located within the locality which are all 
located some distance from the site 
and no harmful impact would result.

Economic and Social Benefits The proposal would create construction 
jobs during the construction phase and 
provide 6 units of residential 
accommodation in a sustainable 
location. 

Access and Parking There would be no harm caused to the 
highway network. Sufficient parking 
would be provided. There are no 
highway safety concerns. 

5.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

5.1 The site is located near the junction of Tan Lane and New Road. Victoria Lodge 
is located to the south west of the application site, a traditional brick lodge with 
brick elevations and a clay tiled roof. Somerville is a detached traditional brick 
property with a slate roof, located to the north east of the site. The properties that 
line Tan Lane to the north are mainly semidetached modern properties. The 
density of the built form in the locality varies. There is a mix of detached 
properties, mainly set in quite small plots, semi detached properties with long 
rear gardens and cul-de-sac development further north in The Sycamores and 
Olde Fairfield.

5.2     Three significant trees line New Road on the western side of the site. They are 
protected by a Tree Preservation Order (TPO), comprising two Ash trees and 
one Horse Chestnut.

Page 158



5.3      The gradient of the site slopes from the road, down towards the properties in Tan 
Lane. 

6.0 DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT:

6.1 It is proposed to erect 6 open market dwellings.  The proposal includes a mix of 
two and three bedroomed properties (x3 2 bed and x3 3 bed).

7.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY:

7.1 Application: 2/2004/0215: Develop land by the erection of 6 no. dwellings and 
garages. REFUSED

In 2004 an application was refused at the site for a similar type of development 
(2/2004/2015). There were a number of reasons for refusal however reason 2 is 
considered to be the most relevant in this instance as follows:

That part of the site comprising the field between Somerville and Victoria Lodge, 
notwithstanding its location within the settlement boundary, in its present 
undeveloped state nonetheless makes a significant contribution to the semi-rural 
character and amenity of this part of the village which lies close to open 
countryside. Infilling development would inevitably compromise the quality of 
such contribution and bring on-going pressure to bear for the removal and/or 
cutting back of existing trees and hedgerows, thus further diminishing such 
character and amenity. In these respects the proposal is contrary to Structure 
Plan policies S.H and EN.Q, Local Plan policies 1.8, 1.33 and 2.6.

The refusal was made at a point in time when local and national policy differed 
from now. The application should be assessed against the current policy 
requirements. National policy no longer adopts a brownfield first approach to 
housing development, but still encourages brownfield development, which may 
take the form of residential infilling. The Neighbourhood Plan does not allocate 
this site as a Local Green Space or a Green Finger, whist land to the north and 
further east has been defined as a Green Finger in the Neighbourhood Plan. If it 
was considered locally that the site continued to make a significant contribution 
to the semi-rural character and amenity of this part of the village, the 
Neighbourhood Plan could have sought to allocate this site to limit development. 
In view of this, there is no specific site constraint that would prohibit the site from 
coming forward.

Furthermore, the refused scheme was an outline application. There were no 
layout details nor was the design of the development shown within the 
application.  The application that is before the committee is a full application and 
the impact of the proposal on the locality can be assessed in full. One of the 
concerns in relation to the refusal was the possible loss of the trees. The layout 

Page 159



of this proposal has been amended to remove the conflict with the mature trees 
which was identified by the Tree and Landscape Officer. An arb method 
statement would be conditioned to ensure that the trees are safeguarded and 
that the remaining hedge is retained along the road frontage, Tan Lane and to 
the east, a new hedge would be planted and the existing hedges would be 
improved. 

8.0 LIST OF CONSTRAINTS: 

 Three mature trees are located on the application site. The two ash trees are 
located adjacent to New Road and the horse chestnut is located behind the ash 
trees, further into the field. All three trees are protected by a Tree Preservation 
Order (TPO). Two of the trees are ash trees and the other tree is a horse 
chestnut tree.

9.0 CONSULTATIONS 
(All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website) 

Bourton Parish Council – Objection for the following reasons –

 That this would be an overdevelopment of the site;
 That important rural views and character would be compromised (much as was 

the original decision of the District Council to the 2004 application).

Wessex Water- No objection. 

Dorset Highway Authority – No objection subject to conditions.  

Dorset Archaeological Officer – No comment. 

Representations received:

4 letters of objection were received.

Within the letters of representations received, objections were made on the grounds of –
 Impact on trees
 Impact on the appearance of the area
 Materials not in keeping
 Ecology
 Highway Impact
 Impact on amenity
 There are unsold properties in Bourton.

NOTE: unsold properties in Bourton is not a reason to withhold planning permission. 

Page 160



10.0 RELEVANT POLICIES

10.1 Bourton Neighbourhood Plan 

The Bourton Neighbourhood Plan has been made and carries full weight in decision 
making. Of particular relevance to this are the following polices:

 Policy 1: Landscape Setting
 Policy 2. Settlement Pattern and Character
 Policy 3. Building Design and Form
 Policy 4. Traffic and Parking
 Policy 6. Biodiversity
 Policy 8: Mitigating and Adapting to Climate Change

10.2   North Dorset Local Plan Part 1

 Policy 1 - Sustainable Development.
 Policy 2 – Core Spatial Strategy
 Policy 3 - Climate Change
 Policy 4 - The Natural Environment.
 Policy 4 - The Natural Environment.
 Policy 5 - The Historic Environment.
 Policy 6 - Housing Distribution
 Policy 7 - Delivering Homes
 Policy 20 - The Countryside
 Policy 23 – Parking
 Policy 24 – Design
 Policy 25 – Amenity

1. 7 Dev. within Settlement Boundaries (saved policy from the LP 2003).

10.3 National Planning Policy Framework

 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development

 Section 4 – Decision-making

 Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Paragraph 78 – To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing 
should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural 
communities. Planning policies should identify opportunities for villages to grow 
and thrive, especially where this will support local services. Where there are 
groups of smaller settlements, development in one village may support services 
in a village nearby.

Page 161



 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places

 Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change

Paragraph 148 – The planning system should support the transition to a low 
carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal 
change. It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve 
resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the conversion of 
existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure.

 Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Paragraph 192 – In determining applications, local planning authorities should 
take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can 
make to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character 
and distinctiveness.

Bourton Village Design Statement 2011

The Bourton Village Design Statement encourages high quality design and the 
safeguarding of local character, through the adoption of a number of design guidelines 
which are a material consideration for any new development in the village.

11.0 Human rights

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial.
Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home.
The first protocol of Article 1 – Protection of property

This Recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the application 
of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party.

12.0 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITIES DUTY 

12.1 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their 
functions must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:-

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the neds of other people

Page 162



 Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in public 
life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low.

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove OR minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the PSED.

12.2 The proposed development would result in the creation of 6 No. dwellings within 
a sustainable location which benefits from access to facilities. 

13.0 FINANCIAL BENEFITS: 

13.1 The proposed development would result in the creation of 6 new dwellings. The 
proposal would contribute to the rural economy in terms of increased support for 
local businesses. There would be income from council tax. 

14.0 CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS:

14.1 Policy 8 of the Bourton Neighbourhood Plan requires sustainability measures to 
improve the environmental impact of new development. A condition is proposed 
which would ensure that a scheme for the provision of sustainability measures is 
submitted for approval. The applicant plans to use solar lighting and to 
incorporate electric car charging points into the development. 

15.0 PLANNING ASSESSMENT:

 The principle of the development
 The effect on the appearance of the area
 Trees
 Amenity
 Design
 Setting of listed buildings
 Highway impact
 Ecology
 Drainage

           Principle of Development

The site is located within the defined settlement boundary of Bourton.  Local plan 
policies 1.7 and Policy 2 seek to locate development inside of settlement 
boundaries with the aim of strictly controlling development in the countryside. 
Bourton has been identified as one of the eighteen larger villages which have 
retained their settlement boundaries. These villages are considered to be 
sustainable locations where new residential development may be supported. The 

Page 163



village has a number of facilities including a pub, church and village hall which 
any future residents would be able to easily access. The existing settlement 
boundary around Bourton is stated as being retained until reviewed either 
through site allocations in the future Part 2 of the North Dorset Local Plan or 
through a Neighbourhood plan.

The Bourton Neighbourhood Plan acknowledges that the settlement boundaries 
were retained around the larger villages and that this included Bourton, following 
the adoption of the North Dorset Local Plan, Part 1. The Neighbourhood Plan did 
not seek to extend or change the boundary of the settlements limits. The site is 
not allocated in the Neighbourhood Plan as a Green Finger, nor is it identified as 
a Local Green Space.  Figure 2 of the Neighbourhood Plan identifies Important 
Views as Defined in the Village Design Statement.  No important view is 
identified in relation to this site.  There are no views across the site at present 
due to the hedge and the mature trees. Taken as a whole, it is evident that there 
is no in principle issue with the site being brought forward for infill development, 
as this is supported by both the neighbourhood plan and the local plan. 

There is no essential conflict with the aims of the development plan, taken as a 
whole. With this in mind, development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan should be approved without delay.

          The Effect on the Appearance of the Area

Bourton is a linear village with development set either side of the main road. 
There are no structures on the site and the boundaries are mainly traditional 
hedgerows with some mature trees, three of which are protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order.

Map 2 of the Neighbourhood Plan, identifies a number of important views in and 
around the village. The evidence base for the inclusion of these views is set out 
in the 2011 Village Design Statement. 

There are a number of viewpoints in the vicinity of the site. It is of note that none 
of the views directly relate to the application site:  

 Viewpoint 19:  Entry to the village westbound (this is at the junction of 
New Road and Tan Lane looking west into the village and away from the 
application site)

 Viewpoint 30: Looking into the modern cul-de-sac of Old Fairfield.
 Viewpoint 34: The White Lion (this view is towards the back of the White 

Lion and the site is not visible)
 Viewpoint 38 and 48: identifies brick elevations and porches at Tan Lane

Page 164



The site currently comprises an undeveloped field and although there are no 
clear views through the site, the three protected trees on the boundary to New 
Road afford the site a verdant appearance which contributes positively to the 
appearance of this part of the village. A key consideration in this case is the 
retention of the protected trees. During the course of the application, the layout 
has been amended and unit 6, the detached chalet bungalow, has been moved 
further from the trees and away from Victoria Lodge. This has resulted in 
sufficient separation between the new dwelling, the protected trees, and Victoria 
Lodge. It also affords plot 6 with more usable garden space. Furthermore, the 
dwellings would be sited so as to provide a view through the site to Tan Lane. 

The development plan supports sensitive infilling, which is encouraged in 
settlements with settlement boundaries. It is important to make effective use of 
housing land, but new housing development should also respect the character of 
an area, including locally distinctive patterns of development.

Policy 3 of the Neighbourhood Plan, Building Design and Form, states:
• New development shall complement the character and appearance of 
surrounding properties in terms of height, scale and density.
• The scale, form and massing of new development shall reinforce the underlying 
vernacular or character of its particular context.
• All new development shall be of high quality and respect the surrounding 
environment, both built and natural.

Whist the development would introduce buildings into an undeveloped area, the 
development is not considered to be harmful to the prevailing character of the 
area. The density of the proposal is commensurate with its surroundings and 
each property would be afforded sufficient private amenity space. The three bed 
units would have gardens with a length of approximately 14 metres and the two 
bed units would have gardens of approximately 8 metres.  There would be two 
spaces for each dwelling and room for the hedgerows to be retained around the 
site. This is not considered to be an overdevelopment of the site. The area 
around the trees would remain undeveloped. There is a mix of detached and 
semidetached dwellings in the area and the proposal is considered to reflect the 
varying form of development in the vicinity. Within the immediate area, buildings 
are mainly constructed of brick. This is identified in the Village Design Statement. 
The porches and the proposed use of a contracting brick is therefore considered 
to reflect the character of the locality. The development has been amended to 
include brick buildings with a contrasting brick coursing and coins, rather than 
flint, which is not a locally distinct building material. 

In terms of the visual appearance of the development, 6 metres of the road 
frontage hedge would be removed to create the new access into the site. The 
rest of the hedgerow would be retained. This would allow for views into and 
across the site. Concern has been raised in relation to the impact on rural views. 
However, important views across the site are not identified in the Neighbourhood 

Page 165



Plan. The proposal would open up the view across the site while at present, it is 
not possible to observe long range views to the open countryside. 

Consequently, the development would not conflict with the Policy 3 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan, Policies 4, and 24 of the North Dorset District Plan, Part 1 
and the Framework. These policies seek, amongst other things, to protect the 
landscape character of the area and respect local character and distinctiveness.

Trees

Following the amendment to the layout, there would be no unacceptable impact 
on the three protected trees. It is considered that the site is capable of 
accommodating the dwellings, and in particular Plot 6, without harm to the 
protected trees. The attractive appearance of the site from the road would be 
maintained through the retention of the trees and hedgerow. 

A 6 metre opening would be formed onto New Road however this loss of 
hedgerow would be mitigated through the planting of an additional native species 
rich hedge. 

There was concern in relation to the potential conflict with the future occupiers of 
unit 6 and the close proximity to the trees. At this proximity, it was likely that 
pressure would be brought to bear on the protected trees from occupiers of the 
property requesting works to the trees to lessen their impact. The concern was 
that this could eventually lead to their removal. The revised layout would 
overcome this issue a it would provide the dwelling with a better aspect and a 
larger and less shaded garden. 

Amenity

Policy 25 of the Local Plan and the NPPF seek to safeguard the amenity of 
existing and future occupiers of land and buildings. The dwellings are designed 
to limit the possibility of overlooking and overbearing.

Victoria Lodge

Victoria Lodge is built on differing levels. The garden area of the property, which 
is located adjacent to the application site, is accessed from steps from Tan Lane. 
The garden area is fairly level with the site. The property also has a larger garden 
area which is located on the corner of Tan Lane and New Road. 

Plot 6 has been moved away from the garden of Victoria Lodge so as to provide 
in excess of 12 metres from the proposed dwelling to the adjacent dwellings 
raised garden area. No windows are proposed at first floor level on the south 
west elevation of the property. The ground floor door and window would not lead 
to unacceptable overlooking. The single storey garage would be sited closer to 

Page 166



the boundary at about 4 metres however at a height of 4 metres to the ridge, and 
with the gable facing Victoria Lodge, this would not be unneighbourly.

Tan Lane

The properties in Tan Lane are located at a lower level than the application site. 
However, the proposed dwellings would be separated by the exiting hedge on 
the site. Properties in Tan Lane also benefit from a hedge that separates the site 
from their driveways. There are no side windows at first floor level on Primrose 
Cottage that would be impacted. In view of this, there would be no unacceptable 
impact on properties in Tan Lane due to the separation and the intervening 
landscaping.

Somerville

Units 1-5 would be sited a sufficient distance to avoid any adverse impacts on 
Somerville.

The amenity afforded to futures occupies of the development would be 
acceptable, as the development has been designed to limit any overlooking or 
overbearing. The amenity of Unit 6 has been enhanced by pulling the property 
away from the boundary of Victoria Lodge. This has resulted in a better garden 
area for Unit 6 and the potential conflict with the protected trees has been 
removed.  

Design

The design of the properties was amended to include chimneys on unit 1 and 6 
and to introduce brick detailing including the introduction of brick coins to the 
windows and elevations and a contrasting brick banding along the gable of unit 1. 
These enhanced details would help to make the development appear more 
locally distinct. Flint was proposed for the external walls, however, this has been 
omitted from the scheme as it is not considered to be a locally distinct material to 
Bourton. 

The use of brick is identified as an appropriate material in the Village Design 
Statement. The brick properties and their small lean-to porches are an example 
of local character in the document. The choice of materials is traditional with the 
use of red brick, slate, and plain clay tiles. 

In terms of the proposed layout, the terrace of three dwellings would face gable 
on to the road. Unit 6 would be set back behind the trees. There is no clearly 
defined built form in this location and it would not be appropriate for the 
development to formally front onto the highway as this would appear as contrived 
in this location. The layout is considered to respond positivity to the character of 
the area.

Page 167



Setting of Listed Buildings

There are three listed buildings within the wider area. The grade II listed White 
Lion Inn is located 130 metres to the south west of the site. Fantley Thatch and 
Longhouse are grade II listed buildings which are located 140 metres to the east 
of the site.

It is considered that the setting of all three listed buildings would not be materially 
impacted by the proposed development. There is little in the way of intervisibility 
between the site and the heritage assets and the field is not considered to be 
integral to the value of their setting.

There was no comment from the Archaeological Officer and a watching brief is 
not considered to be a requirement in this instance. 

The proposed development would harm the setting of nearby listed buildings. 
This conclusion has been reached having regard to: (1) section 66(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 that requires 
special regard to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the setting 
of Listed Buildings; and (2) Local Plan policy.

Highway impact

The new access would be formed off New Road. A section of hedge would be 
removed to facilitate the access. The remaining hedge would be retained along 
the sites frontage. Sufficient visibility can be achieved onto New Road to provide 
safe onto New Road.  

There are no highway objections to the proposal and conditions are 
recommended.

13 parking spaces would be provided to serve the development. This includes 
the garage that would be provided for unit 6, with parking adjacent. This level of 
parking provision would comply with the requirements of Policy 13 of the Local 
Plan. The provision of cycle storage would be conditioned. 

The highway impacts of the proposal would not be severe and as such, there is 
no conflict with the development plan or the NPPF. 

Ecology

The proposal is supported by an approved biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement plan. It is recommended that this is conditioned to ensure that the 
biodiversity enhancements that are contained within the report are implemented 
in full. 

Page 168



A native, species rich hedgerow measuring 17m would be planted as part of the 
new scheme, resulting in an overall net gain of hedgerow. Provision for bats, 
birds and other wildlife are detailed in the approved biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement plan.

Drainage

The site does not have any site specific drainage constraints as it is located 
within flood zone 1 which means that the site is at a low risk of flooding. Likewise, 
the site is not at risk of surface water flooding. 

Concern has been raised in relation to springs that are located on the site. The 
applicant proposes a sustainable drainage system.  A surface water drainage 
condition is recommended as this would ensure that the precise drainage details 
are approved prior to commencement of the development. 

16.0 CONCLUSION

The NPPF states that decisions should apply a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. For decision-taking, this means approving 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan without 
delay. There are three strands of sustainable development, an economic 
objective, a social objective, and an environment objective. 

In terms of benefits, the proposal would secure a contribution to the local housing 
supply of 6 dwellings. There would also be some economic benefits, both from 
the construction of the homes and subsequent occupation, which may result in 
some patronage of and support for local facilities such as the public house. There 
are no adverse impacts that have been identified, the sites location is sustainable 
and the effect on living conditions of neighbours would be acceptable. The 
protected trees would be retained and the development is not considered to 
cause harm to rural views, into or out of the settlement. 

17.0 RECOMMENDATION:
GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions.

CONDITIONS:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Page 169



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out strictly and only in 
accordance with the following approved drawings and details: PL02 D, PL03 A, PL04 B, 
PL05 forming the approved application.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify the permission.

3. Before the development is occupied or utilised the access, geometric highway layout, 
turning and parking areas shown on Drawing Number PL02 Rev D must be constructed, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, these 
must be maintained, kept free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified.
Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site.

4. There must be no gates hung so as to form obstruction to the vehicular access 
serving the site.
Reason: To ensure the free and easy movement of vehicles through the access and to 
prevent any likely interruption to the free flow of traffic on the adjacent public highway.

5. The development hereby permitted must not be occupied or utilised until a scheme 
showing precise details of the proposed cycle parking facilities is submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. Any such scheme requires approval to be obtained in writing from 
the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme must be constructed before the 
development is commenced and, thereafter, must be maintained, kept free from 
obstruction and available for the purpose specified.
Reason: To ensure the proper construction of the parking facilities and to encourage the 
use of sustainable transport modes.

6. No works shall commence on site until details of the design of building foundations, 
car park surface construction and the layout (with positions, dimensions and levels) of 
service trenches, ditches, drains and other excavations on site (insofar as they may 
affect trees on or adjoining the site) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter accord with the approved 
tree protection details.
Reason: To ensure the protection of trees to be retained, and in particular to avoid 
unnecessary damage to their root systems.

7. No works above foundation level shall commence on site until precise details of all 
tree, shrub and hedge planting (including positions and/or density, species and planting 
size) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Planting shall be carried out before the end of the first available planting season 
following substantial completion of the development. In the five year period following the 
substantial completion of the development any trees that are removed without the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority or which die or become (in the opinion of 
the Local Planning Authority) seriously diseased or damaged, shall be replaced as soon 
as reasonably practical and not later than the end of the first available planting season, 
with specimens of such size and species and in such positions as may be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority. In the event of any disagreement the Local Planning 
Authority shall conclusively determine when the development has been completed, 

Page 170



when site conditions permit, when planting shall be carried out and what specimens, 
size and species are appropriate for replacement purposes.
Reason: In the interests of continued visual public amenity.

8. Prior to the commencement of the development above foundation level, a schedule of 
landscape maintenance covering a minimum period of five years following substantial 
completion of the development (including details of the arrangements for its 
implementation) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The subsequent maintenance of the development's landscaping shall accord 
with the approved schedule.
Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by the proper maintenance of 
existing and/or new landscape features.

9. The development hereby approved shall accord with the steps set out in the 
approved A J Scott Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) dated 6th March 2019 and 
plan dated 4th November 2019 (Tree Protection Plan, Rev B) setting out how the 
existing trees are to be protected and managed before, during and after development.
Reason: To ensure thorough consideration of the impacts of development on the 
existing trees.

10. No development shall commence until details of all proposed means of enclosure, 
and boundary walls and fences to the site, shall be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority, and shall thereafter be implemented in full in 
complete accordance with the approved details and no other enclosures shall be 
erected. 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

11. No development above foundation level shall commence until samples of materials 
to be used in the construction and finish of the external walls and roof of the dwellings 
and garage shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing. Any 
such samples shall require approval to be obtained in writing from the Local Planning 
Authority and the development shall thereafter accord with the approved materials.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality.

12. No development hereby approved shall commence until a scheme showing precise 
details of the brick and flint panels and the brick coursing, lintel details and coins, shall 
be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Any such scheme shall require approval to 
be obtained in writing from the Local Planning Authority and the development shall 
thereafter accord with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality and in the interests of the 
appearance of the development.

Page 171



13. The Biodiversity mitigation measures set out in the approved Report dated March 
2019 shall be implemented in full in accordance with the timetable set out in the report, 
or in the absence of a specific timetable, prior to the development hereby approved 
being first brought into use and the site shall thereafter be maintained in accordance 
with the approved mitigation proposals.
Reason: To ensure adequate habitat is provided and subsequently protected to ensure 
adequate protection for important habitats and species is secured.

14. No development hereby permitted shall be commenced until a scheme for the  
provision of surface water drainage works has been submitted to and approved in  
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The drainage works shall be carried out in  
accordance with an approved timetable which shall be approved as part of the  drainage 
detail submission and works shall be completed prior to the first  occupation of any 
building on the site.
Reason: To minimise the risk of flooding and/or pollution.

15. All remaining hedgerow located along the road frontage to New Road and adjacent 
to Tan Lane hedges to be retained, shall be fully safeguarded during the course of site 
works and building operations. No works shall commence on site until all trees to be 
protected on and immediately adjoining the site shall be protected from damage for the 
duration of works on the site to the satisfaction (to be confirmed in writing) of the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with BS 5837:2012 (Trees in relation to construction - 
recommendations) or any new Standard that may be in force at the time that 
development commences. No unauthorised access or placement of goods, fuels or 
chemicals, soil or other material shall take place within the tree protection zone(s). Any 
hedges removed without the written consent of the Local Planning Authority, or dying or 
being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased shall be replaced with hedging 
of such size, species in a timescale and in positions as may be approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that hedges to be retained are adequately protected from damage 
to health and stability throughout the construction period and in the interests of amenity.

Page 172


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	 Appendix

	5a Dorchester Conservation Area Article 4 Direction
	Appendix 1 Indicative Dorchester Article 4 Direction
	Appendix 2 Dorchester Article 4 Direction Properties
	Appendix 3 Copy of consultation responses received
	Appendix 4 Article 4 Areas surveyed updated
	Appendix 5 Dorchester Article 4 Direction - indicative map of areas

	5b Application Number - 2/2018/0458/OUT, Shillingstone Poultry Farm, Shillingstone Lane, Okeford Fitzpaine, DT11 0RB
	5c Application Number - 2/2018/1749/OUT - Honeymead Field, North Fields, Sturminster Newton
	5d Application Number - 2/2018/1486/FUL - Hawkes Field Farm Hilton, Hillside, Hilton, DT11 0DN
	5e Application Number - 2/2019/0904/REM - Vale Cottage, Marnhull, DT10 1JN
	5f Application Number - 2/2019/0359/FUL - Somerville, New Road, Bourton, Dorset, SP8 5AP

